

Deciphering Biotic Interactions and Their Role in Soil Microbial Community Assembly and Functions

Sarah Huet

► To cite this version:

Sarah Huet. Deciphering Biotic Interactions and Their Role in Soil Microbial Community Assembly and Functions. Biodiversity and Ecology. Université Bourgogne Franche-Comté, 2022. English. NNT: 2022UBFCK097. tel-04001622

HAL Id: tel-04001622 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04001622v1

Submitted on 23 Feb 2023 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





THESE DE DOCTORAT DE L'ETABLISSEMENT UNIVERSITE BOURGOGNE FRANCHE-COMTÉ

PREPARÉE A l'UMR 1347 AGROÉCOLOGIE

Ecole doctorale n° 554

Environnements - Santé

Doctorat de Biologie des Populations et Écologie

Par

Sarah HUET

Deciphering Biotic Interactions and Their Role in Soil Microbial Community Assembly and Functions: Using Community Manipulation to Steer Soil Microbial Communities

Thèse présentée et soutenue à Dijon, le 6 Décembre 2022

Composition du Jury :

Dr CEBRON Aurélie Pr RICHAUME-JOLION Agnès Pr YERGEAU Étienne Dr SIMONIN Marie Dr PHILIPPOT Laurent Dr SPOR Aymé Dr ROMDHANE Sana

Directrice de Recherche, CNRS, Nancy Professeure, UCBL, Lyon Professeur agrégé, INRS, Québec Chargée de recherche, INRAE, Angers Directeur de recherche, INRAE, Dijon Chargé de recherche, INRAE, Dijon Chercheuse Post-doctorante, INRAE, Dijon Co-Encadrante

Présidente du jury Rapportrice Rapporteur Examinatrice Co-Directeur de thèse Co-Directeur de thèse

Dedication

To whomever has felt that you are not enough: you are not - you are part of a community.

So interact!

Tout d'abord, je voudrais remercier Agnès Richaume-Jolion et Étienne Yergeau, d'avoir accepté de rapporter mon travail de thèse. Je voudrais également remercier Aurélie Cebron et Marie Simonin d'avoir accepté d'examiner ce travail lors de ma soutenance.

Merci également à Sara Hallin et Fabrice Martin-Laurent d'avoir fait partie de mon comité de thèse et d'avoir suivi mes progrès tout du long. Merci pour vos questions, vos retours et votre écoute.

Ensuite, je voudrais bien entendu remercier le triumvirat qui a chapeauté toute ma thèse : Laurent, Aymé et Sana. Merci à vous de m'avoir donné l'opportunité de travailler sur un sujet passionnant, avec un programme bien cadré, anticipé et les moyens de réaliser ce qui avait été prévu. Merci de m'avoir permis de présenter mes travaux et d'assister à deux congrès internationaux au début et à la fin de ma thèse. Pour finir, je voudrais sincèrement vous remercier pour vos conseils, pour votre disponibilité tout au long de la thèse et pour la réactivité dont vous avez fait preuve pour corriger cette thèse dans les dernières semaines de rédaction.

Un immense merci aussi à toutes les autres personnes qui m'ont permis de mener cette thèse à bien. Nadine et MCB, merci. Merci pour votre accueil, merci de m'avoir inclus dans l'équipe dès mon arrivée et tout du long de ma thèse. MCB, merci pour ces heures passées au labo ensemble, toute l'aide que tu m'as apportée, toutes les techniques que tu m'as transmises. Cette thèse ne se serait jamais faite sans toi. Nadine, merci pour le café revigorant et pour ton aide dans les coups de bourre avec l'efficacité de « la Tornade » pour les récoltes. Vous êtes pour moi comme les mamans de cette équipe qui se retrouvera, à mon avis, bien orpheline quand vous serez parties à la retraite. David, merci d'avoir toujours eu le mot pour rire mais aussi d'avoir su discuter et d'échanger sur des sujets plus sérieux et toujours avec le sourire. Merci aussi pour avoir partagé ton expertise en bio mol. Arnaud, merci pour ta bienveillance, ta sympathie, les discussions geek ! Merci à tous les autres membres de l'équipe EMFEED, Clémence, Sam, Stéphane, Marion, Sara, Jérémie, Manuel. Merci à certains pour vos conseils et votre aide, et surtout merci à tous pour les petits papotages comme pour les grandes discussions au détour d'un couloir ou autour d'un café.

Merci également à tous les membres de FMR² : Sandie, Baptiste, Emeric, Audrey, Romain, Mélinda et Yaoyun. Merci de m'avoir suivi dans la création de cette association et de l'avoir prise en main ! Longue vie à l'asso et bon beer-time ;)!). Un grand merci aussi à Lucile et Florian pour avoir représenté avec moi le corps des doctorants et post-doctorants à tous les conseils de services ! Merci aussi à Marie-Claude et Virginie qui m'ont beaucoup épaulée dans mon mandat de représentante des doctorants et aussi dans la création de l'association.

Merci à toute l'équipe de l'Expé et surtout à Coralie et Elise ! Ça a été un vrai bonheur de travailler avec vous pour partager mes travaux auprès de publics différents et dans des contextes si variés. Chaque session d'Expé était comme une petite bouffée d'air frais, un petit rayon de soleil. Je reviens quand vous voulez, surtout pour les journées dans le Morvan !

Et comme j'aime bien finir par le meilleur, merci à mes collègues thésardes, thésards et post-doc. Laly, Milena, je voudrais vous dire tant de fois merci que je pourrais remplir les pages de ma thèse avec. Laly, merci d'avoir affronté avec moi cette dernière ligne droite sacrément pentue ! C'était dur mais on l'a fait. Milena, merci d'avoir partagé ton expérience et tes conseils avec moi, ça m'a été très précieux au moment le plus crucial. Et merci pour le podcast club

(the poop knife story is definitely my favorite!). Marine, Carrie, Tiff, Mathilde, Loren et Sylvia, merci pour les papotages, les rigolades, les bières trinquées, les via ferrata et sommets enneigés arpentés et les campings et auberges de jeunesse arrosés. Pauline, Thibault, Hervé (t'es pas vraiment un collègue mais ça passe :p), merci pour les bières et les cafés partagés (ce que j'ai pu boire en trois ans, c'est fou), et surtout pour les discussions enflammées (ça va aller Thibault), votre regard un peu extérieur a fait tellement de bien. Et vous enlevez super bien le crépis en plus ! Vous toutes et tous, vous faites partie de ma thèse, de cette expérience de vie qu'ont été ces trois années pour moi. C'est vous qui l'avez rendue positive et agréable, chacune et chacun à votre manière. Merci pour ça.

Un très grand merci aussi à mes amis : Martinou, Camcam, Rémi, Joran, Erwan et toute la bande de rolistes. Martinou, Rémi, je ne serais juste pas là sans vous. Merci de m'avoir soutenue jusqu'à la fin et surtout à la fin ! Camcam, je comprends maintenant ton choix de ne pas faire de thèse et une fois de plus, je me dis que tu es un homme bien sage ... Joran, Erwan et les rolistes, merci pour ces franches rigolades, pour ces vacances à la montagne, pour ces soirées dans d'autres mondes à vivre d'autres aventures quand nous étions bloqués chez nous, pour ces débats interminables et aussi pour cette censure du manul (il fallait bien que je le place, même sans gif 0:)).

Mon Boubie, si tu savais lire, je t'écrirais toute l'importance que tu as eu dans ma vie, depuis que je t'ai eu il y a 13 ans, tu m'as suivie partout, tout le temps, jusqu'à maintenant. Mais comme tu ne sais pas lire, je continuerais juste à profiter de nos balades, moments qui me sont très précieux et qui l'ont été encore plus quand nous n'étions que toutes les deux ici à Dijon et que le monde s'était arrêté de tourner.

Quentin, à toi seul tu es la raison qui me fait dire que j'ai bien fait de venir à Dijon. A toi seul tu as porté quasiment toute la charge mentale du foyer quand j'étais en pleine rédaction. Tu as encaissé mes larmes, ma détresse et ma colère dans les moments les plus difficiles et surtout, tu as su me redonner le sourire à chaque fois. Maintenant, une page se tourne (enfin quelques unes là !) et l'avenir s'ouvre devant nous. J'ai hâte :*

Enfin merci à ma famille, mes parents, mon frère, ma cousine. Merci pour votre soutien indéfectible, merci d'avoir toujours cru en moi même quand je n'y arrivais plus, merci d'avoir toujours été là même quand j'étais loin. Et pas que pendant ces trois ans de thèse mais pendant mes 33 années de vie, pas que pour la rédaction de ces quelques chapitres scientifiques mais à chacune des pages de mon existence, et Dieu sait, et ceux qui sont là-haut avec lui aussi, qu'il y a eu des brouillons et des ratés dans les deux cas. Je vais m'arrêter là car exprimer mon amour si chaleureusement va encore nous faire transpirer des yeux <3

Bonne lecture :)

Contents

Li	List of Figures viii			
Li	xi			
Li	st of A	Abbreviations	xiii	
1	General Introduction			
	1.1	Soil Microbial Communities	1	
		1.1.1 Kole of Soil Microbial Communities	1	
		1.1.2 Community Definition: Energent Properties and Biotic Interactions	3	
	1.2	Interactions Between Microorganisms	4	
		1.2.1 The Interaction Compass and Interaction Definition	4	
		1.2.2 Competition	6	
		1.2.3 Cooperation	7	
		1.2.4 Predation	8	
		1.2.5 Commensalism and Amensalism: Tipping Points of an Interaction Con-	10	
	1 2	tinuum	10	
	1.5	1.3.1 Distance Between Cells Interaction Strength and Spatial Structure	11	
		1.3.2 Density-Dependent Interactions	12	
	1.4	Approaches for Deciphering Biotic Interactions	15	
	1.5	Thesis Aim and Approach	16	
2	Exp	erimental Community Coalescence Sheds Light on Microbial Interactions in Soil		
	and	Restores Impaired Functions	19	
	2.1	Introduction	21	
	2.2	Material & Methods	22	
		Soil Sampling and Experimental Design	22	
		Soil pH, Inorganic Nitrogen Pools and Carbon Cycle Related Activities	22	
		Assessment of Microbial Community Composition and Diversity	23	
		Statistical Analysis	23	
		Identification of OTUs Differentially Abundant in Treatments	24 24	
		Inference of Co-Occurrence Networks	25	
		Multivariate Integration to Identify Correlation Between OTUs and Vari-	20	
		ables	25	
2.3 Results		Results	25	
		Alteration in Soil Microbiome Diversity and Composition Following the Re-		
		moval Treatments	25	
		Influence of Coalescence on Interactions and Community Diversity	26	
		Network Interence Deciphers Biotic Interactions	28	

		Responses of Soil Properties and Functions to Microbial Community Manipula-	
		tions	28
	2.4	Discussion	32
3	Insi	ghts into the Biotic Factors Driving the Outcome of Coalescence Events Between	
	Bact	terial Communities	35
	3.1	Introduction	36
	3.2	Material & Methods	37
		Soil Sampling and Experimental Design	37
		Assessment of Microbial Community Composition and Diversity	38
		Quantification of Microbial Communities	38
		Statistical Analysis	39
		Statistical Analysis of Diversity Metrics	39
		Statistical Analysis of OTUs	39
		Inference of Co-Occurrence Networks	40
	2 2		1 0
	5.5	Meningalating a Nation Soil Community to Alter Ita Diversity Community on d	41
		Manipulating a Native Soli Community to Alter its Diversity, Composition and	41
			41
		Impact of Microbial Diversity, Composition, and Density on Coalescence Outcome	42
		Identification of OTUs Impacted by Coalescence	43
		Coalescence Unraveled Biotic Interactions	45
	3.4	Discussion	47
4	Man	inulating the Physical Distance Between Cells During Soil Colonization Re-	
•	veal	s the Importance of Biotic Interactions in Microbial Community Assembly	51
	4 1	Introduction	52
	4.2	Material & Methods	54
	т.2	Soil Sampling and Experimental Design	51
		Assessment of Microbial Community Composition and Diversity	51
		Assessment of Microbial Community Composition and Diversity	54
			55
			55
		Identification of Differentially Abundant OTUs in Treatments	55
		Inference of Co-Occurrence Networks	56
	4.3	Results	56
		Manipulating Cell Density Alters the Diversity and Composition of the Bacte-	
		rial Community	56
		Co-Occurrence Networks	57
		Coalescence Outcomes Between Communities Assembled Under Different Ini-	
		tial Physical Distances	59
	4.4	Discussion	60
5	Gen	eral Discussion	65
	5.1	Biotic Interactions in Soil	65
		5.1.1 Biotic Interactions Steer Community Assembly	65
		5.1.2 Biotic Interactions are Influenced by Community Properties and Physi-	
		cal Distance Between Cells	66
		5.1.3 Limits of Our Approach	67
	52	Using Community Manipulation as a Tool	70
	5.2	5.2.1 A Tool to Decipher Biotic Interactions	70
		5.2.1 A Tool for Microbioma Engineering	71
		5.2.2 A 1001 for wherobiome Engineering	/1
6	Con	clusions & Perspectives	73

Bi	Bibliography	
A	Chapter 2 Supplementary Materials	97
B	Chapter 3 Supplementary Materials	115
С	Chapter 4 Supplementary Materials	119

1. General Introduction 1		
1.1	Interaction compass	5
1.2	Baseplate transition from the pre-contracted to the post-contracted state	7
1.3	Different general strategies of predation by microorganisms	9
1.4	Interaction Continua	10
1.5	Frequency histogram of the range of calling distances	12
1.6	Top-down community manipulations from native communities	15
1.7	Schematic representation of the experimental approach used in the thesis	16
2. Expe	rimental Community Coalescence Sheds Light on Microbial Interactions in Soil	
and	Restores Impaired Functions	19
2.1	Schematic illustration of the experimental design	20
2.2	Structure and composition of the prokaryotic communities in the original soil and after Step 1	26
2.3	Structure and composition of the prokaryotic communities after Step 2	27
2.4	Taxonomic relationships and distribution of significantly differentially abun-	
	dant OTUs across treatments	29
2.5	Global prokaryotic network inferred from all samples across both experimental	
	steps	30
2.6	Treatment-induced changes in soil properties and N-cycling microbial guilds and inferred correlations with microbial OTUs	31
3. Insig	thts into the Biotic Factors Driving the Outcome of Coalescence Events Between	
Bact	terial Communities	35
3.1	Schematic illustration of the experimental design	37
3.2	Diversity and structure of the communities in the original soil, the non-treated	11
2.2	Control suspension and the manipulated suspensions	41
3.3	Diversity and structure of the non-coalesced control and the coalesced commu-	11
2 4	Tayonomic relationships and distribution of the 259 most shundant 166 rDNA	44
5.4	OTUs	16
35	Palative abundance of the 258 dominant OTUs	40
3.5	Relative abundance of the Pseudochrobactrum sp. OTU and connected Bacilli	H /
5.0	OTUs in the non-coalesced control and the coalesced communities	48
4. Mani	ipulating the Physical Distance Between Cells During Soil Colonization Reveals	
the	Importance of Biotic Interactions in Microbial Community Assembly	51
4.1	Schematic illustration of the experimental design	53

	4.2	Differences in bacterial community structure and composition across removal and density treatments for the Step 1 experiment	57
	4.3	Significantly differential abundant OTUs between density treatments	58
	4.4	Effects of the physical distancing approach on the microbial co-occurrence net-	
	4.5	works	59
		lesced and reference communities during the Step 2 experiment	61
5. 0	Gene	ral Discussion	65
	5.1 5.2	Modeling results and predictions of primary and secondary expansions Schematic illustration of different momenta across a linearized solution of the	68
		non-linear Lotka-Volterra equations	69
	5.3	Change in consumer and resource abundances over time	70
A. (Chap	oter 2 Supplementary Materials	97
	A.1	Abundances of total bacteria and total fungi	98
	A.2 A.3	Diversity of prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities after Step 1 Structure and composition of the eukaryotic communities in the original soil	99
	A.4	and after Step 1	100
	A.5	after Step 1Taxonomic relationships and distribution of OTUs significantly affected by the	101
		Step 1 removal treatments compared to the Step 1 control	102
	A.6	Structure and composition of the eukaryotic communities after Step 2	103
	A.7	Diversity levels of prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities after Step 2	104
	A.8 A.9	Taxonomic relationships and distribution of OTUs significantly affected by the	105
	A.10	Step 2 removal treatments compared to the Step 2 control	106
	A.11	Step 2 coalescence treatments compared to the Step 2 control	107
	A.12	Step 2 coalescence treatments compared to the Step 2 removal treatments Taxonomic relationships and distribution of significantly differentially abun-	108
	A.13	dant OTUs across treatments	109
	A.14	Global inter-domain network inferred from all samples across both experimen-	110
	A 15	tal steps	111
	A.15 A.16	Treatment-induced changes in son respiration rate as proxies of C-cycling Treatment-induced changes in abundance of N-cycle microbial guilds as proxies	112
		or in-cycling	113
B. (Chap	ter 3 Supplementary Materials	115
	B.1	Composition and Structure of the communities in the original soil, the non- treated control suspension, the manipulated suspensions, the non-coalesced	
	B.2	control and the coalescence outcomes	116
		OTUs	117
	B.3	Relative abundance of the 258 dominant OTUs	118

C. Chapter 4 Supplementary Materials 119				
C.1	Diversity levels of the bacterial community after Step 1 experiment	123		
C.2	Abundances of total bacteria	124		
C.3	Phylogenetic relationships and distribution of OTUs with significant increas-			
	ing/decreasing relative abundances between density treatments	125		
C.4	Number of positive (blue) and negative (red) links related to the physical dis-			
	tance (M0-M1)	126		
C.5	Number of positive (blue) and negative (red) links between nodes related to			
	physical distance and exhibiting significant changes in relative abundances	127		
C.6	Differences in bacterial community composition across treatments for the Step 2			
	experiment	128		
C.7	OTUs exhibiting significantly higher or lower relative abundances in the coa-			
	lesced communities (C)	129		
C.8	OTUs exhibiting significantly higher or lower relative abundances in the coa-			
	lesced communities (HS)	130		

 1. General Introduction 1.1 Different methods used in studies bringing insights about biotic interactions 	1 14
 2. Experimental Community Coalescence Sheds Light on Microbial Interactions in Soil and Restores Impaired Functions 2.1 Description of the removal treatments 	19 22
3. Insights into the Biotic Factors Driving the Outcome of Coalescence Events Between Bacterial Communities	35
4. Manipulating the Physical Distance Between Cells During Soil Colonization Reveals the Importance of Biotic Interactions in Microbial Community Assembly	51
5. General Discussion	65
A. Chapter 2 Supplementary Materials A.1 Number of OTUs significantly differentially abundant among all treatments	97 97
B. Chapter 3 Supplementary Materials B.1 Abundances of total bacteria	115 115
 C. Chapter 4 Supplementary Materials C.1 PERMANOVA results of Step 1 experiment	119 119 120 121 122

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviations	Definition
AHL	N-AcylHomoserine Lactone
AMO	Ammonia Mono-Oxygenase
AOA	Ammonia Oxidizing Archaea
AOB	Ammonia Oxidizing Bacteria
BLO	Bdellovibrio and Like Organisms
CI	Confidence interval
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
HSD	Honestly Significant Difference
NGS	Next-Generation Sequencing
NOB	Nitrite-Oxidizing Bacteria
NOR	Nitrite OxidoReductase
OTU	Operational Taxonomic Unit
PTLB	Phage Tail-Like Bacteriocins
PCoA	Principal Component Analysis
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
pН	Potential of Hydrogen
rDNA	Ribosomal DNA
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
s.e.	Standard Error

1

General Introduction

1.1 Soil Microbial Communities

1.1.1 Role of Soil Microbial Communities

The Earth's environment as we know it did not appear in a snap. It took billions of years to alter the raw elements of the early Earth into the environment we live in today. Microorganisms played a huge part in those alterations, from the ancestors of cyanobacteria producing dioxygen in the Earth's early atmosphere [1] through Earth's biogeochemical cycles [2], to soil pedogenesis [3]. Nowadays, microorganisms are the second major component of biomass on Earth after plants [4] and they not only drive major biogeochemical cycles but also influence plant, animal, and human welfare either directly or indirectly [2], [5], [6].

Microorganisms that live in the soil and deep subsurface account for approximately 20% of the global biomass alone [4]. Soil microorganisms belong to all three domains of life and represent the highest terrestrial diversity with billions of individuals of thousands of different species in one gram of soil [7], [8]. They are essential for plant growth and health as they can impede or sustain plant nutrient acquisition and growth and can act as pathogens or protect the plant from pathogens. Furthermore, they perform the ultimate steps of chemical transformations in soils as they decompose organic matter, which releases nutrients that they transform. Soil microorganisms play a key role in Earth cycles, including the two main ones: carbon and nitrogen cycles. These two cycles are interlinked and the steps performed by microorganisms likely influence the whole Earth ecosystem [2], [9]. In the carbon cycle, soil microorganisms contribute to both (i) efflux of carbon dioxide from the soil to the atmosphere through respiration and (ii) influx into soil stable carbon pool as microbial necromass or through microalgae photosynthesis and plant growth promotion [10]. They also produce humic substances that stabilize carbon in soil, making soil the highest terrestrial carbon pool [11]. Soil microorganisms are also the main drivers of nitrogen cycle from which N-cycling microbial guilds perform decisive steps [12]. In this thesis, we mostly focused on the nitrogen cycling, as a proxy of soil microbial activities, from which we choose three crucial steps: the nitrogen fixation, the nitrification, and the denitrification. While dinitrogen (N_2) constitutes about 78% of Earth's atmosphere, this gaseous form is not readily available for plants and animals and it first need to be converted into ammonium (NH_3/NH_4^+) . This transformation is mainly accomplished by the nitrogen-fixing bacteria and catalysed by nitrogenase that are encoded by a variety of *nif* genes such as the *nifH* gene. The ammonium can then be directly assimilated by plants and other microorganisms or can enter the nitrification pathway. Nitrification is the aerobic oxidation of ammonia to nitrate (NO_3^-) via nitrite (NO_2^-) and is performed by two functionally defined group of microbes. The first step is the oxidation of ammonia to nitrite, performed by Ammonia Oxidizing Archaea (AOA) and Ammonia Oxidizing Bacteria (AOB) and catalysed by the ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) encoded by the amoA archaeal

and bacterial genes, respectively. This first step is considered as the rate-limiting step in nitrification [13]. The second step of nitrification is the oxidation of nitrite to nitrate, which is performed by nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) using nitrite oxidoreductase (NOR). Note that the long-sought-after and recently discovered comammox process refers to the complete oxidation of ammonia to nitrate in one organism [14], [15]. At the opposite, denitrification is the reduction of nitrate and nitrite into gaseous nitrogen oxides (NO, N_2O , and N_2). A key step in the denitrification pathway is the transformation of soluble NO_2^- to gaseous NO, which is catalysed by the nitrite reductase, encoded by either the *nirK* or *nirS* genes.

Despite the vital role that carbon and nitrogen cycles play in ecosystem functioning, anthropogenic activities are strongly impacting these cycles at a level that crosses certain biophysical thresholds, leading to potentially disastrous consequences for humanity [16], [17]. Soil ecosystem functioning is threatened by anthropogenic activities that either alter directly (e.g., agriculture or pollution) or indirectly (e.g., climate change) the microbial processes driving carbon and nitrogen cycling [17]. For example, loss of biodiversity alters both carbon and nitrogen cycles. The decrease in microbial diversity can slow the decomposition of the litter, changing the efficiency of carbon use [18], [19] and can deplete microbial guilds that perform crucial steps of the nitrogen cycle [20]–[22]. In 2015, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) declared that soil is a living resource that "constitutes the foundation for agricultural development, essential ecosystem services, and food security", advocating that "effective policies and actions for the sustainable management and protection of soil resources" are urgently needed [23].

1.1.2 Community Definition: Emergent Properties and Biotic Interactions

A community is a multi-species assemblage, in which organisms live together in a contiguous environment (co-occurrence in space and time) and potentially interact with each other [24]–[26]. The importance of biotic interactions in the definition of a community is not clear, and opposite views arise from the literature. In the early 20th century, Clement suggested that members of a community were so tightly interconnected that communities can be viewed as supra-organisms, considering whole communities as a single organism [27]. At the opposite, Gleason preferred an individualistic perspective, arguing that species co-occur in one habitat because they tolerate the same environmental conditions but without necessarily interacting with each other [28]. Later, the supra organism view was supported by the idea that a community is not defined spatially by one habitat but rather by the range of interactions occurring between individuals, thereby the community boundaries corresponding to the interaction fading [29]. Recently, Liautaud et al. [30] proposed a unifying community theory suggesting that the supra-organismal and the individualistic view are ends of a continuum of interaction strength. A high variance in biotic interaction strength will lead to a supra-organismal form of the community while weak and uniform biotic interactions will lead to an individualistic form of the community. Either way, both ends of this continuum are defined by biotic interaction strength.

Furthermore, the importance of biotic interactions in the definition of a community is further supported by the concept of community emergent properties, which is defined as the characteristics that are intrinsic to a community but that cannot be identified or predicted by analysing the individual members of the community. These intrinsic community properties are inherently due to the biotic interactions that occur between the community members [24], [31]–[33]. As an example, due to interspecific interactions, biofilm formation and antimicrobial resistance were unpredictably enhanced in multi-species biofilm compared to single-species biofilm [34], [35]. Therefore, biotic interactions potentially occurring between the community members could be of importance both for the community itself and for its properties.

1.1.3 Community Assembly: Species Coexistence and Biotic Interactions

Microbial communities are not static but dynamic systems that assemble through the influence of several processes. Three main theories could explain the processes that influence the assembly of microbial communities [26], [36], [37]. First, neutral theory asserts that species are ecologically equivalent (i.e., no difference in their population dynamics), implying that community assembly is mainly driven by stochastic processes of birth, death, colonization, extinction and speciation [38], [39]. At the opposite, niche-based theory assumes that species occupy different ecological niches. A species niche is the combination of both (i) the "fundamental niche" (or "requirement niche"), which represents the environmental conditions under which the species exhibits positive response or growth, and (ii) the "realized niche" (or "impact niche"), which represents the additional ecological constraints on the species (e.g., biotic interactions), as well as the impact of the species on its environment [40], [41]. This theory implies that communities are assembled through deterministic processes, defined by abiotic and biotic factors. Neutral and niche-based theories are not mutually exclusive and are more likely part of continuum [37], [42]. A third theory, the modern co-existence theory, reunites the two previous ones [42]–[44]. This theory explains the coexistence of species within a community by equalizing mechanisms which lower relative fitness differences (neutral theory) and stabilizing mechanisms which reduce niche overlap (niche-based theory) [36], [45]-[47]. Equalizing mechanisms often relate to competition strategies that prevent one competitor to drive the other extinct. For instance, when a fast- and a slow-growing species compete for iron, the slow-growing species can produce siderophore to corner iron, which confer a fitness benefit, thereby reducing the relative fitness differences between these two species [48]. On the other hand, stabilizing mechanisms occurs mainly through resource partitioning. For instance, labour sharing in a community can lead to the coexistence of multiple species on a single resource, each species performing a specific step of the resource degradation [49]. According to this modern co-existence theory, community assembly encompasses different processes ruling community membership (i.e., allowing or not species co-existence in a community), and the deterministic processes involved are commonly referred to as abiotic and biotic filters. These filters likely interact with each other simultaneously, and distinguishing their effects is puzzling [36], [50].

The abiotic filter depends upon the ability of a species to colonize and thrive in the community abiotic environment, referring to the requirement niche and fitness differences. In terrestrial ecosystems, an emphasis has been placed on the understanding of the role of abiotic filters for microbial community assembly. Indeed, the abiotic edaphic conditions were shown to impact soil microbial communities, with the soil pH being a major factor [51], [52]. Kraft *et al.* [53] reviewed 258 articles studying the abiotic filter on different prokaryotes and eukaryotes communities. To establish abiotic filter *sensu stricto*, they assess whether studies included evidence that species could tolerate the considered abiotic conditions in the absence of potentially interacting species. They conclude that the impact of biotic interactions between the community members could not be withdrawn in 85% of the studied cases. Their conclusion highlights the potential pervasive and important role of interactions between microorganisms in community assembly and the need to investigate mechanisms aside from the abiotic filter. A growing body of evidence further supports their conclusion [54]–[58].

The biotic filter depends on the interactions between organisms, such as competition or cooperation, and therefore refers to the impact niche and species niche overlap. In natural communities, species with overlapping niches are competing against each other. Competition was described as the main type of interaction occurring within a community [59]–[61] and leads to two different outcomes during community assembly: niche differentiation or competitive exclusion. Niche differentiation, also known as niche partitioning, has been described as the main process supporting the coexistence of competing species [36], [45], [62]–[64]. Niche differentiation is the reduction of the niche overlap between two competing species (i.e., sta-

bilizing mechanisms), allowing them to co-exist despite their competition. When species initially share the same niche, they can differentiate their niche using different resources or using them differently (i.e., spatially, or temporally). Thereby, niche differentiation is based on resource partitioning (i.e., nutrient, prey, or habitable space) and can be metabolically, spatially, and temporally defined [45], [62], [63], [65]–[67]. Species can specialize in consuming different substrates to reduce competition between them [49], [68], [69]. Also, in a heterogeneous environment, such as soil, competing species can spatially compartmentalize habitable space, enabling them to coexist in the same community [63], [65]. Temporal partitioning can arise through seasons. For instance, in a tropical lowland evergreen rain forest, the community is dominated by decomposers, anaerobic saprophytes and N_2 -fixers during the rainy season, while a the dry season, members of the Beijerinckiaceae family were dominating [70]. Therefore, changes in soil nutrient and moisture regimes related to seasonal precipitations led to a cyclic dominance in which a different group of species dominate the community at one time, while all species co-exist in the community throughout the year. Alternatively to species coexistence, competitive exclusion predicts that the taxa with the optimal trait will eliminate the taxa without this optimal trait [36]. Competitive exclusion is the first formulated assembly principle [71]–[74] and recent studies further support the role of competitive exclusion in microbial community assembly [54], [58], [75]. By studying competition between eight bacterial species, Friedman et al. [75] showed that competitive exclusion occurred in 1/3 of the cocultures while the other 2/3 of the pairwise cocultures resulted in the coexistence of both species.

Cooperation has been described as a common interaction type within microbial communities, therefore also playing a role in community assembly [60], [76] and maintaining biodiversity [77], [78]. Cooperation between organisms could increase species tolerance to niche overlap and equilibrate the species fitness ratio, thereby acting as both a stabilizing and an equalizing mechanism [60], [76]. For example, bacteria might commonly secrete costless byproducts, offsetting competition for nutrients [57] and the exchange of metabolites between species could be a major driver of species coexistence [79]. However, there is still no consensus on which type of interaction dominates in microbial communities and more importantly, the balance between the interaction types can vary [76]. For example, the trade-off between competition and cooperation among bacteria can depend on the nutrient availability [80], [81]. Also, the proportion of individuals cooperating within a given community is influenced by the dispersal rate and the relatedness between the individuals [82]. Either way, the study of biotic interactions occurring between microorganisms could help to further understand microbial community assembly.

1.2 Interactions Between Microorganisms

1.2.1 The Interaction Compass and Interaction Definition

An interaction can be defined by its outcome (i.e., the impact each species has on each other's fitness). The outcome can be negative or positive on a species fitness, resulting thereby in a deleterious or a beneficial interaction, respectively. The interaction compass, designed by Lidicker in 1979 [31] has widely been used to define interactions [60], [83], [84]. This compass provides an array of all possible interactions, represented by "whether the interactants experience a positive, negative, or neutral effect as result of the interaction" [31]. The compass ranges from mutualism which is beneficial for both interactants (+/+) to competition which is deleterious for both interactants (-/-), through commensalism (0/+), exploitation (i.e., parasitism or predation) (+/-) and amensalism (0/-) (Figure 1.1) [31], [60], [83], [85].

The compass metaphor allows us to graphically represent a pairwise interaction and to define quantitatively its type and its strength (Figure 1.1): one interaction is represented by a

point on the compass, its type (e.g., competition) is described by the angle of the point from the zero degree line (e.g., 90°) and the interaction strength is described by the distance of this point from the compass centre [31], [60]. Firstly, defining an interaction type by an angle allows to consider interactions in a continuum rather than clearly delineated [31], [60]. For instance, mutualism, commensalism, and parasitism have been described to be parts of the same continuum, and the transition along this continuum can occur across ecological and evolutionary times [86]–[89]. Secondly, the interaction compass allows to define interaction strength which is an important characteristic of interactions as it reflects the interaction reciprocity [90], [91]. Along the same line, competition, mutualism, and exploitation are considered as reciprocal interactions, where the two interacting species affect each other fitness. On the contrary, com-



Figure 1.1: Interaction compass. The impact on the fitness of a species A (x-axis) and a species B (y-axis) of a pairwise interaction can be described qualitatively (interaction type, θ) and quantitatively (interaction strength, m). Adapted from Kehe *et al.* (2021) [60]

The interaction compass has two main limitations [57]. First, the interaction compass aim

to represent interaction outcome without considering the underlying mechanisms [31]. Thus, interactions relying on very different mechanisms are groups on the same position in the compass (e.g., predation and parasitism). Second, the interaction compass is presented in two dimensions. Thereby, it considers only one pairwise interaction at a time, withdrawing *de facto* interactions involving more than two species and multiple pairwise interactions occurring at the same time.

In this thesis, we focused on biotic interactions in highly complex communities, with thousands of potentially interacting species. Thus, while the interaction compass allow to define interactions objectively and operationally [31], we cannot use such two-dimensional framework here. Instead, we will define an interaction by its effect on a focal taxon fitness. For each taxon, we will assess whether it is positively or negatively affected as result of a positive or negative interaction, respectively.

1.2.2 Competition

Competition is a negative interaction as the outcome of competition is deleterious for both interactants (i.e., -/- in the interaction compass). There are two major mechanisms of competition: exploitative competition and interference competition. While exploitative competition can occur between different species (i.e., interspecific) as well as between member of the same species (i.e., intraspecific), interference competition has mostly been described as interspecific [92].

Exploitative competition is an indirect interaction in which two organisms compete for a limiting resource (e.g., nutrient or habitable space) [63], [92]. One of the main examples of such exploitative competition is the secretion of siderophore. Indeed, to corner iron, some species costly secrete in their environment iron-scavenging molecules (i.e., siderophores), impeding iron acquisition for strains that either (i) are unable to translocate siderophores into their cytoplasm or (ii) secrete siderophores with lower affinity for iron [63], [93]. Another example of exploitative competition is the production of molecules to colonize habitable space more efficiently (e.g., adhesins). For instance, a *Rhizobium leguminosarum* mutant with an overproduction of adhesion protein RapA1 had an increased competitiveness compared to control-production strain, leading to a greater nodule occupation of the adhesin-overproducer mutant [94].

On the other hand, interference competition is a direct interaction, where a competitor actively harms another [63], [92], using chemical, biological, and mechanical weapons [92]. The chemical weapons are toxins developed by microorganisms and are the first and most studied competition form between microorganisms since the discovery of penicillin in 1928 by Alexander Fleming [63], [92]. Toxins which are produced by bacteria target either the cell envelope (membrane or wall), or the cell core metabolism, leading to the target lysis or to the disruption of its cell growth and division. Bacteria can deliver the produced toxin to the target by either (i) releasing toxins in the environment, targeting all the surrounding competitors or (ii) directly injecting toxins into a specific target cell through different secretion system types, such as the Type IV secretion system [92]. Bacteria also use biological weapons such as prophages. The prophages are dormant form of the viral genome integrated into the host bacterial genome and replicate within the host cell without producing virulent progeny [95]. Only when the prophage is activated, as under stress conditions, it produces numerous virion progeny that are released in the cell surroundings, typically by host cell lysis. Host cell clonemates are often immune to infection by copies of the virus they carry [96]. Therefore, the released virion can infect only the host competitors, acting as a biological weapon to lyse competitor cells [92], [97], [98]. Bacteria can also use mechanical weapons such as phage tail-like bacteriocins (PTLBs) also known as tialocins, which are R-type pyocins that resemble Myoviridae bacteriophage tails. They are produced by bacteria and secreted in the environment where they bind to a target cell surface, contract their sheath, and fire their spike to physically perfo-



Figure 1.2: Baseplate transition from the pre-contracted to the post-contracted state. (a) Illustration of a pyocin landing on a bacterial cell and firing. Release of the spike and hub following injection is postulated on the basis of the lack of these structures on contracted particles that we observed *in vitro* (OM, outer membrane). (b) Ribbon diagram of the conserved baseplate components and sheath proteins in their pre-contracted and post-contracted states. Ripcord is believed to travel with the inner tube during the power stroke and therefore is not a conserved component of the baseplate after contraction. Arrows denote potential movements for sub-units in the same colours, respectively. From Ge *et al.* (2020) [100]

1.2.3 Cooperation

Cooperation between microorganisms is a positive interaction, as the outcome of cooperation is beneficial for both interactants (i.e., +/+ in the interaction compass). Microorganisms can cooperate among individuals of the same species (i.e., intraspecific) or among individual of different species (i.e., interspecific).

Among intraspecific cooperation mechanisms, quorum sensing is probably the most studied one. Quorum sensing is a system by which bacteria communicate and obtain information on the bacterial density, through the production of signal molecules [103]–[105]. Signal molecules accumulate in the extracellular environment, are recognized by specific receptors and trigger a coordinated population response when accumulated above a critical threshold [104]. The signal molecules used can vary between Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (N-acyl homoserine lactone family or oligopeptides interacting with two- component histidine

Chapter 1

protein kinase signal transduction systems, respectively) [104]. Quorum sensing regulates numerous social phenotypes in both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria, such as biofilm maturation, fruiting body development, pathogen virulence, bioluminescence, motility, etc. [104]. In general, even if the production of the quorum-sensing signal is costly for producers, it leads to a coordinated response beneficial for the whole population. Quorum sensing mechanisms have also been described between different bacterial species (i.e., bacterial cross-talk) or even between organisms belonging to different kingdoms (i.e., symbiosis) [104]. Another intraspecific cooperation mechanism is the production of public goods. Public goods are "products manufactured by an individual that can then be utilized by the individual or its neighbours" [106]. Thus, siderophore production can be considered not only as an interspecific competition mechanism but also as an intraspecific cooperation mechanism [106], [107]. Thus, the secretion of pyoverdine (i.e., a siderophore) by *Pseudomonas* is making iron available to individuals able to take up the pyoverdine-iron complex, mostly the producer's own kin [82], [107] but also other species [108]. Pyoverdine production is costly for the producing individual but benefit the entire *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colony.

Among interspecific cooperation mechanisms, symbiotic mutualism is the most extreme example that will be discussed in the "Interaction continuum" section below. Here, I will briefly develop another well-studied interspecific cooperation: division of labour (a.k.a. labour sharing). The division of labour is a collective phenotype divided between individuals that perform separate tasks [92]. An example of labour sharing is the two-step nitrification process [106]: (i) oxidation of ammonia into nitrite carried out by ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) or archaea (AOA) (e.g., *Nitrosomonas sp., Nitrosospira sp.,* etc.), then (ii) oxidation of nitrite into nitrate carried out by nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) (e.g., *Nitrospira sp., Nitrobacter sp.,* etc.). By dividing in two the metabolic pathway of converting ammonia into nitrate, the two-step nitrification process is presumed to maximize the ATP production rate and therefore increase the growth rate [109]. Note that the long-sought-after and recently discovered comammox process cannot be considered as labour sharing because it refers to the complete oxidation of ammonia to nitrate in one organism [14], [15].

1.2.4 Predation

Predation among microorganisms can be considered as an antagonist or exploitative interaction, since the outcome of predation is beneficial for the predator and deleterious for the prey (i.e., +/- and -/+ in the interaction compass, respectively). Protists are well-known to predate bacteria, fungi or even other protists [17], [110]. But bacteria can also predate other bacteria. Among bacteria predating other bacteria, several species, and even entire genera, belonging to different classes have been described as bacterial predators [111]. Martin [112] classified the different mechanisms by which bacteria predate other bacteria into four predatory strategies: (i) wolfpack or group, (ii) epibiotic, (iii) direct invasion or diacytotic, and (iv) periplasmic predation strategies (Figure 1.3). Wolfpack or group predation strategy occurs when a pack of bacterial predators producing enzymes that will cause the lysis of the targeted cell(s), and then feed on the released prey nutrient. Several genera are known to use this strategy such as Myxococcus (Delta-Proteobacteria), Lysobacter (Gamma-Proteobacteria), and Ensifer (Alpha-Proteobacteria). The epibiotic predation strategy is a contact-dependent predation in which the predator attaches to the prey surface and assimilates the prey molecules through specialized structures (e.g., Ensifer adhaerens and Vampirococcus sp.) [111], [112]. In the direct invasion strategy or diacytosis, the predator (e.g., Daptobacter sp.) directly enters the prey cell, degrades the cytoplasm, and divides within the prey cell. The periplasmic predation strategy is used by Bdellovibrio and Like Organisms (BLOs), which are well studied predators of Gram-negative bacteria [113]-[115]. BLOs mostly refer to Bdellovibrio spp., Bacteriovorax spp. and Peridibacter spp. that all belong to the Delta-Proteobacteria [111]. These obligate predators have a two-phase life cycle: (i) a free-swimming phase where the predator search

for preys, and (ii) an intraperiplasmic phase where the BLOs grow and replicate inside the periplasm of their Gram-negative prey.



Figure 1.3: Different general strategies of predation by microorganisms. (a) Group or "wolfpack" predation (as observed with *Myxococcus*), (b) Epibiontic attachment (*Vampirococcus*), (c) Direct invasion of the cytoplasm (*Daptobacter*), and (d) Periplasmic invasion (*Bdellovibrio*). From Martin (2020) [112]. (e) *Myxococcus xanthus* cells that are placed next to E. coli on a CF agar plate, which only provides a minimal amount of nutrients, expand radially using gliding motility, enter the prey colony, and lyse prey cells. Multicellular fruiting bodies (white arrowhead), in which *M. xanthus* cells differentiate into spores, start to emerge near the inoculation spot. Preying *M. xanthus* induces regular cell reversals, which appear as macroscopic ripples within the prey area (yellow arrowhead). The image was taken 2 days after the initial inoculation of predator and prey. (f) *M. xanthus* secretes hydrolytic enzymes and secondary metabolites, which presumably kill and degrade prey cells for biomass acquisition. Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) may contribute to the delivery of these lytic factors. *M. xanthus* cells typically move and prey in large clusters, but also individual cells are able to induce prey cell lysis. From Thiery & Kaimer (2020) [116]

1.2.5 Commensalism and Amensalism: Tipping Points of an Interaction Continuum

Commensalism has been described as the tipping point of a continuum between parasitism and mutualism, in symbiotic association (Figure 1.4) [117]. The molecular mechanisms used by symbionts are remarkably similar, regardless of the interaction type (i.e., parasitism, commensalism, or mutualism) [118], and the transition along this continuum could occur within an organism lifespan, depending on the ecological conditions [87], [89]. Such a continuum has been well described for symbiosis between microorganisms and plants or animals [88], [89] but could also occur between endosymbionts and hosts that are both microorganisms. For instance, the relationship between bacteria and prophage highlights the thin boundary between parasitism and mutualism. Prophages are well-known viral parasites of bacteria that reproduce in their host and trigger the cell lysis to spread in the environment. However, the interaction between prophage and its bacterial host is currently increasingly being considered as potential mutualism [119]. Indeed, while prophages can severely reduce a bacterial population, they can also promote horizontal gene transfer between bacterial species, including the transfer of genes that improve host fitness. Furthermore, in Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms, filamentous prophages interact with biofilm polymers outside of host cells, enhancing biofilm adhesion, desiccation survival, and antibiotic tolerance [120]. Another example is the relationships between fungi and bacteria. In soil, bacteria colonize the cell surface as it offers them available niches with nutrients and space, consuming, for example, the by-products of lignocellulose degradation, resulting therefore in a commensal interaction. Bacteria can also live inside the fungal cell, becoming symbionts and having mutualistic or parasitic effects on their host [119], [121]. For example, Mycoavidus cysteinexigens (Burkholderiaceae) can establish an endosymbiosis with members of the Mortierella elongata fungus species (Mortierellomycotina), consume their host metabolites therefore impeding the fungal growth [122]. At the opposite, Candidatus Glomeribacter gigasporarum (Burkholderiaceae), an endosymbiont of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, increases its host ATP production, elicits the detoxification of reactive oxygen species and potentially produces B-vitamins for its host [121]. Other members of Burkholderiaceae can have fluctuating effects. For instance, the endosymbiosis of Paraburkholderia rhizoxinica with Rhizopus microsporus can shift from mutualistic to antagonistic depending on the host's lipid metabolic changes occurring during the invasion stage [123].



Figure 1.4: Interaction Continua between mutualisms-commensalism-parasitism (**a**) and between competition-amensalism-predation (**b**). Adapted from Hirsch (2004) [88]

Amensalism is "an interaction in which one organism inflicts harm to another organism without receiving any costs or benefits" [91]. Antibiosis is a major mechanism of amensalism which is identified as the production of secondary metabolites by microorganisms that inhibit the growth of or kill other microorganisms with specific to broad spectrum. A well-known example for industrial microbiologists is the production of lactic metabolites by lactic

acid bacteria that inhibits the growth of many other bacteria, preventing coculture of lactic acid bacteria with other bacteria [124]. Antibiosis can also be mediated by the secretion of antibiotic compounds affecting neighbouring species [125], [126]. Therefore, three different interactions are based on the release of antibiotic compounds in the environment: amensalism through antibiosis, interference competition through the secretion of antibiotics, and predation through the wolf-pack strategy. In the interaction compass, these three interactions result in a decreased fitness for the "target" while the impact on the producer fitness depends on the type of interaction: a decreased fitness in competition, a constant fitness in amensalism, and an increased fitness in predation. One way to differentiate between these three types of interaction could be to estimate the impact of the interaction on the fitness of the antibiotic producer. Such as commensalism, mutualism and parasitism can be considered as a continuum in a symbiotic relationship [88], [89], [117], competition, amensalism, and predation could be a continuum in antibiotic production (Figure 1.4).

1.3 Factors Influencing Biotic Interactions

The outcome and strength of biotic interactions can be influenced by several factors: abiotic environment (temperature, pH, type and concentration of nutrients), order of colonization, stochasticity in community assembly, habitat spatial structure, spatial distance between microorganisms, and relative population size (density dependence). For instance, as temperature and pH influence individual physiology, these environmental variables systematically affect species interactions [127]–[130]. Depending on the type and concentration of nutrients available in the environment, species can have high or low overlap between their niches, resulting in more or less competition or cooperation between them [57], [60]. Besides, the order of colonization of an environment can be important for biotic interactions: early colonizers may determine the fate of the latter ones, either by impeding or facilitating their establishment [131]. In this thesis, we manipulated physical distance between cells and density of microbial communities, and I will further detail how these factors might influence biotic interactions.

1.3.1 Distance Between Cells, Interaction Strength and Spatial Structure

The distance at which microorganisms can interact (i.e., interaction distance) is the distance over which a cell can affect the concentration of some solute [132]. This distance ranges from less than 100 µm in the rhizosphere for quorum sensing (Figure 1.5) [133], to a few centimetres in soil through volatile organic compounds [134], [135] and up to a few meters in water columns regarding substrate consumption and metabolite production [136]. In soil, it has been estimated that a single bacterium can have on average 120 other bacterial cells within a distance of ca. 20 µm, with an average distance of 12.46 µm between cells [137]. Bacteria interact at a distance ranging from 5 to 20 µm for contact-independent interactions [137], [138] and at a distance lower than 1 µm for contact-dependent interactions [139]. In general, microorganisms preferentially engage in short-range interactions with their immediate neighbours [140]. Therefore, increasing the distance between two interacting bacterial cells could reduce the interaction strength. For instance, the virulence of the oral pathogen species Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans (Aa) is promoted as it feeds on lactate produced by the commensal species Streptococcus gordonii (Sg). However, Sg also produces hydrogen peroxide, which has antimicrobial properties at high concentration. In a murine infection abscess, Stacy *et al.* [141] shown that Aa spatially distance itself from Sg (>4 μ m) to potentially both reduce exposure to inhibitory levels of H2O2 and maintain lactate supply. Increasing the distance between Aa and Sg thus reduced the strength of the amensalism of Sg towards Aa.

Soil microorganisms primarily live in spatially structured communities such as biofilm [142], [143]. Cells that cooperate tend to aggregate while those negatively affected by each

other tend to spatially segregate [141], [144]. Moreover, a poor competitor can spatially organize itself around a stronger competitor to commensally consume by-products of the main carbon source degradation. For instance, Christensen et al. [145] shown that a strain of Pseudomonas putida was outcompeted by a strain of Acinetobacter which was more efficient to consume benzyl alcohol but only when cultivated as suspended cultures. When cultured as mixed biofilms, the P. putida strain spatially organized around the colonies of Acinetobacter to consume the benzoate they produced from the degradation of benzyl alcohol. Furthermore, disrupting a community spatial structure may change an interaction outcome. For instance, Frost et al. [56] studied the competition between a carbenicillin-resistant and a sensitive strain of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, at intermediate antibiotic concentration. In spatially structured communities (i.e., agar plates), the local extracellular degradation of carbenicillin by the resistant cells allow the sensitive one to outcompete them while disrupting the community spatial structure (i.e., liquid broth) decreases the susceptible cell fitness. This effect of spatial structure on biotic interactions could be of tremendous importance in soil. Indeed, soil is a heterogeneous spatially structured environment with patchy and piled-up arrangements of mineral-associated organic matter that compartmentalize cell aggregates, directly influencing the potential interaction between them [146].



Figure 1.5: Frequency histogram of the range of calling distances for AHL-mediated communication between individual cells of the sensor and nearest neighbor source reporter strains on non-root-hair surfaces. The longer calling distances are indicated in the enlarged inset. From Gantner *et al.* (2006) [133]

1.3.2 Density-Dependent Interactions

Density dependence is the relationship between the population size and the *per capita* growth rate [147], [148]. This relationship can be negative or positive. The density-dependence can also arise only above a critical density threshold. Such density threshold dependence effect is known as Allee effect [149]. As discussed above in the "Cooperation" section, quorum sensing is a system by which bacteria detect and respond to changes in the density of surrounding cells [103], [150]. Quorum sensing is therefore an important mechanism the underlying density-dependent interactions.

Regarding cooperation, Darch *et al.* [151] experimentally manipulated the density of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and found that, through quorum-sensing regulation, the production of public goods was more efficient at higher cell density, thereby resulting in a higher global fitness benefit. However, higher density of public good producers can also give rise to social cheaters. For instance, among a population of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* producing siderophores as public goods, the relative fitness of low-producing individuals (i.e., cheaters) was the greatest at higher population densities, as they were better able to exploit the cooperative siderophore production [152]. Positive density-dependent cooperation can also be subjected to Allee effects. For instance, two species cross-feeding mutualistically in a chemostat are subjected to an Allee effect with a minimum density required to maintain both species population [153]. Under a critical density threshold, the consumption of the cross-fed nutrients exceeded their production, leading to the extinction of both species. Higher cell density can also increase the overall population resistance to toxic molecules. For example, *Roseobacter sp.*, a model organism for manganese oxidation, exhibits positive density-dependent resistance to nitrite toxicity [154]. The inoculum size of the strain is positively correlated to its growth rate in the presence of manganese oxide, as the strain can use manganese oxide to catalyse nitrite oxidation. At higher cell density, more nitrite is oxidized into nitrate, reducing the inhibition of the strain growth by nitrite.

Regarding competition, negative density-dependence has been theorized by animal population ecologists using consumer-resource models [155]. Briefly, when resources are unlimited, such as when a species colonizes a new environment, the observed pattern is an exponential population growth with the species growth rate at its maximum. However, in nature, resources are limited and therefore, populations experience a logistic growth: when the population size reaches half of the carrying capacity, the growth rate starts decreasing, due to the depletion of resources. Therefore, the increase in cell density triggers exploitative competition, reducing the population growth rate. This negative density-dependence of exploitative competition can outweigh other positive interactions. For instance, Trosvik et al. [156] studied co-culture of Escherichia coli and Bacteroides uniformis strains in liquid medium. At low abundances, E. coli removes the residual oxygen from the medium, favouring the growth of *B. uniformis* which is strictly anaerobic. At a higher level of E. coli abundance, this beneficial effect is outweighed by the competition for nutrients between the two strains, leading to a decrease in B. uniformis growth. Conversely, interference competition can trigger positive density-dependence, at the benefit of either toxin producers or sensitive strains. For instance, toxin producers at low density are not able to invade a sensitive population [157] while sensitive populations, if they exceed a certain density threshold, can successfully colonize a lethally concentrated antibiotic environment [158]. The relative abundance of competitors can also determine the outcome of a competitive interaction. Li et al. [98] described in vitro the competition occurring between Duganella sp. and Curvibacter sp. and showed that Duganella sp. is outcompeted in coculture at both low and high Curvibacter sp. initial density, but not at the intermediate initial density. This density-dependence pattern is due to the presence of a prophage sequence in the genome of Curvibacter sp.. The prophage can be reactivated and release in the environment by Curvibacter sp., which cannot be re-infected, thereby infecting and lytically replicating into Duganella sp.. At low density of Curvibacter sp., the released phages encountered proportionally more Duganella sp., while at high density of Curvibacter sp., a lot of phages are released, both situations leading to a decrease in the Duganella sp. population. Interference competition could also rely on mechanisms similar to quorum sensing: bacteria could sense competitor density [103], [159]. Through this competition sensing, bacteria could trigger an appropriate and density-dependent response, such as the secretion of toxins that need a high density of producers to be effective against sensitive competitors.

Regarding predation, the well-known Lotka-Volterra model describes the relationship between the population size of the prey and the population size of the predator in the same way as the consumer-resource pattern [160]–[162]. Briefly, when a prey population size is high, the growth rate of its predator will be at is maximum until it exceeds the prey growth rate. Once there is not enough prey left to sustain the predator population, the predator population declines. This leads to cyclic variations of both the predator and the prey population sizes. Such density-dependent dynamics have also been described for the prokaryote predator Bdellovibrio and Like Organisms (BLOs) and its preys [114]. For example, a prey density of 3.10⁶ cells per mL is required for the BLOs to have a 50% chance of survival and maintain their population [163]. Preys can also be subjected to an Allee effect with a critical density threshold under which the population declines, either subjected or not to predation [164]. When subjected to predation, a minimum population density is needed to lower the risk of predation and maintain the prey population. Without predation, a minimum population density is needed to trigger collective behaviour (e.g., quorum sensing) that will maintain the population growth rate.

Method	Studies
Observation	Allee & Bowen, 1932 [149]; Elton, 1949 [155]; MacArthur, 1958 [73]; Schoener, 1974 [62]; Diamond, 1975 [74]; Bascompte <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006 [90]; Gantner <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [133]; Wakeham <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [136]; Burke <i>et al.</i> , 2011 [165]; Raynaud & Nunan, 2014 [137]; Zelezniak <i>et al.</i> , 2015 [79]; Graham <i>et al.</i> , 2016 [166]; Bahram <i>et al.</i> , 2018 [167]; Nuccio <i>et al.</i> , 2020 [67]; Szoboszlay & Tebbe, 2021 [168]; Ren <i>et al.</i> , 2022 [169]
Theory	Clements, 1916 [27]; Grinnell, 1917 [170]; Lotka, 1925 [160]; Gleason, 1926 [28]; Volterra, 1928 [161]; Gause, 1934 [71]; Van- dermeer, 1972 [171]; Leibold, 1995 [40]; Chesson, 2000 [45]; Hubbell, 2001 [38]
Modelling	Abrams, 2009 [148]; Goberna <i>et al.</i> , 2014 [54]; Carrara <i>et al.</i> , 2015 [172]; Coyte <i>et al.</i> , 2015 [55]; Mougi, 2016 [173]; Momeni <i>et al.</i> , 2017 [174]; Letten & Stouffer, 2019 [175]; Pacheco <i>et al.</i> , 2019 [57]; Qian & Akçay, 2020 [76]; Vet <i>et al.</i> , 2020 [153]
Bottom-up approaches	
Pairwise coculture More than two species	Varon & Zeigler, 1978 [163]; Rainey & Rainey, 2003 [176]; Dig- gle et al., 2007 [104]; Greig & Travisano, 2008 [157]; Ross- Gillespie et al., 2009 [152]; Mongiardini et al., 2009 [94]; Morgan et al., 2010 [177]; Darch et al., 2012 [151]; Cordero et al., 2012 [178]; Foster & Bell, 2012 [59]; Hol et al., 2016 [158]; Wright & Vetsigian, 2016 [179]; Kaul et al., 2016 [164]; Kragh et al., 2016 [180]; Russel et al., 2017 [181]; García et al., 2017 [124]; Frost et al., 2018 [56]; Pacheco et al., 2019 [57]; Dal Co et al., 2020 [140]; Ranava et al., 2021 [81]; Kehe et al., 2021 [60] Kerr et al., 2002 [77]; Griffin et al., 2004 [82]; Bell et al., 2005 [182]; Trosvik et al., 2008 [156]; Foster & Bell, 2012 [59]; Lee et al., 2014 [34]; Røder et al., 2015 [35]; Mayfield & Stouffer,
	2017 [183]; Friedman <i>et al.</i> , 2017 [75]; Mickalide & Kuehn, 2019 [184]; Ratzke <i>et al.</i> , 2020 [58]
Top-Down approaches Community Manipulation	Wubs <i>et al.</i> , 2016 [185]; Calderón <i>et al.</i> , 2017 [186]; Rocca <i>et al.</i> , 2020 [187]; Romdhane <i>et al.</i> , 2021 [188]

Table 1.1: Different methods used in studies bringing insights about biotic interactions among the ones cited in this thesis

1.4 Approaches for Deciphering Biotic Interactions Between Microorganisms and Their Contribution to Community Assembly

The aforementioned insights about biotic interactions, the factors influencing them and their contribution to the assembly of microbial communities were obtained using different methods: theory inference from observations, *in silico* community modelling and hypothesis driven laboratory experiment (Table 1.1).

Traditional culture-based approaches have resulted in a flourishing literature of bottomup experiments using pairwise cocultures of strains or mixing more than two species together (Table 1.1). The design of such synthetic microbial communities is expected to become easier and high-throughput, allowing bottom-up approaches with more complex communities [189]. These bottom-up approaches allow to simplify the highly complex system that are natural microbial communities to their fundamental building blocks and to measure interaction outcomes between small sets of well-identified species as well as the interaction underlying mechanisms. However, such reductionist approaches use coculture experiments with a handful of strains, which is far below the thousands of species observed in natural communities and require cultivable species that represent a phylogenetically fragmented and sparse part of natural biodiversity [190]. Therefore, it is uncertain whether they can fulfil their promise of capturing biotic interactions occurring in complex natural microbial communities [191], [192]. For instance, pairwise species interactions often fail to predict interactions in more complex systems [174], [175], [193]. Thereby, using bottom-up approaches with synthetic communities could not allow linking biotic interaction to community-level processes nor understanding the contribution of biotic interactions to the assembly of natural communities.



Figure 1.6: Top-down community manipulations from native communities. Each circle is a community, and the shapes represent different microbial taxa that inhabit those communities. Extant variation community in community structure is illustrated in the central panel, while left and right panels show the different kinds of addition and removal manipulations. From Bell (2019) [192]

Therefore, other approaches are needed to decipher interactions between microorganisms occurring in complex communities and their role in the community assembly and functioning. Such approaches would help better predict microbial community assembly and decipher the interplay between community structure and functioning. To that end, top-down approaches

using manipulation of native microbial communities open new research avenues [192]. Native community manipulations can address three issues previously raised: (i) observational studies lacking hypothesis-driven experimental design [194], (ii) co-occurrence networks inferring correlations that need experimental validation for an ecological interpretation [83], and (iii) the need to use complex communities in laboratory experiments to decipher biotic interactions and their role on the community assembly and functioning [191], [192]. Community manipulation can take different forms either by community destruction or by community construction (Figure 1.6). From a native microbial community, community destruction may be achieved either by separating taxa (i.e., fragmentation) using serial dilution or micropore filters [186], [188], or by removing targeted taxa (i.e., knock-out) using biocidal treatments [188]. Community construction can be achieved either by inoculating invader taxa to a native microbial community (i.e., invasion) [195], or by mixing different communities (i.e., coalescence) [196].

1.5 Thesis Aim and Approach



Figure 1.7: Schematic representation of the experimental approach used in the thesis.

The overall aim of this thesis is to assess the role of biotic interactions between microorganisms in soil microbial community assembly, through soil microbial community manipulations. Specifically, our objectives are: (i) to identify biotic interactions between microbial groups using community manipulation, (ii) to assess the potential contribution of biotic interactions to microbial community assembly and (iii) to assess the consequences of microbial community manipulation on soil functions. To address these objectives, we used an experimental topdown approach based on microbial community manipulations in order to modify interactions between community members (Figure 1.7). We used three different community manipulations and articulated them into three different chapters:

- Chapter 2: Experimental Community Coalescence Sheds Light on Microbial Interactions in Soil and Restores Impaired Functions
- Chapter 3: Insights into the Biotic Factors Driving the Outcome of Coalescence Events Between Bacterial Communities
- Chapter 4: Manipulating the Physical Distance Between Cells During Soil Colonization Reveals the Importance of Biotic Interactions in Microbial Community Assembly

In the second chapter, we investigated to which extent microbial interactions affect community assembly and functions. We used a two-step community manipulation based on successive removal and coalescence approaches to quantify interactions between microorganisms within a community and to validate the identified interactions, respectively. We formulated two hypotheses: (i) removing some taxa from a native microbial community will favour their competitors therefore increasing their relative abundance within the reassembled community and (ii) mixing the control and the manipulated communities will re-establish the original interactions, therefore decreasing the relative abundances of the poor competitors that were favoured by the depletion of some bacterial taxa.

In the third chapter, we assessed to which extent community diversity, composition and density influence the coalescence outcome between two communities. For this purpose, we mixed a native microbial community with various manipulated communities obtained from the same native microbial community but differing in their diversity, composition, and densities. We hypothesized that these properties of the coalescing communities (i.e., diversity, composition and diversity) are driving factors of the outcome of the coalescence via the modifications of the interactions between community members.

In the fourth chapter, we examined to which extent the physical distance between neighbouring species in soil determine the fitness of specific member species over others for a more general understanding of the role of biotic interactions in microbial community assembly. For this purpose, we inoculated the same species pool from a soil suspension into increasing volumes of sterilized soil. We hypothesized that experimentally manipulating the physical distance between microbial cells will modify the interaction strengths leading to differences in microbial community composition, with increasing distance between neighbours favouring poor competitors. Finally, to assess the relative competitiveness of the manipulated communities, we performed a coalescence experiment with a reciprocal transplant design by mixing microbial communities that assembled with different initial distances between cells.

2

Experimental Community Coalescence Sheds Light on Microbial Interactions in Soil and Restores Impaired Functions

Sarah Huet, Sana Romdhane, Marie-Christine Breuil, David Bru, Arnaud Mounier, Ayme Spor, Laurent Philippot

University Bourgogne Franche-Comte, INRAE, Institut Agro Dijon, Department of Agroecology, Dijon, France

Abstract

Microbes typically live in communities where individuals can interact with each other in numerous ways. However, knowledge on the importance of these interactions is limited and derives mainly from studies using a limited number of species grown in coculture. Here, we manipulated soil microbial communities to assess the contribution of interactions between microorganisms for assembly of the soil microbiome. By combining experimental removal (taxa depletion in the community) and coalescence (mixing of manipulated and control communities) approaches, we demonstrated that interactions between microorganisms can play a key role in determining their fitness during soil recolonization. The coalescence approach between depleted and control microbial communities not only revealed the importance of densitydependent interactions in microbial community assembly but also allowed to restore partly or fully community diversity and soil functions. Microbial community manipulation resulted in shifts in both inorganic nitrogen pools and soil pH, which were related to the proportion of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. Our work provides new insights into the understanding of the importance of microbial interactions in soil. Our top-down approach combining removal and coalescence manipulation also allowed linking community structure and ecosystem functions. Furthermore, these results highlight the potential of manipulating microbial communities for restoration of soil ecosystems.

Keywords: Microbial interactions; community manipulation; coalescence; restoration; soil functions; density-dependent interactions


Figure 2.1: Schematic illustration of the experimental design. The soil microbial community was manipulated using a top-down approach in two steps. Step 1 consisted in a removal approach during which soil suspensions were either subjected to one out of 18 removal treatments (R, n=10) to deplete various microbial groups or were not treated (control, C, n=10). Step 2 consisted in a coalescence approach during which soils from 10 removal treatments were either mixed with themselves (R+R) or with the soil from the non-treated microcosms (R+C) and non-treated soil was mixed with itself (C+C) in 1/10 v/v sterile soil (n=10). Values in parentheses indicate the number of biological replicates.

2.1 Introduction

Microbes form complex and highly diverse communities that have an essential role in ecosystem functioning [2], [8]. In the last few decades, evidence has arisen that these functions performed by microbial communities are intrinsically related to their diversity and composition [20], [166], [197]. While microorganisms can interact with each other in numerous ways [55], [58], [198], only limited insights exist about the contribution of such biotic interactions to the assembly and composition of microbial communities. They are often obtained from simplified microbial systems in which pairwise interactions between strains are monitored [59], [179], [181]. Competition in particular has been suggested as the dominant type of interaction among microbial species [59], [66]. However, because of the simplicity of these systems, it is uncertain if these reductionist approaches can live up to their promise of providing a better understanding of interactions between microbes in their real habitat. For example, pairwise species interactions often fail to predict interactions in more complex systems likely due to higher-order interaction, which arises in the presence of additional species [184]. Therefore, a better understanding of interactions between microorganisms in complex communities is needed to better predict microbial community assembly, which is key to rationally engineer or manipulate these complex communities for our own ends.

Community coalescence is a recently introduced concept describing the encounter of previously separate microbial communities [196]. During these encounter events, novel interactions are generated and Rillig *et al.* [196] therefore proposed that an explicit consideration of coalescence could help better understand the complexity of microbial assemblages as well as the importance of microbial interactions. Since even the most degraded ecosystems are unlikely to be sterile, coalescence of microbial communities has also recently been investigated in relation to ecological restoration of degraded ecosystems [186]. Thus, due to their critical roles in biogeochemical cycling, microbial communities are now seen as a system component to be manipulated for promoting the recovery of ecosystems [199]. For example, Wubs *et al.* [185] tested the application of soil inocula in the field and showed coalescence could steer the soil community and promote nature restoration.

Here we used a two-step, top-down manipulation of soil microbial communities based on removal and coalescence approaches to assess the importance of interactions between microorganisms for soil microbial community assembly and functions (Figure 2.1). As proposed by Rillig et al. [200], community coalescence in our work stands for the mixing of soils containing manipulated and non-manipulated microbial communities. For this purpose, we first subjected a soil microbial community to 18 different removal treatments (Table 2.1) before reinoculation in its native, but sterilized, soil to allow the different populations to assemble during recolonization. We then applied a generalized linear mixed model to identify the OTUs with significant changes in relative abundance (used as proxy of the relative fitness) in the manipulated communities compared to the non-treated control community after 45 days of incubation. To test the hypothesis that depletion of competitors by the removal treatments was behind the observed increase in relative fitness of a large fraction of the dominant prokaryotic and eukaryotic OTUs across treatments, we then used a coalescence approach by mixing the depleted and control communities and postulated that it would re-establish the initial interactions. Finally, to assess to which extent treatment-induced changes in soil properties and functions were related to shifts in microbial communities, we applied a multi-omics integrative analysis, which supported the usage of removal and coalescence experiments for validating structure-function associations [192].

2.2 Material & Methods

Soil Sampling and Experimental Design. A sandy loam soil (6.9% clay, 19% loam and 74.1% sand, pH 5.5, and C and N content 14.7 and 1.19 g.kg⁻¹ dry soil, respectively) recognized as a reference [201] was collected at the CNRS Ecology and Environment Institute research station CEREEP, France (N48°16'59.5", E2°40'18.5") and sieved through 4 mm. In a first step, the soil microbial community was manipulated by applying 18 different removal treatments (Figure 2.1 and Table 2.1). Briefly, each removal treatment was applied independently to 1:10 suspensions of the sieved soil (n=10) and 14.2 ml of the treated suspension was inoculated into 147 ml plasma flasks containing 50 g of γ -sterilized soil (>60 kGy; Conservatome, Dagneux, France). Ten replicate microcosms inoculated with non-treated soil suspensions were used as controls. All of the 190 soil microcosms were closed with sterile lids allowing gas exchange and incubated at 23 °C at a soil moisture ranging between 60% and 80% of the soil water-holding capacity for 45 days. After incubation, soil microcosms and original soil were used for subsequent analyzes. In a second step, ten removal treatments were selected for the coalescence experiment (Figure 2.1). These ten treatments were selected to represent the variety of the Step 1 removal treatment types: antibiotics (Cip and Ram), fungicide (Cic), protisticide (Mil), filtration (F3), heat shock (HS), oxidative stress (Ox1), pH (pH2 and pH11) and shortwave (UV). For this purpose, 2.5 g of soil from a removal treatment microcosm (R) was thoroughly mixed with 2.5 g of the non-treated control soil (C) into 45 g of sterile soil microcosms, which corresponds to the coalescence treatment (R+C). Soils from removal treatments and the control were also mixed separately with 45 g of sterile soil to obtain the self-mixed removal treatments (R+R) and the self-mixed control (C+C), respectively. Soil microcosms from Step 2 were also replicated 10 times and incubated under the same conditions as Step 1 for 45 days.

Treatment	Abbr.	Description
Control	С	Not treated soil suspension
Ciprofloxacin	Cip	Antibiotic, 66,67 μ g/ml for 5 h
Gentamicin	Gen	Antibiotic, 69,44 μ g/ml for 5 h
Ramoplanin	Ram	Antibiotic, 69,44 μ g/ml for 5 h
Ciclopirox	Cic	Fungicide, 200 μ g/ml for 5 h
Micafungin	Mic	Fungicide, 66,67 μg/ml for 5 h
Miltefosin	Mil	Protisticide, 69,44 μ g/ml for 5 h
Filtration 1	F1	Fraction > 5 μ m (5 μ m filter)
Filtration 2	F2	5 μ m > Fraction > 3 μ m (3 μ m filter)
Filtration 3	F3	$3 \mu m$ > Fraction > 1 μm (1 μm filter)
Freeze-Thaw	FT	6 x (15 min at -80 °C then 15 min at +30 °C)
Heat shock	HS	0 °C for 5 min / 70 °C for 15 min / 0 °C for 5 min
Osmotic	Na	NaCl, 0.1 g/ml for 2 h then wash (x3)
Oxidative 1	Ox1	H2O2 50 mM for 2 h
Oxidative 2	Ox2	H2O2 25 mM for 2 h
Alkaline	pH11	0,5 ml ammoniac 20% at 1 M for 2 h then wash (x3)
Acid	pH2	1 ml malic acid at 1 M for 2 h then wash $(x3)$
Sonication	US	9x(30 sec ultrasounds (Vibracell VC-500, 20 kHz) + 30 sec rest)
UV	UV	2 h exposure

Table 2.1: Description of the removal treatments applied to soil suspension in Step 1 and the corresponding abbreviations (Abbr.) used in figures and text.

Soil pH, Inorganic Nitrogen Pools and Carbon Cycle Related Activities. Impacts of microbial community manipulations on soil functions and properties were assessed using 5 replicate soil samples from each treatment. Soil pH was measured in water (ISO 10390:2005). Soil mineral nitrogen (NO3- and NH4+) was extracted from 10 g of fresh soil using 50 ml of KCl (1 M), then shaken at 80 rpm for 1 h at room temperature, filtered and quantified by colorimetry (ISO standard 14256-2). Microbial respiration rates were measured according to the MicroResp method [202] using a plate reader (TECAN Infinite® M200 Pro) for three different C substrates: D-(-)Fructose, L-Arginine and Gallic acid.

Assessment of Microbial Community Composition and Diversity. DNA was extracted from 400 samples (ten original soil samples, 190 Step 1 microcosms and 210 Step 2 microcosms, n=10) using the DNeasy PowerSoil-htp 96 well DNA isolation kit (Qiagen, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To generate amplicons, a two-step PCR approach was used according to Berry et al. [203]. The hypervariable region V3-V4 of the 16S rRNA gene and the hypervariable region V4 of the 18S rRNA gene were amplified using primers 341F (5'-CCTACGGGRSGCAGCAG-3') and 805R (5'-GACTACCAGGGTATCTAAT-3') and EK-565F (5'-GCAGTTAAAAAGCTCGTAGT-3 ') and 18S-EUK-1134-R - UnonMet (5'-TTTAAGTTTCAGCC TTGCG-5 '), respectively. The amplicon size was checked with 2% agarose gel and the DNA concentration was estimated using Quant-IT[™] dsDNA HS Assay kit (Invitrogen[™], Carlsbad, CA, USA). Final PCR products were purified and their concentration normalized using the SequalPrep Normalization plate kit (Invitrogen[™], Carlsbad, CA, USA). Sequencing was performed on MiSeq (Illumina, 2 x 250 bp and 2 x 300 pb for 16S and 18S rRNA amplicons, respectively) using the MiSeq reagent kit v2. Demultiplexing and trimming of Illumina adaptors and barcodes was done with Illumina MiSeq Reporter software (version 2.5.1.3). Sequence data from the 400 soil samples were analyzed using an in-house developed Python pipeline (available upon request). Briefly, 16S rRNA and 18S rRNA gene sequences were assembled using PEAR (version 0.9.8) [204] with default settings. Further quality checks were performed using the QIIME pipeline (version 1.9.1) [205] and short sequences were removed (< 400 bp for 16S and < 475 bp for 18S). Reference based and de novo chimera detection, as well as OTUs clustering were performed using VSEARCH (version 2.14.2) [206] and the adequate reference databases (SILVA' representative set of sequences version 138.1/2020 [207] for 16S rRNA and the PR2 sequence database version 4.11.1 [208] for 18S rRNA). The identity thresholds were set at 94% for 16S based on replicate sequencing of a bacterial mock community [188] and 97% for 18S. Representative sequences for each OTU were aligned using Infernal (version 1.1.3) [209] and phylogenetic trees were construct using FastTree (version 2.1.11) [210]. Taxonomy was assigned using UCLUST (from USEARCH version 11) [211] and the SILVA database (version 138.1/2020) [207] and the PR2 database (version 4.11.1) for the 16S and 18S rRNA sequences, respectively. Raw sequences were deposited at the NCBI under the accession number PRJNA763056 for 16S rRNA sequences and PRJNA763098 for the 18S rRNA sequences.

Quantification of Microbial Communities. The abundances of total bacterial and fungal microbial communities, as well as those of N-cycle microbial guilds, were estimated by real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) assays. For each treatment, we used five equimolar mixtures prepared from pairs of the 10 DNA extracts. Total bacterial and fungal communities were quantified using 16S rRNA and ITS primers as described by Muyzer *et al.* [212] and White *et al.* [213], respectively. Abundances of N-cycle microbial guilds were estimated using the *amoA* gene to quantify bacterial (AOB) and archaeal (AOA) ammonia-oxidizers, the *nirK* and *nirS* genes to quantify denitrifiers [214] and the *nifH* gene for the diazotrophs [215]. Real-time qPCR assays were carried out in a ViiA7 (Life Technologies, USA) with a Takyon Master Mix (Eurogentec, France) as previously described [214]. PCR efficiency for the different assays, each one performed in two independent runs, ranged from 79.32 to 104.68%. No template

controls gave null or negligible values. PCR inhibitor presence was tested by mixing soil DNA extracts with either control plasmid DNA (pGEM-T Easy Vector, Promega, France) or water. No inhibition was detected in any case.

Statistical Analysis. Statistical analyses were conducted using R statistical software [216] (version 4.0.3) and all code and data are available on gitlab at the following link: https: //gitlab.com/micro_bio_info_sarah/huet_2021. Differences between treatments in gene copy abundances (16S rRNA, ITS, amoA, nirK, nirS and nifH), ammonium and nitrate concentrations, pH, microbial respiration measurements (n=5) and the microbial α -diversity indices (n=10) were tested using ANOVA followed by Tukey's honestly significant difference test (HSD; p-value ≤ 0.05) using the *agricolae* package [217] (version 1.3-5). Normality and homogeneity of the residual distribution were verified and log-transformations were performed for gene copy abundances. Prokaryotic and eukaryotic α -diversity metrics (i.e., observed species, Simpson's reciprocal, Shannon and Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity PD [218]) and Weighted Unifrac distance between samples [219] were calculated based on rarefied OTU tables (9000 sequences and 8000 sequences per sample for 16S rRNA and 18S rRNA, respectively). We also performed principal components analyses (PCoA) and permutated analysis of variance using the ordin and adonis function of the vegan package (version 2.6-2)[220], respectively, based on Weighted Unifrac distance matrix to detect changes in the microbial community structure. We implemented pairwise comparisons between treatment using the pairwise.adonis function from the pairwiseAdonis package [221] (version 0.4). As Weighted Unifrac distances range from zero for similar samples to one for dissimilar samples, we calculated the similarity as one minus the distance.

Identification of OTUs Differentially Abundant in Treatments. Low-abundance OTUs were filtered out by keeping OTUs that (i) represented > 0.5% of the sequences in at least one sample and (ii) were found in at least 60% of replicates for any given treatment, which resulted in 515 and 439 OTUs for the 16S rRNA and the 18S rRNA, respectively. These most abundant OTUs were used to build pruned trees using the *ape* package [222] and visualised using the Interactive Tree of Life (iTOL) Webserver [223]. To estimate the effect of each treatment on each OTU abundance, we used a generalised linear mixed model for each of the experiment steps. Considering that an OTU of abundance *Y*, in any *k* replicates of any *i* Step 1 treatment or *ij* Step 2 treatment, follows a Poisson law of parameter Λ as $Y \sim P(\Lambda)$, we used the following models for Step 1 and Step 2, respectively:

$$log(\Lambda_{ik}) = o_{ik} + \mu + \alpha_i + Z_{ik}, Z_{ik_{1 \le k \le 10}} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(2.1)

$$log(\Lambda_{ijk}) = o_{ijk} + \mu + \beta_{ij} + C_{ij} + Z_{ijk}, Z_{ijk_{1 \le k \le 10}} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(2.2)

where $i = \{1,...,19\}$ represents the Step 1 treatments, $j = \{1,2\}$ represents the Step 2 selfmixed or coalescence treatment respectively, $k = \{1,...,10\}$ represents the replicates, o is the offset for each sample calculated as the log of the sample read sum, α is the effect of the Step 1 treatments, Z is the random sampling effect modelling the data overdispersion, β is the effect of the Step 2 treatment and C is the mixed effect modelling the degree of kinship between the Step 2 samples. The analysis was performed using the *glmer* function of the *lme4* package (version 1.1-27). Subsequently, we performed multiple pairwise comparisons with the *emmeans* function of the *emmeans* package (version 1.6.1) and post-hoc Tukey tests for p-value adjustment. We selected pairwise comparisons: (i) between each removal treatment and the Step 1 control (R versus C in Step 1), (ii) between each self-mixed removal treatment and the Step 2 control (R+R versus C+C in Step 2), (iii) between each coalescence treatments and its respective self-mixed treatment (R+C versus R+R in Step 2) and iv) between each coalescence treatment and the Step 2 control (R+C versus C+C in Step 2). Significant comparisons resulted from Tukey test p-value (p-value ≤ 0.05). A loglikelihood ratio test was applied when the OTU had a null abundance in one treatment and a median abundance higher or equal to 5 in the other treatment (see code available online).

Inference of Co-Occurrence Networks. Networks were constructed based on the most abundant OTU count data (low-abundance OTUs filtered out) using all samples from the cleaned dataset except original soil samples (389 and 386 samples for 16S and 18S, respectively). Networks were inferred using a sparse multivariate Poisson lognormal (PLN) model with a latent Gaussian layer and an observed Poisson layer using the *PLN models* package [224] with an offset corresponding to the number of reads in each sample. The best network was selected using a Stability Approach to Regularisation Selection (StARS) [225]. For visualisation purposes, only partial correlations with $|\rho| > 0.08$ were considered and visualised using Cytoscape [226].

Multivariate Integration to Identify Correlation Between OTUs and Variables. To identify significantly correlated variables (Pearson's correlation |r| > 0.6) among 16S rRNA sequences (low-abundant OTUs filtered out), gene copy abundances (16S rRNA, amoA, nirK, nirS, nifH and ITS), inorganic N-pools, microbial respiration rates and soil pH, we used DIABLO (Data Integration Analysis for Biomarker discovery using a Latent component method for Omics studies) from the mixOmics package [227], [228]. This approach is a supervised analysis for the integration of multiple data sets based on a multiblock sparse partial least square discriminant analysis (Multiblock sPLS-DA). The training set used is described in the code available online.

2.3 Results

Alteration in Soil Microbiome Diversity and Composition Following the Removal Treatments. In Step 1, we used 18 different removal treatments (Table 2.1) with antibiotic, fungicide, protisticide and filtration being selective removal treatments while the others were more general. Quantification of 16S rRNA and ITS gene copy numbers indicated that after the 18 removal treatments, the inoculated microbial communities reached the same densities as in the control soil, except for the heat shock and pH2 treatments for both bacteria and fungi and the F3 filtration treatment for the fungi only (post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Supplementary Figure A.1a,b). Ten to 17 of the 18 depletion treatments led to a significant decrease in prokaryotic α -diversity compared to the control, depending on the indices (post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Figure 2.2a and Supplementary Figure A.2a,b). Overall, the ramoplanin, F2 filtration, heat shock, pH2 and pH11 treatments caused the largest declines in prokaryotic diversity as illustrated by losses up to 50.77% of the observed species compared to the control community (post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Figure 2.2a). The depleted microbial taxa differed between treatments with, for example, the ramoplanin treatment affecting mostly Actinobacteria, Bacilli and Clostridia while mostly γ -Proteobacteria were depleted by the heat shock treatment (Figure 2.2b). In contrast, the F2 and F3 filtration, heat shock and pH11 treatments had the strongest effect on the eukaryotic community diversity and composition (posthoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Figure A.2c,d and Supplementary Figure A.3a,b). Changes in similarity between manipulated and control communities were consistent with the α -diversity results (Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value \leq 0.05; Figure 2.2c, Supplementary Figure A.3c and Supplementary Figure A.4).

Next, we used a generalized linear mixed model to identify among the dominant OTUs those exhibiting a differential abundance between the removal treatments (R) and the control (C) (Equation 2.1). We hypothesized that depletion of some taxa would allow their competitors



Figure 2.2: Structure and composition of the prokaryotic communities in the original soil and after Step 1. (a) Number of observed species (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (b) Relative abundances of the fourteen most abundant classes of prokaryotic community. (c) Similarity between the control samples and between the control and either the original soil or the removal treatment, based on the Weighted UniFrac distances (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05).

to thrive, therefore increasing their relative abundance. Accordingly, we found that depletion of various microbial taxa positively affected the relative fitness of 245 prokaryotic and 90 eukaryotic OTUs across treatments (R>C, i.e. significantly higher increase in relative abundance of a given OTU in the manipulated community after the removal treatment than expected simply due to the compositional nature of the data; post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Supplementary Table A.1). Among the prokaryotic OTUs with an increased relative abundance, 28.2%, 15.5% and 13.9% were associated with α -Proteobacteria, γ -Proteobacteria and Bacilli, respectively (Supplementary Figure A.5a). Among the eukaryotic OTUs with an increased relative abundance, 56.6% belonged to the Ascomycota class, which were mainly stimulated in the pH2 treatment (Supplementary Figure A.5b).



Figure 2.3: Structure and composition of the prokaryotic communities after Step 2. (a) Number of observed species (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (b) Relative abundances of the fourteen most abundant classes of prokaryotic community. (c) Similarity between the control samples and between the control and either the original soil or the removal treatment, based on the Weighted UniFrac distances (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05).

Influence of Coalescence on Interactions and Community Diversity. In Step 2, the soils from 10 removal treatments were mixed into new sterile soil microcosms either by themselves (self-mixed removal treatment, R+R) or with the soil from the Step 1 control (coalescence treatment, R+C). The soil from the Step 1 control was also mixed by itself (C+C) as a new control for this Step 2 (Figure 2.1). We consider that coalescence led (i) to full recovery when no significant difference was observed between the coalescence treatment and the Step 2 control and (ii) to partial recovery when a significant difference was observed between the coalescence treatment and the self-mixed removal treatment as well as between the coalescence treatment and the Step 2 control. In 72% of the cases, a higher α -diversity was observed in the coalescence treatments compared to the impacted self-mixed removal treatments including for the communities which were the most impacted by the removal step (post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Figure 2.3a, Supplementary Figure A.6a and Supplementary Figure A.7). Mixing the depleted

and control communities also resulted in 75% of the coalesced communities being more similar to the self-mixed control than their corresponding self-mixed removal treatments (Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Figure 2.3b,c and Supplementary Figure A.6b,c and Supplementary Figure A.8).

To test if coalescence restored the relative fitness of the affected OTUs, we used the generalized linear mixed model (Equation 2.2). Among the OTUs previously affected by the Step 1 removal treatments (R vs C, where vs means > or <), we distinguished those still exhibiting the same differences between the self-mixed removal treatment and the self-mixed control (R vs C \cap R+R vs C+C, where \cap means intersection) from the others (R vs C \notin R+R vs C+C, where \notin means excluding). Among the latter, we found that 121 prokaryotic and 58 eukaryotic OTUs showed a significant increased relative abundance in the removal treatment from Step 1 but not in the self-mixed removal treatment from Step 2, compared to their respective controls (R>C \notin R+R>C+C; post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Table A.1). Along-side, 107 prokaryotic and 31 eukaryotic OTUs showed a decreased relative abundance in the removal treatment from Step 1 but not in the self-mixed control showed a decreased relative abundance in the removal treatment from Step 1 but not in the self-mixed OTUs showed a decreased relative abundance in the removal treatment from Step 1 but not in the self-mixed control Showed a decreased relative abundance in the removal treatment from Step 1 but not in the self-mixed removal treatment from Step 2 (R<C \notin R+R<C+C; post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Table A.1).

Conversely, we found 124 prokaryotic OTUs exhibiting a higher relative abundance in both the removal and the self-mixed removal treatments compared to their respective controls (R>C \cap R+R>C+C) and among them 79 no longer showed a significant difference in relative abundance after the coalescence treatments ($R>C \cap R+R>C+C \cap R+C=C+C$; post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Figure 2.4a, Supplementary Table A.1, Supplementary Figure A.9a and Supplementary Figure A.10a). These OTUs belong mainly to α -Proteobacteria, Bacilli, and Actinobacteria (Figure 2.4a). Fewer eukaryote OTUs exhibited the same affected pattern in both steps (i.e., 32 OTUs $R>C \cap R+R>C+C$) and 20 of them no longer showed any significant difference in relative abundance after the coalescence treatments (R>C \cap R+R>C+C \cap R+C=C+C; post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Figure 2.4b, Supplementary Table A.1, Supplementary Figure A.9b and Supplementary Figure A.10b). Similarly, among the 133 prokaryotic and 72 eukaryotic OTUs that were depleted in removal treatments from both steps (R<C \cap R+R<C+C), 113 and 61 completely recovered in the coalescence treatments, respectively $(R < C \cap R + R < C + C \cap R + C = C + C; post-hoc Tukey p-value \le 0.05; Figure 2.4, Supplementary$ Table A.1, Supplementary Figure A.9 and Supplementary Figure A.10). Therefore, among the OTUs that were affected by the removal treatment in both steps, a total 176 prokaryotic and 80 and eukaryotic OTUs fully recovered in the coalescence treatments (R vs C \cap R+R vs C+C \cap R+C=C+C; post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Table A.1).

Interestingly, an unexpected pattern emerged from coalescence, as 73 prokaryotic and 48 eukaryotic OTUs were significantly higher or lower in at least one of the coalescence treatments compared to each self-mixed source community separately (R+C>C+C \cap R+C>R+R or R+C<C+C \cap R+C<R+R, respectively; post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Table A.1, Supplementary Figure A.11 and Supplementary Figure A.12). These OTUs mostly belong to the bacterial classes γ -Proteobacteria and Bacteroidia and to the protist classes Filosa-Sarcomonadea and Colpodea (Supplementary Figure A.12).

Network Inference Deciphers Biotic Interactions. To identify antagonistic OTUs, we inferred co-occurrence networks across all samples using a sparse multivariate Poisson lognormal model [224]. Among the negative links inferred in the prokaryotic network, 46.2% involved a γ -Proteobacteria and a Bacilli (partial correlation $|\rho| > 0.08$; Figure 2.5). The number of negative links was much lower for the eukaryotic network with two negative partial-correlation between four protist OTUs (Supplementary Figure A.13). Only one positive partial-correlation between a γ -Proteobacteria and a Chrysophyceae was observed across domains (partial correlation $|\rho| > 0.08$; Supplementary Figure A.14).



Figure 2.4: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of significantly differentially abundant OTUs across treatments. Outer rings show prokaryotic (a) and eukaryotic (b) OTUs significantly affected by the removal treatments (R vs C, where vs means > or <), OTUs significantly affected by both the removal treatments and the self-mixed removal treatments (R vs C \cap R+R vs C+C, where \cap means intersection) and OTUs recovering in the coalescence treatments (R vs C \cap R+R vs C+C \cap R+C=C+C). Bar scale is proportional to the number of treatment where the OTU is significantly differentially abundant, with the maximum indicated for each ring. The OTU class is indicated by different colors on the innermost ring.

Responses of Soil Properties and Functions to Microbial Community Manipulations. We determined treatment-induced changes in soil properties and functions by measuring soil pH, soil respiration rate as proxies of C-cycling, inorganic nitrogen pools and abundance of



Figure 2.5: Global prokaryotic network inferred from all samples across both experimental steps. Nodes represent OTUs and they are colored according to the OTU taxonomic class. Links represent partial correlations ρ and they are colored blue if $\rho > 0$ and red if $\rho < 0$. Link width is proportional to $|\rho|$.

ammonia-oxidizers, denitrifiers and diazotrophs as proxies of N-cycling (Figure 2.6, Supplementary Figure A.15 and Supplementary Figure A.16). The depletion treatments did not significantly affect community respiration rates whatever the substrate (post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Figure A.15). In contrast, almost all depletion treatments lowered the nitrate content compared to the control and 8 out of 18 treatments resulted in a significant decrease in the abundance of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB; post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Figure A.16a). Only the pH2 and heat-shock treatments affected the abundance of all the studied N-cycling communities (post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Supplementary Figure A.16a,b,c,d). While only the heat shock treatment affected the soil pH in Step 1, three self-mixed removal treatments (HS+HS, pH2+pH2, pH11+pH11) had a significantly much higher pH than other treatments (post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Figure 2.6a). These same three self-mixed treatments also displayed a higher ammonium content as well as lower nitrate content and AOB abundances than the control (post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Figure 2.6a and Supplementary Figure A.16e). Meanwhile, the three corresponding coalescence treatments (C+HS, C+pH2, C+pH11) displayed partly or fully restored pH, ammonium pool and AOB community abundance compared to the Step 2 control (post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Figure 2.6a and Supplementary Figure A.16e). To statistically infer correlations between these proxies and microbial OTUs, we used a multi-omics integrative approach based on Projection to Latent Structure [228] (Pearson's correlation |r| > 0.6; Figure 2.6b). We found that pH was negatively correlated with the nitrate concentration as well as the AOB to 16S ratio while being positively correlated with the ammonium concentration. The latter was itself negatively correlated with the nitrate concentration and the AOB to 16S ratio. We found that an OTU belonging to a well-known group of ammonia-oxidizers - Nitrosospira sp. -was also positively correlated with the AOB to 16S ratio and negatively correlated with the ammonium concentration and the soil pH (Pearson's correlation |r| > 0.6; Figure 2.6).



Figure 2.6: Treatment-induced changes in soil properties and N-cycling microbial guilds and inferred correlations with microbial OTUs. (a) Treatment-induced changes in soil inorganic nitrogen pools (NH4+ and NO3-), soil pH and relative abundance of the OTU-258 (*Nitrosospira sp.*) in the removal treatments and the control (Step 1) as well as in the self-mixed removal treatment, the coalescence treatment and the self-mixed control (Step 2). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (b) Data integration analysis of 16S rRNA sequences (OTU, circle shaped nodes), inorganic N pools (triangle shaped nodes), soil pH (square shaped node), abundances of N-cycling microbial guilds (diamond shaped nodes) and soil respiration rates (hexagon shaped nodes) in all samples, regardless the step or treatment. The taxonomic identities of the OTUs are indicated at the class level. Links indicate positive (blue) or negative (red) correlation (Pearson's correlation |r|>0.6).

2.4 Discussion

While microbial communities are recognized as key drivers of several ecosystem functions, a clear understanding of the factors shaping their assembly is still missing. The influence of soil abiotic properties on microorganisms has been reported in a large body of literature. However, the importance of biotic interactions between microorganisms has been overlooked and is still unclear [54], [188]. To assess to which extent microbe-microbe interactions can contribute to microbiome assembly and processes, we combined targeted removal and coalescence approaches to manipulate soil microbial communities [192].

Our removal manipulation experiment showed that about 47.6% of the dominant prokaryotic OTUs exhibited a significant relative fitness benefit after the depletion treatments. This result is consistent with our previous findings based on another community from a soil with contrasted physico-chemical properties [188]. The number of 18S OTUs showing differential relative abundance between the removal treatments and the control was much lower, which does not necessarily suggest that biotic interactions involving eukaryotes are rarer. Rather, the loss of a much higher number of eukaryotic than prokaryotic OTUs , even without applying any removal treatment, indicate that our experimental approach is more suitable for prokaryotic communities and therefore we will here mostly focus on this domain.

To establish a causative relationship between the depletion of some taxa and the increased relative fitness of others, we performed a targeted coalescence experiment to reunite potentially interacting OTUs. Such coalescence approach has previously been successfully used to assess how interactions within natural bacterial communities mediate functions in rainwater pools [229]. Here, we selected 10 depleted communities and mixed them with the control communities into a larger volume of the same sterilized soil (Figure 2.1) to alleviate environmental filtering and priority effects that can also influence the outcome of coalescence [196]. We postulated that the OTUs with increased relative fitness after the removal treatment would be detrimentally affected during soil colonization only when mixed with the control community that still contains the OTUs exerting antagonistic interactions. Integrated differential abundance analysis of both steps revealed that 79 prokaryotic OTUs followed this pattern (R>C \cap R+R>C+C \cap R+C=C+C; post-hoc Tukey p-value \leq 0.05; Figure 2.4a and Supplementary Table A.1), which suggests that 15% (79/515 OTUs) of the dominant bacterial taxa were engaged in negative interactions during soil recolonization. However, we also found that even without coalescence events, several OTUs with increased relative abundance after the removal treatments in Step 1 (R>C) no longer showed significant increased relative abundance in Step 2 (R>C \notin R+R>C+C; Supplementary Table A.1). This can be explained by the re-growth of depleted antagonists in removal treatments during the Step 2; which is supported by the relative abundance of 107 OTUs that were no longer depleted in the self-mixed removal treatments while they were in the Step 1 (R<C \notin R+R<C+C; Supplementary Table A.1). Alternatively, these variations in relative abundances between Step 1 and 2 without coalescence events could also be due to changes in soil abiotic properties induced by differences in microbial community composition during Step 1 and by the mixing of soils from Step 1 with sterile soil in Step 2. These OTUs were therefore discarded when estimating the importance of the interactions between microorganisms since both abiotic and biotic effects could explain this pattern. Nevertheless, when considering only the 229 prokaryotic and 99 eukaryotic OTUs that still exhibited an affected fitness in the self-mix removal treatments compared to the self-mixed control (R>C \cap R+R>C+C and R<C \cap R+R<C+C), we found that 76.9% and 80.8% of them, respectively, no longer exhibit a difference in relative fitness between the coalescence treatments and the self-mixed control ($R>C \cap R+R>C+C \cap R+C=C+C$ and $R<C \cap R+R<C+C$ \cap R+C=C+C ; Figure 2.4 and Supplementary Table A.1). This suggests that the coalescence treatments allowed re-establishing the original interactions for a large majority of the OTUs affected by the depletion treatments in both steps.

The coalescence experiment alone also revealed emergent interactions that could not be predicted from the source communities (Supplementary Table A.1 and Supplementary Figure A.12). Thus, we identified a total of 73 prokaryotic and 48 eukaryotic OTUs that exhibited significantly higher or lower relative abundances when mixing communities from the control and removal treatments (i.e., R+C) than when mixing each source community separately (i.e., C+C and R+R). Since all species are present in the control community, these non-additive changes in relative fitness are likely not due to new higher-order interactions, which are arising from the introduction of additional species [75], [230]. This pattern, however, could be explained by differences in the relative abundances of interacting OTUs between the source communities. Consistent with this view, density dependence was reported as a key feature characterizing interspecific interactions [231] and pairwise competition experiments demonstrated that species interactions can be influenced by the initial microbial species abundances [179]. Our results based on complex communities complement and extend these previous findings by suggesting that not only such density-dependent interactions may affect the outcome of coalescence but could also account for an important fraction of the observed interactions. About 83.6 and 54.2% of these non-additive changes in the prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities, respectively, resulted in an increase rather than a decrease of the relative fitness in the coalesced communities compared to the self-mixed source communities, which further suggests that cooperation between microorganisms might not be as rare as previously reported [59].

Next, we used co-occurrence network inference to identify which OTUs were interacting across the different treatments. While Russel et al. [181] reported that antagonism was most likely among closely related species, we found that almost 50% of the negative links in the prokaryotic network were between members of the Proteobacteria and Bacillales. However, the two sets of data are not necessarily contradictory since 5500 prokaryotic OTUs belonging to more than 300 families that were coexisting in the same soil were used here for network inference, while Russel et al. used 65 strains from 8 distinct environments such as soil, freshwater, maize leaf and marine algae. Our findings indicate that some members of the Firmicutes may be outcompeted by γ -Proteobacteria are of importance for understanding community assembly rules in soil. Consistent with our results, Romdhane et al. [188] showed that the relative fitness of Firmicutes benefited from a decrease in γ -Proteobacteria. Interestingly, this assembly rule might hold true in other environments. For example, in vitro and in vivo pairwise competition assays between phyllosphere strains revealed directional antibiosis with Firmicutes being strongly inhibited and outcompeted by a subset of Proteobacteria [232]. However, our experimental approach does not explain the nature of the observed antagonistic interactions and therefore additional work would be needed to identify the underlying mechanisms. Nevertheless, the link between γ -Proteobacteria and Chrysophyceae, which was the only one observed across domains, is consistent with previous findings reporting that members of the latter could be mixotrophic bacterivores feeding on Proteobacteria [233].

Until recently, soil microbes have seldom been considered as important players for ecological restoration of degraded ecosystems [199]. Our coalescence approach consisting in mixing the depleted and control microbial communities allowed partly or fully restoring the biodiversity of both eukaryotic and prokaryotic communities as well as their functions even in some of the most impaired treatments as compared to the control treatment from Step 2. In line with our results, Wubs *et al.* [185] recently reported that soil inocula could steer plant communities and promote ecosystem restoration in the field. In contrast, previous studies using inoculation of microbial communities often failed to prove consistent effectiveness, which was attributed to unfavorable biotic or abiotic conditions in the receptor soils [186], [234], [235]. Here, the integration of the different data sets in a supervised analysis (Figure 2.6) revealed that changes in the ammonium pools were due to impaired nitrification, which was partly or fully restored after increasing the AOB in the coalesced communities. That slow growing nitrifying bacteria were not outcompeted during coalescence and range expansion for recolonization of the sterile soil shows promise in the possibility to steer even fastidious microorganisms for the recovery of degraded ecosystems. Although in our work impaired nitrification was due to the depletion of nitrifiers through artificial manipulation of the soil microbiome, recent work showed that N- and C-cycling in natural ecosystems such as permafrost soils could also be limited by the absence or the low abundance of the corresponding microbial guilds [236]. Another interesting feature emerging from this analysis is that manipulation of microbial community composition can lead to changes in soil pH only within a few weeks. This brings a new dimension to studies investigating the relationships between soil properties and microbiome composition. Thus, soil pH is mostly considered as a major driver of soil microbial communities [52] while the opposite has seldom been addressed [237].

In conclusion, our top-down approach combining removal and coalescence manipulation of soil microbial communities not only enabled exploration of interactions between soil microorganisms but also allowed linking community structure and ecosystem functions. Our data also highlight the importance of density-dependent interactions for soil bacterial community assembly. Coalescence between manipulated and non-manipulated communities reestablished the original interactions and restored -at least partly- both microbial community diversity and functions, which open up new perspectives to steer microbial communities for ecosystem restoration. Finally, our findings that shifts in microbial community composition can lead to significant changes in soil pH warrant further studies to determine the importance of the linkages as well as of the feedback effects between soil biotic and abiotic properties.

3

Insights into the Biotic Factors Driving the Outcome of Coalescence Events Between Bacterial Communities

Sarah Huet, Sana Romdhane, Marie-Christine Breuil, David Bru, Arnaud Mounier, Laurent Philippot, Ayme Spor

University Bourgogne Franche-Comte, INRAE, Institut Agro Dijon, Department of Agroecology, Dijon, France

Abstract

Coalescence is a widespread phenomenon that occurs in nature or owing to human activities and has recently received further attention as a promising way to test ecological theories and engineer microbial communities. Communities that coalesce can have different properties and the encounter of their respective members can trigger new interactions between them. However, the relative influence of community properties on coalescence outcome has not been clearly established. Here, we sought to assess the relative importance of the properties of the coalescing communities (i.e., diversity, composition, and density) for coalescence outcomes and for biotic interactions between community members. We performed community manipulation to implement twelve different coalescence treatments by mixing manipulated and native bacterial communities into microcosm containing their native but sterilized soil. We found that the diversity of the coalesced community is linked to that of the source communities, while its structure is mainly related to the source community composition and density. In addition, we found that 40% of the most abundant OTUs were impacted by coalescence, mostly in a density-dependent manner. However, no dominant OTU was detected as involved in biotic interactions. Altogether, our results suggest that the properties of the source communities have distinct effects on the diversity and structure of the resulting communities, mediated by biotic interactions between community members. Generalizing such assessment of how the properties of different coalescing communities influence the diversity and structure of their coalescence outcome could allow building predictive models and potentially help designing microbe engineering strategies based on coalescence.

Keywords: Microbial interactions; community manipulation; coalescence; community properties; community diversity; community composition; bacterial density

3.1 Introduction

In microbial ecology, coalescence is defined as the encounter and interchange of entire communities [196], [200]. This widespread phenomenon occurring in nature or owing to human activities lately received further attention as a promising way to both test ecological theories and engineer microbial communities . Communities that coalesce can have different properties in terms of diversity, composition and density, and the encounter of their respective members can trigger new interactions between them. A better understanding of how the relative contribution of each coalescing community and their corresponding properties will determine the composition of the coalescence outcome is needed if ecological engineering of microbial communities is considered [238], [239].

Depending on the relative contribution of each coalescing community, the coalescence outcome can be symmetrical, if the coalescing communities contribute equally to the outcome, or asymmetrical, if one community dominates the coalescence and contributes more to the outcome than the other. Mostly asymmetrical outcomes have been described in both theoretical and empirical works [187], [239]–[242]. The dominance of one community over another will be depending on their properties such as their diversity, composition, and density. Indeed, more diverse community will better resist invasion from another community, but will also have a better invasion success over another community [195], [243]. The density of a community will also contribute to its invasion success but this effect will likely be modulated by the composition of the invaded community [243], [244]. However, the relative importance of each of those properties (i.e., diversity, composition, and density) on the outcome of a coalescence event has not yet been properly evaluated.

The effect of community properties on coalescence outcome are mediated by biotic interactions occurring between and within the communities [195], [243], [244]. The nature and the number of biotic interactions occurring between the community members influences the coalescence outcome and may be under the influence of communities' properties. Indeed, communities assembled through a history of competition and trophic interactions, such as natural communities, tend to coalesce asymmetrically [240], [241], [245]. The coalescing community dominating the coalescence is predicted to be the community exhibiting more cooperative interactions as estimated using a general consumer-resource model to simulate coalescence between pairs of communities harboring sixty different species [246]. The nature of an interaction can also switch from facilitation among community members to inhibition towards each other during a coalescence event [195]. Moreover, when they encounter, the members of the different coalescing communities can also engage in new interactions which will also influence the coalescence outcome [239]. Indeed, the presence of one species in a community can impede the establishment of a species from another community, even if inoculated at a high density, because of a strong competition between them [244]. Thus, while the interactions occurring both between and within the coalescing communities steer the coalescence outcome, the influence of the coalescing community properties on those biotic interactions has not been clearly established.

Here, we sought to assess the relative importance of the diversity, the composition and the density of microbial communities during a coalescence event. For this purpose, we generated manipulated communities by altering the diversity, the composition and the density of a native soil microbial community. Then, we performed twelve different coalescence events by mixing the original community with each manipulated community into microcosm containing their native, but sterilized, soil. We hypothesized that the altered community properties (i.e., diversity, composition, and density) drive the outcome of a coalescence event and influence the biotic interactions occurring between the community members. We used linear and generalized linear mixed models as well as co-occurrence network inference based on 16S rRNA metabarcoding data to test our hypothesis and to evaluate the relative importance of the

properties of the coalescing communities for coalescence outcomes and for biotic interactions between community members.



Figure 3.1: Schematic illustration of the experimental design. The soil microbial community was manipulated using a top-down approach in two incubation series. Soil suspensions were either subjected to a selective treatment consisting in an incubation series in one out of two selective broth (i.e., MAC or PEB broth, n=10) or were not treated (control, C, n=10). Incubation series consisted in either 4 or 7 incubation row to obtain two different diversity level. The same volume of the obtained modified suspensions was then diluted into increasing volume of water to obtain three different densities. Values in parentheses indicate the number of biological replicates.

3.2 Material & Methods

Soil Sampling and Experimental Design. A sandy loam soil (6.9% clay, 19% loam, and 74.1% sand, pH 5.5, and C and N content 14.7 and 1.19 g.kg⁻¹ dry soil, respectively) was col-

lected at the research station CEREEP, France (N48°16'59.5", E2°40'18.5") and sieved through 4 mm. Part of this soil was γ -sterilized (>60 kGy; Conservatome, Dagneux, France) to set up sterilized soil microcosms. The remaining unsterilized soil was conserved at +4°C as the original soil. This experiment is based on 1:10 suspensions of this original soil. To produce communities with different compositions (Figure 3.1), we applied two different selective treatments by inoculating 750 μ L of the original soil suspension into 15 mL of two different selective broths: Mac Conkey broth (MAC) and Phenylethyl alcohol broth (PEB). Each incubation cycle lasts 3.5 days. At the end of each cycle, 300 μ L of the incubated suspension was inoculated into 15 mL of fresh sterile broth. To produce communities with different diversities, the suspensions were subjected to either 4 (a1) or 7 (a2) incubation cycles before being washed three times. We verified that the four washed suspensions (i.e., MAC a1, MAC a2, PEB a1, and PEB a2) had similar densities ranging from 7.76x10⁸ to 1.84x10⁹ 16S rRNA gene copy number (Supplementary Table B.1). To obtain control and manipulated suspensions with similar densities (i.e., 10⁶ gene copies; Supplementary Table B.1), we diluted the washed manipulated suspensions as follows. Each washed suspension was diluted to 1/200th in sterile water resulting in the d1 density. This d1 density was then diluted either to $1/100^{th}$ or to $1/1000^{th}$ to obtain the d2 and d3 densities, respectively. Thereby, soil suspensions were subjected to two selective treatments, two incubation cycle numbers and three dilutions, resulting in twelve manipulated suspensions. To produce 1:1 ratio coalescence, 75 mL of each manipulated suspension was mixed with 75 mL of original soil suspension (i.e., control suspension) into a 250 mL sterile Erlenmeyer. After a 30 sec homogenization, 13 mL of this mix was inoculated into a sterile microcosm containing 50 g of γ -sterilized soil in 147 mL plasma flasks (n=10). Microcosms were closed with sterile lids allowing gas exchange and incubated at 23°C, at soil moisture ranging between 60% and 80% of the soil water-holding capacity. After 45 days of incubation, soil microcosms, the washed suspensions and the original soil were used for subsequent analyses.

Assessment of Microbial Community Composition and Diversity. DNA was extracted from 155 samples (ten original soil samples, 130 microcosms, n=10; 15 inoculated suspensions, n=3) using the DNeasy PowerSoil-htp 96 well DNA isolation kit (Qiagen, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To generate amplicons, a 2-step PCR approach was used according to Berry et al. [203]. The V3-V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene was amplified using the 341F (5'-CCTACGGGRSGCAGCAG-3') and 805R (5'-GACTACCAGGGTATCTAAT-3'). The amplicon size was checked with 2% agarose gel and DNA concentration was estimated using the Quant-IT[™] dsDNA HS Assay kit (Invitrogen[™], Carlsbad, CA, USA). Final PCR products were purified and their concentration was normalized using the SequalPrep Normalization plate kit (Invitrogen[™], Carlsbad, CA, USA). Sequencing was performed on MiSeq (Illumina, 2 x 250 bp) using the MiSeq reagent kit v2. Demultiplexing and trimming of Illumina adaptors and barcodes were done with Illumina MiSeq Reporter software (version 2.5.1.3). Sequence data from the 155 samples were analyzed using an in-house developed Python pipeline (available upon request). Briefly, 16S rRNA gene sequences were assembled using PEAR [204] with default settings. Further quality checks were conducted using the QIIME pipeline [205] and short sequences were removed (<375 bp). Reference-based and de novo chimaera detection, as well as OTUs clustering, were performed using VSEARCH [206] and the adequate reference databases (SILVA's representative set of sequences; see [207]). The identity thresholds were set at 94% based on replicate sequencing of a bacterial mock community [188]. Representative sequences for each OTU were aligned using Infernal [209] and a phylogenetic tree was constructed using FastTree [210]. Taxonomy was assigned using UCLUST [211] and the SILVA database (138.1/2020) [207]. Samples with less than 8000 sequences were filtered out (n=146).

Quantification of Microbial Communities. The abundances of total bacterial communities were quantified by real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR; Supplementary Table B.1) assays using 16S rRNA as described by Muyzer *et al.* [212]. Real-time qPCR assays were carried out in a ViiA7 (Life Technologies, USA) with a Takyon Master Mix (Eurogentec, France) as previously described by Bru *et al.* [214]. PCR efficiency for the different assays, each one performed in two independent runs, ranged from 98.58% to 99.29%. No template controls gave null or negligible values. PCR inhibitor presence was tested by mixing soil DNA extracts with either control plasmid DNA (pGEM-T Easy Vector, Promega, France) or water. No inhibition was detected in any case.

Statistical Analysis. Statistical analyses were conducted using R statistical software [216] (version 4.0.3) and all code and data are available on gitlab at the following link: https://gitlab.com/micro_bio_info_sarah/huet_2022.

Statistical Analysis of Diversity Metrics. Both α -diversity (i.e., observed species, Simpson's reciprocal, and Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity PD; see [218]) and β -diversity metrics (i.e., weighted Unifrac distances between samples; see [219]) were calculated based on rarefied OTU table (9000 sequences per sample). The α - and β -diversity indices of the suspensions were first analyzed by using Welch's t-tests and Bonferroni p-value correction to compare each suspension (n=3) to the original soil (n=10). Then, the manipulated suspensions were compared among each other using the same approach than for the coalesced communities described as follows (Equation 3.1).

To estimate the effect of each treatment on α -diversity metrics, we used ANOVAs based on a linear model (Equation 3.1) followed by Tukey's honestly significant difference test (HSD test; p-value ≤ 0.05) using the *agricolae* package [217] (version 1.3-5). Normality and homogeneity of the residual distribution were verified. Considering that a diversity index *Y*, in any *j* replicates of any *i* treatment, follows a Gaussian distribution of mean \overline{y} and variance σ^2 as $Y \sim N(\overline{y}, \sigma^2)$, we used the following model:

$$Y_{ij} = \mu + \gamma_i + \varepsilon_{ij}, \varepsilon_{ij_{1 \le j \le 10}} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(3.1)

where $i = \{0,...,12\}$ represents the non-coalesced control and the coalescence treatments, $j = \{1,...,10\}$ represents the replicates, γ is the fixed effect of the treatments and ε is the model residuals. To estimate the effect of each treatment on β -diversity, we performed principal components analyses (PCoA) and permutated analysis of variance using the *ordin* and *adonis* function of the *vegan* package [220] (version 2.6-2), respectively, based on weighted Unifrac distance matrix. We also implemented pairwise comparisons between treatment using the *pairwise.adonis* function from the *pairwiseAdonis* package [221] (version 0.4).

To assess the relative contribution of the coalescence factors to each α - and β -diversity metric, we calculated the factor F-value using ANOVAs based on a linear model (Equation 3.2). Normality and homogeneity of the residual distribution were verified. Considering that a diversity index *Y*, in any *j* replicates of any coalescence treatment with *a* diversity, *b* composition and *d* density, follows a Gaussian distribution of mean \overline{y} and variance σ^2 as $Y \sim N(\overline{y}, \sigma^2)$, we used the following model:

$$Y_{abdj} = \mu + \alpha_a + \beta_b + \delta_d + (\alpha \beta_{ab}) + (\alpha \delta_{ad}) + (\beta \delta_{bd}) + (\alpha \beta \delta_{abd}) + \varepsilon_{abdj}, \varepsilon_{abdj}_{1 \le j \le 10} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(3.2)

where $a = \{1, 2\}$ represents the diversity, $b = \{1, 2\}$ represents the composition, $d = \{1, 2, 3\}$ represents the density, $j = \{1, ..., 10\}$ represents the replicates, α, β, δ are the fixed effects of the diversity, composition, and density of the manipulated communities, respectively, and their interactions, and ε is the model residuals.

Statistical Analysis of OTUs. Statistical analyses of OTUs abundances were focused on the most abundant OTUs in microcosms. Briefly, low-abundance OTUs were filtered out of the count table by keeping OTUs that (i) represented >0.1% of the sequences in at least ten samples and (ii) were found in at least 60% of replicates for any given treatment, which resulted in 258 dominant OTUs. These dominant OTUs were used to build pruned trees using the *ape* package [222] and were visualized using the Interactive Tree of Life (iTOL) webserver [223].

To estimate the effect of each treatment on each OTU abundance, we used a generalized linear mixed model (Equation 3.3). Considering that an OTU of abundance *Y*, in any *j* replicates of any *i* treatment, follows a Poisson distribution of parameter Λ as $Y \sim P(\Lambda)$, we used the following model:

$$log(\Lambda_{ij}) = o_{ij} + \mu + \gamma_i + Z_{ij}, Z_{ij_{1 \le j \le 10}} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(3.3)

where $i = \{0,...,12\}$ represents the non-coalesced control and the coalescence treatments, $j = \{1,...,10\}$ represents the replicates, γ is the fixed effect of the treatments, o is the offset for each sample calculated as the log of the sample read sum and Z is the random sampling effect modelling the data overdispersion. The analysis was performed using the *glmer* function of the *lme4* package (version 1.1-27). Each model was tested against a null model (i.e., a model without the effect of the treatments) using likelihood-ratio test and p-value were corrected using a Bonferroni correction (adjusted Chi square p-value ≤ 0.05). Subsequently, we performed a post-hoc Tukey test on significative models with the *emmeans* function of the *emmeans* package (version 1.6.1) implementing multiple comparisons and p-value were corrected using a Bonferroni correction (p-value ≤ 0.05).

To estimate the effect of the coalescence factor on each OTU abundance, we calculated the factor F-value using ANOVAs based on the following generalized linear mixed model (Equation 3.4). Considering that an OTU of abundance *Y*, in any *j* replicates of any coalescence treatment with *a* diversity, *b* composition and *d* density, follows a Poisson distribution of parameter Λ as $Y \sim P(\Lambda)$, we used the following model:

$$log(\Lambda_{abdj}) = o_{ij} + \mu + \alpha_a + \beta_b + \delta_d + (\alpha\beta_{ab}) + (\alpha\delta_{ad}) + (\beta\delta_{bd}) + (\alpha\beta\delta_{abd}) + Z_{abdj}, Z_{abdj}_{1 \le j \le 10} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$

$$(3.4)$$

where $a = \{1, 2\}$ represents the diversity, $b = \{1, 2\}$ represents the composition, $d = \{1, 2, 3\}$ represents the density, $j = \{1, ..., 10\}$ represents the replicates, α, β, δ are the fixed effects of the diversity, composition, and density of the manipulated communities, respectively, and their interactions, o is the offset for each sample calculated as the log of the sample read sum and Z is the random sampling effect modelling the data overdispersion. The analysis was performed using the *glmer* function of the *lme4* package (version 1.1-27). Each model was tested against a null model (i.e., a model without the effect of the treatments) using likelihood-ratio test and p-value were corrected using a Bonferroni correction (adjusted Chi square p-value ≤ 0.05).

Inference of Co-Occurrence Networks. Co-occurrence networks were constructed across all microcosm samples (i.e., 130 samples) and based on the most abundant OTUs using the same filter as described above (i.e., 258 OTUs). Networks were inferred using a sparse multivariate Poisson log-normal (PLN) model with a latent Gaussian layer and an observed Poisson layer using the *PLN models* package [224] with an offset corresponding to the number of reads in each sample. The best network was selected using a Stability Approach to Regularization Selection (StARS) [225]. For visualization purposes, only partial correlations with $|\rho| \ge 0.06$ were considered and were visualized using the Interactive Tree of Life (iTOL) webserver [223].



Figure 3.2: Diversity and structure of the communities in the original soil, the non-treated control suspension and the manipulated suspensions. (a to c) The number of observed species (a), the Faith's phylogenetic diversity (b) and Simpson's reciprocal (c) indices are shown (mean \pm s.e.) in the original soil, the non-treated control suspension and the manipulated suspensions. Asterisks indicate suspensions significantly different than the original soil (Welch's t-test p-value ≤ 0.05). (d to f) The number of observed species (d), the Faith's phylogenetic diversity (e) and Simpson's reciprocal (f) indices are shown (mean \pm s.e.) in the manipulated suspensions. Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (g) Weighted UniFrac distances between the control suspension significantly different than the original soil (PCoA) based on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix showing the original soil, the non-treated control suspension and the manipulated suspension and the manipulated suspension and the manipulated suspension and the manipulated suspension and the original soil (Welch's t-test p-value ≤ 0.05). (h) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix showing the original soil, the non-treated control suspension and the manipulated suspension samples. The dot colours correspond to the bar colours in a to g. (i) Weighted UniFrac distances between the control suspension and the manipulated suspensions (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05).

3.3 Results

Manipulating a Native Soil Community to Alter Its Diversity, Composition and Density. Inoculation of soil suspensions into MAC and PEB media and incubation for either 4 (a1) or 7 (a2) cycles, respectively (Figure 3.1), led to a severe decrease in all measured α -diversity metrics (Figure 3.2a,b,c; Welch's t-test p-value ≤ 0.05). Overall, the manipulated communities lost on average 97.1% and 95.3% of their richness and 98.3% of their evenness compared to the control suspension, as estimated by the observed species, the PD whole tree and the Simpson's reciprocal indices, respectively. Among the manipulated communities, the MAC a1 was the most diverse followed by the MAC a2 and PEB a1 (Figure 3.2d,e,f). The PEB a2 had the lowest observed species and evenness while it had the highest phylogenetic diversity (i.e., PD whole tree).

Incubation in MAC and PEB media for several cycles also led to a severe shift in the composition of the manipulated communities. While the distance between the control suspension and the original soil community was low, the Weighted Unifrac distances increased significantly between the manipulated communities and the control samples (Figure 3.2g,h; Welch's t-test p-value ≤ 0.05), with the PEB suspensions being the most different (i.e., PEB a1 and PEB a2; Figure 3.2i). Moreover, the incubation in MAC and PEB broths led to a simplification of the community composition as taxa belonging to only three bacterial classes represented 99.8% of the OTU relative abundance in manipulated suspensions (Supplementary Figure B.1). The γ -Proteobacteria represented 87.33% and 64.63% of the relative abundance of the MAC (i.e., MAC a1 and MAC a2) and PEB (i.e., PEB a1 and PEB a2) suspensions, respectively. The α -Proteobacteria represented between 3.00% and 8.91% and the Bacteroidetes between 10.90% and 2.48% of the Mac a1 and the MAC a2 suspensions, respectively, while Bacteroidetes represented 35.08% of the PEB suspensions. Thereby, suspension manipulations led to four communities with different diversities and compositions (Figure 3.2d,e,f,h,i; Tukey's test, p-value \leq 0.05). We then diluted the manipulated suspensions to obtain three different densities (Supplementary Table B.1), in order to test the effect of three factors on the coalescence outcome (i.e., diversity, composition, and density).

Impact of Microbial Diversity, Composition, and Density on Coalescence Outcome. To implement coalescence treatments, 75 mL of a suspension containing a manipulated community at one density was mixed with the same volume of the control suspension and inoculated into sterile microcosms. All the communities resulting from this microcosm incubation were different than the original soil one (Supplementary Figure B.1). Using a linear model (Equation 3.1), we estimated the effect of coalescence on the bacterial diversity of the coalesced communities compared to the non-coalesced control community (i.e., observed species, PD whole tree, and Simpson's reciprocal indices). Only three out of the twelve coalesced communities had a significantly lower richness than the non-coalesced control community (Figure 3.3a; Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05) with losses up to 10.8% of the observed species for the PEB a1d1 treatment. Nonetheless, the impact of coalescence was idiosyncratic (Figure 3.3a,b,c) with differences up to a range of 40% between two coalesced communities (e.g., between PEB a1d2 and MAC a2d2 Simpson's Reciprocal values; Figure 3.3c). Therefore, to estimate the effect of each manipulated factor (i.e., diversity, composition, and density) on the α -diversity metrics of coalesced communities, we performed ANOVAs on linear models (Equation 3.2). We found that the diversity of the manipulated communities was the only factor impacting the richness and the phylogenetic diversity of the coalesced communities (Figure 3.3d; F value, Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05) while both the diversity and the composition of the manipulated communities impacted their evenness (i.e., Simpson's Reciprocal; Figure 3.3d). None of the 3-ways nor 2-ways interactions were significant for the α -diversity metrics, confirming that the diversity of the manipulated communities was the main factor steering the diversity of the coalesced communities.

To estimate the impact of coalescence on the bacterial community structure, we implemented a PERMANOVA on the weighted Unifrac distances between samples (Equation 3.1). All coalesced communities had structures significantly different from the control one (Figure 3.3e,f; Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05). Coalesced communities were also significantly different from one another in 75% of the pairwise comparisons between them (Figure 3.3e,f; Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05). Then, to estimate the relative effect of each manipulated factor on the β -diversity of coalesced communities, we performed ANOVAs on linear models (Equation 3.2). The manipulated community density was the main factor impacting the coalesced β -diversity, followed by the manipulated community composition while their diversity only had a slight direct impact on the outcome β -diversity (Figure 3.3d). Indeed, the impact of the coalescence significantly increased with the manipulated suspension density. For each manipulated suspension, the coalescence outcomes from the highest density (d1) had the highest degree of dissimilarity to the control, comparing to the d2 and d3 densities (Figure 3.3e). Furthermore, three out of four d1 coalesced communities were different than their respective d2 coalesced communities while only two out of four d2 coalesced communities were different than their respective d3 coalesced communities (Figure 3.3e; Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05), underlying the effect of density on the coalescence outcome was modulated by the composition of the manipulated communities. All 2-ways interactions, but not the 3-ways interaction, were significant for explaining β -diversity, highlighting that all manipulated factors interacted and steered the structure of the coalesced communities.

Identification of OTUs Impacted by Coalescence. Significant changes in relative abundance of the dominant OTUs between the coalesced and the control communities were determined using a generalized linear mixed model (Equation 3.3). The coalescence between a manipulated community and the control one had a more negative than positive impact on the OTU relative abundance in the coalesced communities compared to the non-coalesced control community. While the coalescence affected either positively or negatively, 21% and 22% of the dominant OTUs (55 and 58 out of 258 OTUs, respectively), 12 and 26 OTUs were affected in half or more of the treatments, respectively (Figure 3.4a; Bonferroni adjusted p-value \leq 0.05). Furthermore, we found that the impact of the coalescence on the OTUs' abundances depended on the bacterial classes of the studied OTUs. Indeed, the positively affected OTUs were mostly associated with α -Proteobacteria while the negatively impacted OTUs mostly belonged to Firmicutes and γ -Proteobacteria (Figure 3.4a). Among the 55 OTUs positively affected by coalescence, only 22 were detected in the manipulated suspensions before coalescence (Supplementary Figure B.2 and Supplementary Figure B.3).

To estimate the relative effect of each manipulated factor on the OTUs' abundance, we performed ANOVA's on a generalized linear mixed model (Equation 3.4). Again, we found that the contributing factors largely depended on the bacterial classes of the studied OTUs (Figure 3.4b). Firmicutes were mostly impacted by density (Figure 3.4b; F value, Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05) as their abundances decreased significantly more within the highest density treatments than within the lowest (Figure 3.4a; Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05). Indeed, fourteen, thirteen and twelve Firmicutes OTUs lost on average 80.6%, 71.3% and 68.0% of their abundance within the d1, d2 and d3 density treatments compared to the control, respectively (Figure 3.4a). For five of those Firmicutes OTUs, this density effect was influenced by the composition effect resulting in the decrease of 79.1% and 58.5% of their abundance within the MAC and PEB composition treatments compared to the control, respectively (Figure 3.4a). This suggests that the Firmicutes OTUs engaged in competitive interactions that were more density-dependent than specific to some taxa.

In contrast, α -Proteobacteria were mainly impacted by the composition (Figure 3.4b; F value, Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05) with higher increase in their relative abundances within the MAC than within the PEB composition treatments (Figure 3.4a; Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05). The interaction between composition and diversity factors highly influenced



Figure 3.3: Diversity and structure of the non-coalesced control and the coalesced communities. (a to c) The number of observed species (a), the Faith's phylogenetic diversity (b) and Simpson's reciprocal (c) indices are shown (mean \pm s.e.) in the non-coalesced control and the coalesced communities. Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (d) The effect (F value) of each manipulated factor on the diversity indices in the coalesced communities, as estimated using a linear model. (Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05) (e) Weighted UniFrac distances between the control suspension samples and between the control suspension and either the original soil or the manipulated suspensions (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05). (f) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix showing the non-coalesced control and the coalesced community samples and the 95% joint confidence ellipse for the control suspension samples. The dot colours correspond to the bar colours in **a** to **g**.

the α -Proteobacteria abundances (Figure 3.4b) with more OTUs positively affected within the MAC a1 and PEB a2 than within the MAC a2 and PEB a1 treatments, respectively, but with a

higher mean increase of their abundances in the MAC a2 treatments than in the others (Figure 3.4a). The α -Proteobacteria OTUs were also impacted by the density (Figure 3.4b) as they had a higher mean increase of their abundance in the highest density treatments (i.e., d1; Figure 3.4a). This suggests that the α -Proteobacteria engaged in interactions with specific taxa present in the suspensions, allowing them to increase their abundance, with a higher positive effect when the specific taxa were inoculated at a higher density.

Regarding γ -Proteobacteria, two different patterns emerged from two different phylogenetic groups. A first group of OTUs belonging to *Pseudomonas sp.* was mostly impacted by the composition and its 2-way interaction with diversity (Figure 3.4b; F value, Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05), resulting in a negative impact more important in the MAC a2, PEB a1 and PEB a2 than in the MAC a1 treatments (Figure 3.4a; Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05). This suggests that those *Pseudomonas* OTUs engaged in competitive interactions with some specific taxonomic groups and that this interaction effect on their abundance was influenced by the diversity of the taxonomic group. A second group composed of *Massilia sp.* OTUs was impacted by both diversity and density (Figure 3.4b; F value, Bonferroni adjusted p-value \leq 0.05) as their abundance was negatively affected in the a1 d1 treatment of the MAC suspension (Figure 3.4a; Bonferroni adjusted p-value \leq 0.05). This suggests that the *Massilia sp.* engaged in a competitive interaction with a specific taxon that impacted their abundance only when inoculated at a sufficient density.

Coalescence Unraveled Biotic Interactions. To identify interacting OTUs, we inferred a cooccurrence network across bacterial communities from all microcosm samples using a sparse multivariate Poisson log-normal model (Figure 3.4c). None of the 42 OTUs present in the network was among the ten most abundant OTUs (i.e., dominant OTUs; Figure 3.5, Supplementary Figure B.3), suggesting that biotic interactions during coalescence events were not affecting the most abundant OTUs of the microbial community. However, they represented the majority of the most abundant OTUs detected in the manipulated suspensions, suggesting that the most abundant OTUs in suspension triggered biotic interactions during the coalescence (Supplementary Figure B.3).

Among the 82 links inferred in the network, 92.7% of them connected three bacterial classes: α -Proteobacteria, Firmicutes and γ -Proteobacteria. Furthermore, 58% of the network links connected 8 genera: *Brevundimonas*, *Pseudochrobactrum* and *Ochrobactrum* within the α -Proteobacteria, *Pseudomonas* and *Stenotrophomonas* within the γ -Proteobacteria and *Bacillus*, *Solibacillus* and *Tumebacillus* within the Firmicutes (Figure 3.4c). One OTU alone, belonging to the *Pseudochrobactrum* sp., was connected with 15.8% of the network links and was negatively correlated with six OTUs belonging to the Bacilli class within the Firmicutes (Figure 3.4c). We thus looked more closely at these OTUs' abundances (Figure 3.6).

In the non-coalesced control community, the relative abundance of the Bacilli OTUs was higher than the abundance of the *Pseudochrobactrum sp.* OTU. Conversely, the *Pseudochrobactrum sp.* OTU relative abundance increased in nine out of the twelve coalescence outcomes compared to the control, overtaking the Bacilli OTUs relative abundance that decreased in most of the coalesced communities. Furthermore, both coalescence effects (i.e., positive and negative) increased with the manipulated suspension density, resulting in the Bacilli relative abundance mirroring the *Pseudochrobactrum sp.* one (Figure 3.6). This suggests that the *Pseudochrobactrum sp.* OTU, which was not dominant in the control community, was enriched by the coalescence with a manipulated suspension, allowing it to outcompete the Bacilli OTUs by shifting the outcome of the interaction between them in a density-dependent manner.



Figure 3.4: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of the 258 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs. The OTU class level is indicated by different colours on the innermost ring. (a) The inner ring shows the coalescence treatment effects on the OTUs' relative abundances compared to the non-coalesced control, as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model. The blue and red boxes indicate OTUs with increasing and decreasing fitness respectively, while white boxes indicate OTUs that are not affected by the treatment (Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05). (b) The middle ring shows the effect (F value) of each manipulated factor on the OTUs' relative abundance in the coalesced communities, as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model (Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05). (c) The network, inferred from the non-coalesced control and the coalesced communities, is showed by the links displayed above the tree and representing partial correlations ρ coloured blue if $\rho > 0$ and red if $\rho < 0$. (d) The outer ring shows the genera of the OTUs involved in the network.



Not in network

Figure 3.5: Relative abundance of the 258 dominant OTUs. OTUs are placed in descending order of their abundance and those involved as nodes in the inferred correlation network are displayed in red.

3.4 Discussion

A growing body of evidence shows that community properties, and especially their diversity, composition, and density, can influence in different ways the outcome of coalescence events [195], [196], [243], [247]. However, the relative importance of each of those properties (i.e., diversity, composition, and density) on the diversity and structure of the coalesced communities has not yet been properly evaluated. The contribution of these community properties on biotic interactions occurring during community coalescence is also unclear. Here, we used community manipulation to implement twelve different coalescence treatments by mixing a native microbial community with various manipulated communities with distinct diversity, composition, and density to assess the relative importance of these manipulated community properties for the assembly of coalesced communities and the involved biotic interactions.

Mixing the same native community with the manipulated communities resulted in coalesced communities exhibiting weak or no differences in α -diversity while large differences in β -diversity were observed with all the coalesced communities being significantly different from the non-coalesced control community (Figure 3.3e,f). We found that these differences in the diversity and structure of the coalesced communities were explained by different properties of the manipulated communities. Previous studies showed that the diversity of communities that are mixed during a coalescence event is of importance for the composition of the coalesced community [186], [195], [243]. Here, we nuanced this result by showing that the diversity of the manipulated communities was marginally directly explaining the observed changes in community structure as measured by Weighted Unifrac distance to the control (Figure 3.3d) and that this effect of diversity was actually modulated by the density and the composition of the manipulated communities. In contrast, we found that the composition of the manipulated communities influenced both the α - (Simpson's reciprocal) and β - (Weighted Unifrac) diversity of the coalesced communities, which is consistent with previous results [195], [244]. Our results also indicated that density of the manipulated communities was the main factor influencing the structure of the coalesced communities, with -as expected- higher initial density leading to larger differences in community structure. Accordingly, Jones et al. [244] and Vila et al. [243] showed that higher density of invading cells increased the invasion success therefore leading to more important changes in the community structure.

Overall, coalescence treatments affected the relative abundance of 40% of the most abun-



Figure 3.6: Relative abundance of the Pseudochrobactrum sp. OTU and connected Bacilli OTUs in the non-coalesced control and the coalesced communities. The blue and red boxes on the right indicate OTUs with significantly increasing and decreasing fitness respectively, while white boxes indicate OTUs that are not significantly affected by the treatment, as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model.

dant OTUs. Among the OTUs that were affected by at least half of the treatments, the number of OTUs with decreasing abundances was more than two times higher than that of increasing

abundances (Figure 3.4), which suggests that the coalescence treatments triggered negative rather than positive interactions . Interestingly almost all the OTUs belonging to the Bacilli exhibited a decrease in relative abundance in the coalesced communities (Figure 3.4a), which was mostly explained by the effects of the density and the composition of the manipulated communities (Figure 3.4b). Six of these OTUs were linked by a negative correlation to OTUs belonging to the α -Proteobacteria, and in particular to a *Pseudochrobactrum sp.*. While these Bacilli OTUs are dominating over the Pseudochrobactrum sp. in the non-coalesced control (Figure 3.6), we found that they were negatively affected by the coalescence events (Figure 3.4a), and their shifts in relative abundance mirrored that of the *Pseudochrobactrum sp.* This suggests that Pseudochrobactrum sp. and the Bacilli were engaged in density-dependent negative interactions and that the Pseudochrobactrum sp. outcompeted the later during coalescence. Several studies have already described such negative interactions between members of the Proteobacteria and the Firmicutes families. For instance, phyllosphere strains belonging to Firmicutes were strongly inhibited and outcompeted by Proteobacteria strains in both in vitro and in vivo pairwise competition assays [232]. In the human gut microbiota, it is now recognized that the decrease in Firmicutes is correlated with an increase in Proteobacteria, such dysbiosis being associated with inflammatory bowel disease [248], [249]. Even without identifying the exact underlying mechanisms, our results further suggests that competition between Firmicutes and Proteobacteria may be an overall rule of microbial community assembly.

Intriguingly, the thirteen most abundant OTUs were not present in the PLN network, which suggests that they were not involved in the biotic interactions of importance for the outcome of coalescence events. Accordingly, dominant OTUs have previously been described to be more influenced by abiotic factors than rare OTUs, which may be more constrained by biotic interactions [190], [250]. Indeed, Rivett & Bell [229] showed that the abundance of the dominant taxa was positively correlated with respiration rate, cell yield, and ATP concentration, which are parameters associated to growth rate. As in our work coalescence events are comprising a range expansion phase, fast-growing taxa were likely less affected by changes in their biotic environment and could outperform their competitors during soil colonization to become dominant.

In conclusion, our results suggest that the structure rather than the diversity of coalesced communities is affected by differences in the source communities and that the composition and the density of the source communities are the main drivers of the outcome of coalescence events. Furthermore, we found that 40% of the most abundant OTUs were impacted by coalescence, mostly in a density-dependent manner. However, no dominant OTU was detected as involved in biotic interactions. Generalizing such assessment of how the different properties of source communities influence the diversity and the structure of a coalesced community could allow building predictive models and potentially help in designing microbe engineering strategies based on coalescence [200], [238], [251].

4

Manipulating the Physical Distance Between Cells During Soil Colonization Reveals the Importance of Biotic Interactions in Microbial Community Assembly

Sana Romdhane, Sarah Huet, Ayme Spor, David Bru, Marie-Christine Breuil, Laurent Philippot

University Bourgogne Franche-Comte, INRAE, Institut Agro Dijon, Department of Agroecology, Dijon, France

Abstract

Microbial communities are of tremendous importance for ecosystem functioning and yet we know little about the ecological processes driving the assembly of these communities in the environment. Here, we experimentally manipulated the physical distance between neighboring cells during soil colonization by three microbial communities exhibiting some variations in membership to determine the role of bacterial interactions in soil community assembly. We show that reducing distances between cells resulted in a loss of bacterial diversity with at least 41% of the most abundant OTUs being significantly affected by physical distancing depending on community membership. Our results also indicate that high cell density may favor competitive rather than mutualistic interactions. Our study demonstrates that the competitiveness of bacteria strongly depends on cell density and community membership, therefore highlighting the fundamental role of microbial interactions in the assembly of soil communities.

Keywords: Microbial interactions; community manipulation; physical distance; soil colonization; community assembly; coalescence

4.1 Introduction

Understanding community assembly processes is one of the fundamental goals in community ecology. Although soil microbial communities play an essential role in several key ecosystem functions such as biogeochemical cycling, plant productivity, and carbon sequestration [2], [8], [252], it is unclear what process, or combinations of processes, are driving their composition. For example, much focus has been laid on the role of environmental filters in shaping microbial communities [52] while how interactions among microorganisms drive their assembly remains largely unexplored [253]. However, a growing body of evidence suggests that these biotic interactions may also play an important role in microbial community assembly [58], [59], [188].

Most microorganisms face a constant battle for resources, and a large range of interactions between microorganisms has been reported [82]. For example, microorganisms can produce tremendous diversity of compounds (e.g., antibiotics, toxins, and siderophors) to sequester resources or to harm their competitors [254]. On the opposite, positive interactions include tightly coupled mutualistic interactions such as syntrophy, in which both partners depend on each other to perform a metabolic activity [255]. Whether positive or negative, interactions mostly occur between individuals that are close in space. In some cases, a physical contact between cells is even required for the injection of secreted toxins to the rival strain as exemplified by the type VI secretion system, which mediates interactions between a broad range of Gram-negative bacteria. In soil, it has been estimated that a single bacterium has about 120 neighboring species within interactions are, and how they affect community composition.

Theory predicts that in a new environment and without immediate neighbors, microorganisms will first colonize the empty space, which can be considered as a surrogate for resources [256]. After this initial phase of range expansion, direct interactions at the boundaries between neighboring patches of different species will emerge [32], [63]. Although models have shown that relative fitness of individuals strongly depends on the density of surrounding neighbors, i.e., the level of competition for resources [140], [257], [258], we are not aware of any study that has explicitly tested how changing physical distance between microbes in a complex environment influences the strength of species interactions.

Here we examine to which extent the distance between neighboring species in soil determine their competitiveness for a more general understanding of the role of biotic interactions in microbial community assembly. We hypothesized that (i) experimentally manipulating the physical distance between microbial cells will modify the interaction frequency leading to differences in microbial community composition with increasing distances between neighbors favoring poor competitors (Figure 4.1a), and (ii) the importance of physical distance in shaping microbial communities will be modulated by community membership. For this purpose, we first subjected a soil microbial community to two removal treatments (heat-shock and ramoplanin) in order to generate microbial community inocula with some variation in membership. We then experimentally manipulated the physical distance between microbial cells by introducing the same species pool (control, heat-shock, and ramoplanin treated microbial communities), into increasing volumes of sterilized soil. Finally, we performed a coalescence experiment with a reciprocal transplant design by mixing microbial communities that assembled with different initial distances between cells in order to assess their relative competitiveness (Figure 4.1b).



Figure 4.1: Schematic illustration of the experimental design. (a) The physical distance between microbial cells was experimentally manipulated by introducing the same species pool into increasing volumes of sterilized soil during Step 1 experiment (n=10) for control, heat-shock ad ramoplanin communities. (b) Step 2 consisted in a coalescence experiment with a reciprocal transplant design by mixing microbial communities that assembled at low (d1) or high (d2) densities during Step 1 in sterile soil (coalesced communities). Soils colonized under the d1 and the d2 initial densities were also incubated separately with sterile soil at low (d1) or high (d2) densities (reference communities). (c) Summary of possible scenarios of the impact of increasing physical distance between the neighboring cells on biotic interactions (negative in red and positive in blue).

4.2 Material & Methods

Soil Sampling and Experimental Design. The soil was collected from the Epoisses experimental farm in France (N47°30'22.1832", E4°10'26.4648") in October 2019 and sieved through 4 mm. The soil properties were 41.9% clay, 51.9% silt, and 6.2% sand, pH 7.2, and C and N content 15.5 and 1.4 g.kg⁻¹ dry soil, respectively. The soil was γ -sterilized (>60 kGy at Conservatome, Dagneux, France) and used to prepare microcosms with 4 different volumes of soil and diameters in order to obtain the same soil depth (2 cm) in all microcosms (i.e., d1=6 g, d2=43 g, d3=134 g, and d4=508 g). Each microcosm volume was replicated 10 times. Soil suspensions were then prepared by mixing 100 g equivalent dry mass of fresh soil with 150 ml sterile distilled water using a waring blender and ten times diluted under sterilized conditions. To generate microbial community inocula with some variation in membership, the soil suspensions were subjected to two different removal treatments aiming at depleting various microbial groups. The heat-shock treatment (HS) was applied as follows: 0°C for 5 min / 70°C for 15 min / 0°C for 5 min, and the biocidal antibiotic (ramoplanin, RA) was applied at a concentration of 70 μ g.mL⁻¹ of soil suspension. Non-treated soil suspensions were used as controls (C). Then, to manipulate physical distance between neighboring cells, the soil suspension was first diluted into increasing volume of water before inoculation of the microcosms containing different volume of sterilized soil in order to obtain the same soil moisture in all microcosms (Figure 4.1). The soil suspensions were thoroughly vortexed and equally distributed on the entire soil surface whatever the microcosms diameter to reach a soil moisture of 30%. The microcosms were then sealed with Parafilm allowing gas exchange in aseptic conditions and incubated at 20°C for 4 months. After incubation, soil microcosms and the original soils were used for subsequent analyses (n=10 for a total of 130 soil samples).

In a second step, we selected the control (C) and heat-shock (HS) communities from d1 and d2 microcosms (i.e., Cd1, Cd2, HSd1, and HSd2) for the coalescence experiment. For this purpose, 1.5 g of soil from microcosm colonized under the d1 density was thoroughly mixed with 1.5 g of soil from microcosm colonized under the d2 density into either 3 or 43 g of sterile soil microcosm to again obtain microcosms with low (d1) or high (d2) physical distancing between cells (Figure 4.1b). Soils from Step 1 selected communities (i.e., Cd1, Cd2, HSd1, and HSd2) were also mixed only with sterile soil at the d1 and d2 densities to obtain reference communities. Soil microcosms from Step 2 were replicated 5 times and incubated under the same condition as Step 1 for 90 days.

Assessment of Microbial Community Composition and Diversity. DNA was extracted from 190 samples (ten original soil samples, 120 Step 1 microcosms, and 60 Step 2 microcosms) using the DNeasy PowerSoil-htp 96 well DNA isolation kit (Qiagen, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To generate amplicons, a 2-step PCR approach was used according to (Berry et al., 2011). The V3-V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene was amplified using the 341F (5'-CCTACGGGRSGCAGCAG-3') and 805R (5'-GACTACCAGGGTATCTAAT-3'). The amplicon size was checked with 2% agarose gel and DNA concentration was estimated using Quant-IT[™] dsDNA HS Assay kit (Invitrogen[™], Carlsbad, CA, USA). Final PCR products were purified and their concentration normalized using the SequalPrep Normalization plate kit (Invitrogen[™], Carlsbad, CA, USA). Sequencing was performed on MiSeq (Illumina, 2 x 250 bp amplicons) using the MiSeq reagent kit v2. Demultiplexing and trimming of Illumina adaptors and barcodes was done with Illumina MiSeq Reporter software (version 2.5.1.3). Sequence data from soil samples were analysed using an in-house developed Python pipeline (available upon request). Briefly, 16S rRNA gene sequences were assembled using PEAR [204] with default settings. Further quality checks were conducted using the QIIME pipeline [205] and short sequences were removed (<400 bp). Reference based and de novo chimera detection, as well as OTUs clustering were performed using VSEARCH [206] and the

adequate reference databases (SILVA' representative set of sequences from [207]). The identity thresholds were set at 94% based on replicate sequencing of a bacterial mock community [188]. Representative sequences for each OTU were aligned using Infernal [209] and phylogenetic trees were construct using FastTree [210]. Taxonomy was assigned using UCLUST [211] and the SILVA database (138.1/2020) [207]. Raw sequences were deposited at the NCBI under the BioProject PRJNA883551.

Quantification of Microbial Communities. The abundances of the total bacterial community were estimated by real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) assays. For each treatment, we used five equimolar mixtures prepared from pairs of the 10 DNA replicates extracts. The total bacterial community was quantified using 16S rRNA primers as described by Muyzer *et al.* [212]. Real-time qPCR assays were carried out in a ViiA7 (Life Technologies, USA) with a Takyon Master Mix (Eurogentec, France) as previously described [214]. An average PCR efficiency of 100.7% was found for the two independent runs. No template controls gave null or negligible values. PCR inhibitor presence was tested by mixing soil DNA extracts with either control plasmid DNA (pGEM-T Easy Vector, Promega, France) or water. No inhibition was detected in any case.

Statistical Analysis. Statistical analyses were conducted using R statistical software [216] (version 4.0.3). Bacterial α -diversity metrics (i.e., observed species, Simpson's reciprocal, Shannon, and Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity PD from [218]) and Weighted Unifrac distance [219] between samples were calculated based on rarefied OTU tables (12000 sequences). Differences between treatments in gene copy abundances (16S rRNA) (n=5) and the microbial α -diversity indices (n=10) were tested using ANOVAs followed by Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test (p-value ≤ 0.05) using the *agricolae* package [217] (version 1.3-5). Normality and homogeneity of the residual distribution were verified, and log-transformations were performed for gene copy abundances. Differences between Weighted Unifrac distances were tested using a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Nemenyi's all-pairs comparison test (p-value \leq 0.05) using the *PMCMRplus* package (version 1.9.4). We also performed principal components analyses (PCoA) based on the Weighted Unifrac distance matrix to detect changes in the microbial community structure, and a Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PER-MANOVA from [220]) to detect significant differences between treatments using the adonis function of the vegan package (version 2.5-7). Pairwise post-hoc tests were conducted using the function pairwise.adonis from the pairwiseAdonis package with Benjamini-Hochberg corrections [221].

Identification of Differentially Abundant OTUs in Treatments. Low-abundance OTUs were filtered out by keeping OTUs that (i) represented >0.01% of the sequences in at least one sample, and (ii) were found in at least 60% of replicates, which resulted in 792 OTUs. Due to differences in community composition between control and removal treatments, OTUs with low prevalence (i.e., present in less than 50% of replicates within each removal treatment or control) were removed which resulted in the Step 1 experiment in 529, 306, and 468 OTUs for C, HS, and RA communities, respectively, and in the Step 2 experiment in 495 and 323 OTUs for C and HS communities, respectively. To estimate differences in OTUs abundances between treatments, we used a generalized linear mixed model. We considered that an OTU of abundance *Y* follows a Poisson law of parameter Λ as $Y \sim P(\Lambda)$ in any *j* replicates of any *i* treatment. Thus, we used the following model (Equation 4.1):

$$log(\Lambda_{ij}) = o_{ij} + \mu + \alpha_i + Z_{ij}, Z_{ij_{1 \le i \le 10}} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(4.1)

where *o* is the offset for each sample calculated as the log of the sample read sum, α is the effect of the treatments, and *Z* is the random sampling effect modelling the data overdispersion.
For the Step 1 experiment, $i = \{1, ..., 4\}$ represents the density treatments of either one removal treatment or control, and $j = \{1, ..., 10\}$ represents the replicates. For the Step 2 experiment, $i = \{1, ..., 6\}$ represents the coalescence and self-mixed treatments of either one removal treatment or control, and $i = \{1, ..., 5\}$ represents the replicates. The analysis was performed using the *glmer* function of the *lme4* package (version 1.1-27). Subsequently, we performed a posthoc Tukey test with the *emmeans* function of the *emmeans* package (version 1.6.1). Thereby, we implemented multiple pairwise comparisons for each OTU (i) between density treatments within each Step 1 removal treatment or control, and (ii) between each coalesced community and its references communities within each Step 2 removal treatment or control. Only comparison with a Tukey test p-value below or equal to 0.05, and with coefficient estimates higher or equal to 0.5 were considered significant.

Inference of Co-Occurrence Networks. Networks were constructed based on the most abundant OTU count data (low-abundance OTUs filtered out) using samples from either one removal treatment or control from the Step 1 experiment (n=40). For each sample set, we used one model with (Equation 4.1 as the full model, M1), and one model without the physical distance (Equation 4.2 as null Model, M0) as a covariate to identify nodes and links specific to the density effect.

$$log(\Lambda_{ij}) = o_{ij} + \mu + Z_{ij}, Z_{ij_{1 \le j \le 10}} iid \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(4.2)

Networks were inferred from each model using a sparse multivariate Poisson log-normal (PLN) model with a latent Gaussian layer and an observed Poisson layer using the *PLN models* package [224] with an offset corresponding to the number of reads in each sample. For each model, the best network was selected using a Stability Approach to Regularization Selection (StARS) [225].

4.3 Results

Manipulating Cell Density Alters the Diversity and Composition of the Bacterial Community. The initial gradient in physical distance between cells resulted in differences in α -diversity after 120 days of incubation especially for the control community (C) and the community subjected to ramoplanin (RA) with the lowest diversity indices observed in the smallest microcosms d1 (Supplementary Figure C.1; Tukey's test, p-value < 0.05). The impact of physical distancing was weaker for the community exposed to heat-shock (HS) with significant differences observed only for the Shannon and Simpson's Reciprocal diversity indices. As expected, Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) of the weighted Unifrac distances revealed differences in structure between the C, HS, and RA communities due to the removal treatments (PERMANOVA, P < 0.001, $R^2=0.69$), but also a clear clustering according to the density gradient (PERMANOVA, P < 0.001, R²=0.09) (Figure 4.2a and Supplementary Table C.1). Thus, significant differences were observed between d1 and all the other initial distances for the C, RA, and HS communities, and also between d2 and d4 for the C community only (Supplementary Table C.2). Clostridia, Gemmatimonadetes, and γ -protobacteria were mostly affected in the C and RA communities, while the largest changes were observed for the Clostridia, α -Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria in the HS community (Figure 4.2b). We also quantified the 16S rRNA gene copy numbers using qPCRs as a proxy for bacterial abundance and found the highest number of bacteria at the lowest initial physical distance (d1) in the C community, while no differences were observed between d2, d3, and d4. By contrast, the abundances of bacterial communities subjected to heat-shock and ramoplanin were not affected by physical distancing (Supplementary Figure C.2). These similar numbers of 16S rRNA gene copy per gram of soil, which were in the same range than in the natural soil, also indicate that inoculated communities had completely colonized the microcosms whatever their volumes.



Figure 4.2: Differences in bacterial community structure and composition across removal and density treatments for the Step 1 experiment. (a) Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) of the weighted UniFrac distance matrix of 16S rRNA gene amplicons showing shifts in the structures of the control (C), heat-shock (HS), and ramoplanin (RA) communities within the density gradient (d1, d2, d3, and d4). The different treatments are represented by different colors and symbols as specified in the legend. (b) Bacterial community composition in the removal treatments and control. Relative abundances are shown at the phylum and class levels and expressed as a percentage of the total number of OTUs.

We expected the shifts in biotic interactions along the gradient in physical distance to be mirrored by changes in OTUs relative abundances. Thus, more OTUs should be affected at high initial cell density because higher interaction frequency is predicted to result in increased relative abundances of the taxa that are positively interacting, and a decreased relative abundances of the poor competitors. To identify the OTUs affected by our cell physical distancing approach within the C, HS, and R communities, we used a generalized linear mixed model estimating significant shifts in the relative abundance of each of the most abundant OTUs between density treatments (Equation 4.1; Figure 4.3). Our analysis showed that in total 73%, 41%, and 52% of the most abundant OTUs were significantly affected by the density treatment for the C, HS, and RA communities, respectively. These differences were mostly observed between the lowest cell density (d1) and all other densities. We also found that the number of OTUs with decreasing relative abundance between densities was about two time higher than the number of OTUs with increasing relative abundances, whatever the community (Figure 4.3a). OTUs belonging to γ -Proteobacteria and Clostridia were mostly positively affected by lower physical distance, while members of Bacilli, Actinobacteria, and α -Proteobacteria were negatively affected (Supplementary Figure C.3). In overall, the magnitude of changes in the relative abundances of significantly affected OTUs was also the highest when comparing d1 to all the other densities. The impact of physical distancing on the magnitude of changes in relative fitness was also different between communities with a stronger negative impact for the C and RA communities, and a stronger positive effect for the HS community (Figure 4.3b).

Co-Occurrence Networks. To further explore to which extent interactions between bacterial OTUs were influenced by cell density within each community (i.e., control, heat-shock, and ramoplanin), we compared microbial co-occurrence networks inferred without covariate (Model 0) or with the initial physical distance as a qualitative covariate (i.e., the covariation

а



Figure 4.3: Significantly differential abundant OTUs between density treatments (d1, d2, d3, and d4) as identified using a generalized linear mixed model for the control (C), heat-shock (HS), and ramoplanin (RA) communities. (a) Percentage of OTUs exhibiting significant increasing/decreasing relative abundances for each pairwise comparison between density treatments (where vs means > or <). (b) Changes in the relative abundances of significantly affected OTUs as represented by the coefficient estimates obtained by the generalized linear mixed model for each OTU within each comparison and used as a measure of the effect size. Median of the coefficient estimates are indicated for each comparison.

between OTUs were not caused by the effects of physical distancing; Model 1; Equation 4.2) [224]. We found that 20.8% of nodes and 51.8% of links were specifically related to the effect of the physical distancing for the C community, and 24.5% of nodes and 43.3% of links for the HS community. In contrast, 87% of nodes and 97.3% of links were related to the initial physical distance for the RA community (Figure 4.4). Negative links were also more dependent on physical distancing in the networks inferred from the C (M0: 17.68% vs M1: 2.98%) and RA communities (M0: 9.27% vs M1: 0%), compared to the HS community (M0: 12.87% vs M1: 12.53%). Among the negative links, 90% were connecting Clostridia with either Proteobacteria, Longimicrobia or Bacteroidia in the C network while 72% of negative links in the HS community resulted in shifts in the taxa associations with the highest percentage of negative links (53%) connecting δ -Proteobacteria with mainly α -Proteobacteria, γ -Proteobacteria, Bacilli, and Bacilli, By identifying nodes that were both related to physical distancing in co-occurrence

networks and exhibiting significant changes in relative abundances as determined by the differential abundance analysis, we found that the effect of our physical distancing approach was clearer at a family-level than at a phylum or class-level (Supplementary Figure C.5). Thus, while both positive and negative links were observed between Clostridia and Bacilli in the heat-shock communities for example (Supplementary Figure C.4b), we found only positive links between Ruminococcaceae and Bacillaceae, and only negative links between Ruminococcaceae and Paenibacillaceae (Supplementary Figure C.5b).



Figure 4.4: Effects of the physical distancing approach on the microbial co-occurrence networks. The Venn diagrams show the number of shared/unique links or nodes between co-occurrence networks inferred without covariate (M0) or with the initial physical distance as covariate (M1) to estimate links not due to the density treatment. For each network model and community, the number of positive (blue) and negative (red) links are represented. Links represent partial correlations ρ and they are colored blue if $\rho > 0$ and red if $\rho < 0$.

Coalescence Outcomes Between Communities Assembled Under Different Initial Physical Distances. To determine the extent to which the initial gradient in physical distance selected OTUs with different competitive abilities, we focused on the C and HS communities as well as the d1 and d2 densities for performing a coalescence experiment. The same volumes of soil

colonized under the d1 and d2 initial densities were mixed together with two different volumes of sterile soil to again obtain microcosms with low (d1) or high (d2) physical distancing between cells (Figure 4.1b). As reference communities, we also used the soils colonized under the d1 and the d2 initial densities but mixed separately with sterile soil at low (d1) or high (d2) densities. After 90 days of soil recolonization, we quantified the outcome of community coalescence by comparing similarities between each reference community and the coalesced community for both densities using weighted Unifrac distances (Supplementary Figure C.6 and Supplementary Table C.3). For the C communities, we found that the coalesced communities (Cd1+Cd2) were more similar to the Cd2 than to the Cd1 reference community whatever the density (Figure 4.5a). This coalescence asymmetry was confirmed by a higher proportion of OTUs originating from the Cd2 reference community in the coalesced community at both densities (Figure 4.5b). Differential abundance analysis between coalesced and reference communities also showed that the percentage of OTUs with significantly affected relative abundances in the C community was higher when comparing the coalesced community Cd1+Cd2 to the reference community Cd1 (30.90% and 23.43% in d1 and d2, respectively; post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05) than to the reference community Cd2 (13.93% and 12.92% in d1 and d2, respectively; post-hoc Tukey p-value ≤ 0.05) whatever the density (Supplementary Table C.4). In contrast, mixing HS communities that had colonized the soil under the d1 and d2 densities resulted in coalesced communities that were equally similar to the HSd1 and HSd2 reference communities regardless of the density (Figure 4.5c). The similar percentage of OTUs shared between the reference and coalesced HS communities also indicated a symmetric coalescence with no predominant community (Figure 4.5d). No effect of the reference community was observed by differential abundance analysis on the outcome of coalescence events between the HS communities (13% and 15.17% of affected OTUs for HSd1 and HSd2, respectively in d1; 6.81% and 7.43% for HSd1 and HSd2, respectively in d2; post-hoc Tukey, p-value ≤ 0.05 ; Supplementary Table C.4). However, we found an effect of the physical distance on the outcome of coalescence events between the HSd1 and HSd2 communities only, with the coalesced community being more similar to the reference communities in d2 than in d1. This importance of physical distancing for the HS community during coalescence was supported by the differential abundance analysis showing that more OTUs were significantly affected at high (average of 14.08% in d1; post-hoc Tukey, p-value ≤ 0.05) than at low densities (7.12% in d2; post-hoc Tukey, p-value ≤ 0.05) whatever the reference community (Supplementary Table C.4).

Interestingly, the generalized linear mixed model also revealed non additive-effects with a few OTUs exhibiting significantly higher or lower relative abundances in the coalesced communities than in both reference communities (Supplementary Figure C.7 and Supplementary Figure C.8). Thus, among the 343 OTUs that exhibited significant different relative abundances in the coalesced compared to reference communities, we found 30 OTUs showing either synergistic or antagonistic effects in the coalesced community at high cell density (d1) and only 9 OTUs at low cell density (d2).

4.4 Discussion

Although mathematical models have shown that the relative fitness of individuals strongly depends on the density of surrounding neighbors [140], [257], little is known about how biotic interactions are influenced by physical distance between cells in complex environments and their role in microbial community assembly. Here, using removal treatments [188], we generated three microbial inocula differing in community membership that were then subjected to a physical distancing approach in order to assess to what extent microbial communities are shaped by biotic interactions between neighboring cells. Inoculation of the same microbial pools in microcosms containing different volumes of the same sterilized soil but with the same soil depth and humidity allowed us to control for potential confounding abiotic factors that



Figure 4.5: Differences in bacterial community structure and composition between coalesced and reference communities during the Step 2 experiment. Weighted UniFrac distances between coalesced and reference communities are represented for the control (a) and heat-shock (c) (mean \pm s.e.). Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences according to Tukey's test (p-value ≤ 0.05). The Venn diagrams show the number of shared/unique OTUs between the coalesced and references communities for the control (b) and heat-shock (d) at low (d1) and high densities (d2).

could interfere with the assessment of the effects of spatial distancing.

Manipulation of the initial physical distances between bacterial cells successfully highlighted the importance of biotic interactions for bacterial community assembly with at least 41% of the most abundant OTUs being affected by cell density. Thus, physical distancing modified the outcome of soil colonization with significant differences both in community diversity and composition that were related to the initial densities. We found a lower bacterial diversity when the initial physical distance was the highest (d1), which is in agreement with the classical competition theory predicting that more competitive environments are less speciesrich [259]. The identification by differential abundance analysis of a higher percentage of most abundant OTUs with decreasing (28%) than increasing relative abundance (14%) at high cell density suggests that reducing the physical distance during soil recolonization increased negative rather than positive interactions. Although cooperation is thought to be a common interaction between species [106], our results support previous studies based on experimental approaches highlighting the importance of competitive interactions in shaping microbial communities [59], [60], [66]. The effect of spatial distancing was not linear but threshold based with a stronger effect in d1 versus the other densities and to a lesser extent, in d2 versus d4. This could be explained by the ability of bacteria to detect local cell density through quorum sensing, which can for example repress bacterial competition systems including secretion systems until a threshold density has been reached. It has also been showed that at lower densities, bacteria have more opportunities during range expansion to form established clonal patches, which are more protected from competitors [92], [260]. Inferring microbial networks with and without the initial density gradient as covariate allowed us to identify the

links that were explained by physical distancing. In overall, the higher proportion of negative links explained by the initial gradient in the inferred microbial co-occurrence networks further supported that competitive interactions were dominating over mutualistic interactions at the boundaries between neighboring patches of different species. Among the co-occurrence networks, we found that Clostridia were often involved in negative interactions with Proteobacteria and Bacilli that were specifically related to physical distancing. This is consistent with previous findings reporting that, in soil, members of Clostridia could produce antimicrobial compounds which negatively affected the growth of species belonging to *Pseudomonas* and *Bacillus* [261].

The generation of three different microbial communities using removal treatments allowed us to characterize to which extent the effect of physical distancing was dependent on community composition. Specifically, we found a higher percentage of OTUs with decreasing fitness in the C and RA communities compared to the HS community, which was concomitant with a higher number of negative links related to the physical distancing in C and RA bacterial networks. Inferring network with or without the initial physical distance as a qualitative covariate also revealed that RA community network was the most responsive to the initial neighboring cell density. Ramoplanin is an antibiotic with bactericidal activity against Gram-positive bacteria while many secretion systems involving cell contact or cell-cell communication through quorum sensing and having a pivotal role in bacterial competition were described only in Gram-negative bacteria [262]. Exposure to ramoplanin may therefore have led to an enrichment of Gram-negative bacteria for which biotic interactions are cell-density dependent. Taken together, our results suggests that physical distancing could differentially modulate competitiveness between surrounding species depending on community membership.

To further explore how physical distancing affects interactions within microbial communities, we used a coalescence experiment based on the mixing of communities that assembled at high (d1) and low (d2) cell densities. We found that coalescence events resulted in distinct patterns for C and HS communities with the physical distance being more important for the assembly of the HS coalesced communities while the source community was more important for that of the C coalesced communities. While we hypothesized that increasing spatial distance will favor poor competitors, the asymmetric outcome of coalescence between C coalesced communities assembled at high and low densities was due to the fact that the Cd2 source community was dominant over the Cd1 community. This scenario can be explained with the findings of Lechón-Alonso et al. [246] who showed that the less competitive parent communities can dominate after coalescence when they are more cooperative because of their superior ability to deplete resources. Conversely, we found a symmetric coalescence for the HS communities indicating that the HSd1 and HSd2 communities were equally competitive, which suggests that physical distancing during Step 1 experiment had little effect on their competitiveness. This is supported by the much weaker effect of physical distancing on the HS than on the C communities during the Step 1 experiment with about 36% and 69% of significantly affected OTUs between d1 and d2, respectively. This lack of "home field advantage" during coalescence with the communities selected at the d2 density being equally or more competitive even in the d1 microcosms suggests that the observed differences in competitiveness were due to biotic rather than abiotic filtering which occurred during the first step of the physical distancing approach.

Using the coalescence approach, we also identified OTUs with significantly higher or lower relative abundances in the coalesced communities compared to the reference communities. These antagonistic and synergistic effects resulting from the mixing of partly different communities could be due to shifts in the initial abundance of the interacting cells in the coalesced communities [179]. Alternatively, the introduction during the coalescence of new species present only in one of the parent communities may have modified the existing interaction

in the other parent community. Accordingly, the importance of such higher-order interactions is increasingly recognized in microbial community assembly [184]. Interestingly, we found that these antagonistic and synergistic interactions also occur more often under low than high physical distancing, which further supports the importance of neighboring cell density for biotic interaction frequency.

In summary, by experimentally manipulating the physical distance between neighboring cells, our study showed the importance of biotic interactions in microbial community assembly. However, the differential effect of spatial distancing observed between the generated inocula suggests that community membership either modulates the importance of biotic interactions in community assembly or the extent to which biotic interactions are dependent on neighboring cell density. Further studies are therefore need to resolve microbe-microbe interactions at the community level, which is crucial for steering microbial communities in the environment.

5

General Discussion

Through three top-down native community manipulation experiments, we studied interactions occurring between soil microorganisms and assessed their contribution to community assembly. The general purpose of this general discussion chapter is to provide an overall synthesis of our results and to discuss the potential of our experimental approaches to decipher biotic interactions determining soil microbial community assembly and to steer microbial communities.

5.1 Biotic Interactions in Soil and Their Role in the Community Assembly

5.1.1 Biotic Interactions Steer Community Assembly

In the three community manipulation experiments performed, we estimated that between 15, 22 and 28% of the most abundant bacterial OTUs were subjected to negative interactions during community assembly, in Chapter II, III, and IV, respectively. In a previous work using community manipulation with the same soil than in Chapter IV, 39% of the most abundant OTUs were subjected to competitive interactions during soil recolonization [188]. Our results extend previous evidence of the generic occurrence of negative interactions within microbial communities obtained through bottom-up approaches [59], [60], [181]. In these studies, comparison of monoculture versus coculture of two strains selected among up to 72 bacterial species revealed a highly variable proportion of inhibitions of one strain on another, ranging from 3.4% to 63%. The use of top-down communities and, moreover, their contribution to the assembly of the entire community, which is not possible with pairwise coculture.

In the three chapters, we found recurrent negative correlations between the relative abundance of species belonging to Proteobacteria and Firmicutes. More precisely, we found negative correlations between γ -Proteobacteria and Bacilli, between α -Proteobacteria and Bacilli, and between Clostridia and γ -Proteobacteria, in Chapters II, III, and IV, respectively. These recurrent patterns have also been observed in two different soils [186] and in the same soil as Chapter IV in another study [188]. A negative correlation was even found as a checkerboard patterns in the distribution of Firmicutes and γ -Proteobacteria throughout France [263] and in other habitats such as in plant phyllosphere [232] or the human gut microbiota [248], [249].Some studies strongly suggest that members of these two phyla could be engaged in both interference and exploitative competition. For instance, in the human gut microbiota, it is now recognized that the decrease in Firmicutes is correlated with an increase in Proteobacteria, such dysbiosis being associated with inflammatory bowel disease [248], [249]. In the leaf microbiota, phyllosphere strains belonging to Firmicutes were strongly inhibited and outcompeted by Proteobacteria strains in both in vitro and in vivo pairwise competition assays [232]. Besides, Proteobacteria have a greater potential than Firmicute to utilize manure-derived carbohydrates in the soil, illustrating exploitative competition [264]. Even without identifying the exact underlying mechanisms, our results are strongly suggesting that competition between Firmicutes and Proteobacteria may be an overall rule of microbial community assembly.

5.1.2 Biotic Interactions are Influenced by Community Properties and Physical Distance Between Cells

In Chapters II and IV, our coalescence approach revealed that between 8 and 10% of the most abundant OTUs exhibited significantly higher or lower relative abundances in the coalesced communities than in both source communities, revealing non-additive effects during coalescence. In Chapter II, coalescence was performed by mixing the control and manipulated communities. Therefore, no new species was introduced during coalescence since all species were present in the control community. Thus, the non-additive effects observed here were likely not due to new higher-order interactions [75], [230] but could be explained by differences in the relative abundances of interacting OTUs between control and manipulated communities, revealing density-dependent interactions [179]. Density dependence was reported as a key feature characterising interspecific interactions [231], and pairwise competition experiments demonstrated that species interactions can be influenced by initial abundances of microbial species [179]. Here, we further suggest that changing the relative abundance of the interacting taxa not only impacts an important fraction of the observed interactions in a complex community but also affects the outcome of coalescence. In contrast, in Chapter IV, coalescence was performed by mixing communities that could harbour different species, allowing the introduction of species present in only one of the source communities. The encounter of species present in only one of the two source communities may have triggered higher-order interactions by modifying existing interactions in each source community [184]. Interestingly, these non-additive effects occurred more often under high density than low density, suggesting also density-dependent mechanisms. Thus, in both chapters, the non-additive effects further supported the importance of density-dependent interactions in microbial communities and affected OTUs mostly belonged to Bacteroidetes, α - and γ -Proteobacteria.

In Chapter III, we manipulated the diversity, composition, and density of a native community to assess the relative importance of these community properties on biotic interactions and on the outcome of coalescence between native and manipulated communities. We found that the properties of the manipulated community affected OTU differently depending on their taxonomical affiliation, with α -Proteobacteria being mainly affected by the composition of the manipulated community, while Bacilli were mainly affected by density. Moreover, while previous studies showed that the diversity of a community is correlated with its capacity to invade and change the composition of another one [186], [195], [243], we nuanced these results. Indeed, we found that the diversity of the coalesced communities was mainly related to that of the source communities, but that its structure was mostly influenced by the composition and density of the manipulated communities. Together, this suggests that community properties will affect biotic interactions during a coalescence event, thereby impacting the coalesced community assembly.

In Chapter IV, we manipulated the physical distance between cells to identify interactions and assess their contribution to community assembly during soil colonization. Manipulation of the physical distance affected on average 55% of the bacterial community with significant differences between the communities assembled at different initial densities. Furthermore, the number of interactions decreased in a threshold-dependent manner with increasing physical distance between cells. As bacteria often interact at a distance ranging from 1-20 μ m [137]– [139], increasing the physical distance between cells could keep more bacteria out of reach, thus decreasing the number of interactions. Indeed, the number of cell-to-cell interactions increases with cell density [265] and, for AHL-mediated communication, the maximum effective calling distance was less than 37 μ m from the focal cell with the highest intensity around 4 to 5 μ m [133], suggesting that closer cells experience stronger AHL-mediated interaction. Thus, reducing the physical distance between cells could result in an increase of both the number and strength of interactions. However, the spatial distribution of individuals could be as decisive as the overall density to trigger biotic interactions, especially in a complex environment such as soil [146], [265], [266]. Indeed, soil is an heterogeneous habitat organized of patchy and piled-up arrangements of mineral-associated organic matter entrapped in micro-aggregates which compartmentalize soil and create a variety of micro-habitats [146], [267], [268]. Thus, in a heterogeneous structured habitat such as soil, cell aggregates can be compartmentalized and exhibit a clustered spatial distribution, preventing their potential encounter and, thereby, the interactions between them. Increasing the density in a spatially structured environment could increase the probability of cell encounter and interaction less than in a homogeneous environment (e.g., well-mixed liquid broth).

5.1.3 Limits of Our Approach

In our approach, we hypothesized that interactions would be enhanced when microbes undergo an exponential growth phase, such as range expansion [20], [186]. Thereby we purposefully use a sterile soil with non-limited nutrients and plenty of empty niches to inoculate microbial communities at a density lower than the soil carrying capacity, allowing them to experience a range expansion phase during the recolonization of their native, but sterilized soil. However, we could have overestimated the number of taxa involved in interactions compared to what occurs in natural communities. Indeed, most of natural community members are inactive and/or dormant microorganisms [269], and thus, do not interact with other microorganisms. When the amount of available nutrients increases, such as when we inoculate a microbial suspension into a sterilized soil microcosm, inactive microorganisms become active [269], and thus, could start interacting with other community members. Furthermore, range expansion promotes the intermixing of primary and secondary populations (i.e., fast and slow growers, respectively) by dividing cell patches into small sub-populations, increasing interactions between them (Figure 5.1) [270]. Range expansion could also have changed the balance between the interaction types, which determine community assembly [76]. Indeed, range expansion promotes cooperation by increasing the number of cooperative individuals among a patch and by decreasing the impact of cheaters among this cooperative population [271]. In addition, inoculating the microbial community at a density lower than the carrying capacity could have changed the prevalence of the competition strategy. While interference competition dominates at high density, competition for space is prevalent in lower initial density [272]. This relates to the competition-colonization trade-off, a theory suggesting that while some individuals are better competitors, others are better colonizers [273], [274]: range expansion at low density would favour colonizers over competitors. To restrain range expansion, future studies could assess the relative importance of community properties for steering a microbial community in situ. To that purpose, manipulated communities could be inoculated into microcosm containing soil with an already established community, such as a native one, in contrast with Chapter III in which we inoculated both manipulated and native community at the same time into a sterile soil microcosm.

Microbial communities are not static systems, but dynamic ones that reflect the temporal scale of the interactions occurring between their members [275]. For example, predation and parasitism are defined as interactions that have a positive impact on the predator and a negative impact on the prey. But this effect on abundance is observable only in a tiny momentum of the Lotka-Volterra dynamic of the interaction (the purple momentum in Figure 5.2), while other momentum displays very different patterns on the abundances of both partners. Competition and cooperation are also subjected to such temporal dynamics [83], [276]. For



Figure 5.1: Modeling results and predictions of primary and secondary expansions. (a) Two completely degrading populations rapidly segregated into sectors. (b) The secondary expansion of the consumer produced fractal dendrites (magnifications of sections of the modeled circular colonies are shown). In the second row the model output with mutants that have a 1.4 times higher maximum growth rate than the ancestor. Blue is the primary and green the secondary population. In panel (c), the red areas indicate mutants in the primary population. It can be seen that they form patches that go extinct relatively rapidly. In panel (d), the mutants (also red) are introduced in the secondary population. In contrast to the mutants in the primary population in panel (c), they can take over dendrites and establish locally. From Goldschmidt *et al.* (2017) [270]

instance, in exploitative competition with competitors consuming the same limiting resource, the resource availability will decrease over time, affecting both competitor abundance (Figure 5.3) [277]. Here, we sampled communities at a single time point, at the end of each incubation, therefore overlooking the dynamics of biotic interactions during and after soil recolonization.

To decipher interactions occurring during the community assembly, we did not measure interactions directly but rather used OTUs relative abundance. To assess the proportion of OTUs involved in biotic interactions, we estimated shifts in the relative abundance of OTUs



Figure 5.2: Schematic illustration of different momenta across a linearized solution of the nonlinear Lotka-Volterra equations.

as a proxy of the effect of the interaction on their relative fitness. Then, to identify OTUs that may interact, we inferred co-occurrence networks. However, inferring ecological interactions based on OTUs abundance still presents several well-known and long debated pitfalls [83], among which two I would like to emphasize here. First, we cannot conclude on true direct ecological interactions between two taxa from a co-occurrence correlation. For instance, a correlation between two taxa can reflect that they are both affected by a third species, but without directly interacting. Secondly, correlations based on co-occurrence patterns do not provide any insight into potential interactions' underlying mechanisms. However, in Chapter II, we could establish a causative relationship between the depletion of some taxa and the increased relative fitness of others, by performing a targeted coalescence experiment to reunite potentially interacting OTUs. For understanding the underlying interactions, future studies could include metatranscriptomics approaches or RT-qPCR to relate shifts in gene expression to shifts in the OTUs abundances. For example, many bacteria use Type VI secretion system to directly inject toxins into their competitors. This injection triggers the expression of several genes in the targeted cells [278]. The expression level of these genes could be quantified through metatranscriptomics approaches or RT-qPCR, allowing to assess if an increase in OTUs negatively affected in their abundance is correlated with an increase of the expression of such genes. Monitoring microbial traits involved in interactions alongside assessing taxonomic group abundance could help decipher the "who and how" of biotic interactions in complex communities [190].

Finally, we estimated the biotic interactions based on the abundance of only the most abundant OTUs (i.e., OTUs with a relative abundance higher than 0.5% in any sample), representing ca. 10% of the total number of OTUs. We thus completely overlooked what happened for the rare OTUs. However, we cannot include such rare taxa in the network inference model due to their sparse counts [83]. The sparsity of rare OTUs also implies that their counts are uncertain, as they may be in the limit of the sequencing detection ability in samples [279]. Literature tells us that dominant OTUs are more affected by abiotic environment than rare OTUs [250] while rare OTUs could be more constrained by biotic interactions[190]. Taxa may become and remain rare under the influence of deterministic processes [280], such as competitive exclusion by dominant taxa [281]. Also, in Chapter III, no dominant taxa (i.e., the ten most abundant OTUs) but only subdominant taxa were detected as involved in the co-occurrence network. Thus, by overlooking rare OTUs in the three chapters, we may have underestimated the proportion of the community subjected to biotic interactions during the community assembly.



Figure 5.3: Change in consumer and resource abundances over time. Consumer species N_1 and N_2 and resource availability (R). Note that consumer species N_2 can maintain its population on a lower resource level than can consumer species N_1 , thus consumer species N_1 is driven extinct by competition with consumer species N_2 . From Mittelbach & McGill (2019) [277]

5.2 Using Community Manipulation as a Tool

5.2.1 A Tool to Decipher Biotic Interactions

Historically, biotic interactions have been deciphered through empirical observation of natural communities, allowing the detection of significant patterns from which assembly rules were inferred, and later through bottom-up approaches, using coculture of a handful of strains. While these approaches laid the basis of modern microbial ecology, they present several pitfalls: (i) the correlation inferred from the observed co-occurrence networks needs experimental validation for an ecological interpretation [83], and (ii) while synthetic communities with a few strains can directly test interactions between them, they cannot decipher their role in the assembly and functioning of complex native microbial communities [191], [192].

In this thesis and other studies, manipulation of native microbial communities was used to obtain communities with hundreds of OTUs, representing most of the taxonomic groups present in their respective environment (Chapters II, III an IV, [186], [188]). We could thereby implement three hypothesis-driven experiments with highly complex communities, overcoming the limits highlighted above. By modulating diversity, composition, and density, we were able to identify the interactions occurring between the community members from which we could infer the competition between Proteobacteria and Firmicutes as a potential assembly rule. Future work could directly test this rule, for example, by inoculating a community enriched in Firmicutes with a community enriched in Proteobacteria. Combining such an approach with a microbial-trait approach based on other 'Omics' techniques could also help decipher the underlying mechanisms of biotic interactions [190]. Moreover, identifying biotic interactions in complex communities allowed us to assess their contribution to the community assembly.

While bottom-up approaches were mostly carried out with simple communities in simple environments, (e.g., liquid broth or agar plates), community manipulation allows to inoculate complex communities in a complex environment such as soil, getting closer to natural conditions. Using complex environment to decipher biotic interactions in complex communities is of tremendous importance as the complexity and heterogeneity (e.g., spatial structure) of an environment can directly influence biotic interactions. For instance, changing carbon sources in an environment can drastically change interactions [60], [181]. Environments with high concentrations of available nutrients will lead to more negative interactions and reduce overall community diversity [58]. In contrast, the lack of some nutrients can trigger interactions, such as siderophore production triggered by an iron deficiency [282]. Future experiments could use community manipulation to assess the importance of environment complexity and heterogeneity on biotic interactions and the assembly of complex communities.

5.2.2 A Tool for Microbiome Engineering

One of the main goals of microbiome engineering is to steer microbial communities to promote the services they support or to restore communities after a disturbance [200], [251], [283]. Microbial consortia and microbiome-based solutions are already used to harness microbial communities in agriculture, food processes and even human health [284]. However, steering a resident microbial community by inoculating microbial strain or consortium in situ remains one of the main challenges facing microbiome engineering. In fact, inoculating microbes in situ has often inconsistent efficiency and reliability. One reason of this inconsistency is that the inoculated microorganisms fail to invade the resident communities, notably due to strong priority effects. Two different mechanisms explain priority effects: niche preemption and niche modification [131], [285]. In niche preemption, early-arriving species (e.g., members of a resident community) deplete resources, thereby preventing the establishment of late-arriving species (e.g., a microbial inoculum) or impeding their growth due to exploitative competition. On the other hand, niche modification can be negative or positive. Niche modification is also due to biotic interactions: early-arriving species modify the environment which changes the available niches and thereby either impedes or facilitates the establishment of late-arriving species [131], [285]. In niche inhibitory modification, an early-arriving species prevents the establishment of a late-arriving species. Early arriving species can secrete bacteriocins with antimicrobial activity in the environment, impeding the establishment of sensitive strains (i.e., interference competition) [285] or can produce acid that reduces pH (i.e., amensalism), preventing the colonization of more alkaliphile species. Conversely, a decrease in pH could be a niche facilitative modification for species that grow better in more acidic environment. In niche facilitative modification, an early-arriving species facilitates the establishment of a late-arriving species. The early-arriving species can break down large organic molecules into more easily accessible nutrients or produce extracellular polysaccharides that retain water (i.e., commensalism or cooperation) [285]. Thereby, as priority effects are due to biotic interactions between the resident-community members and the late-arriving species, biotic interactions could be used to overcome such priority effect and allow to steer microbial communities. For instance, introducing a strain that outcompete the dominant strain of the resident community can free niches, allowing subdominant strain to access now vacant niches [286]. In contrast, late-arriving species could also establish syntrophic cooperation with some members of the native community, stimulating these indigenous organisms [287]. Priority effects can also be reduced by disturbances, as less diverse and disturbed communities are more prone to invasion than diverse and undisturbed communities [274]. In this thesis, we purposely inoculated native and manipulated communities at the same time to avoid such a priority effect, allowing identification of biotic interactions occurring between community members. Future work could use community manipulations to identify biotic interactions occurring within a native community and use these identified interactions to inoculate into the targeted environment a manipulated community whose members will interact with previously identified indigenous microorganisms to steer the community towards a desirable state.

The deliberate introduction of non-indigenous microorganisms into the environment raises ethical issues and can have potential side effects. For instance, non-native species can invade

the environment they were introduced in and may thereby threaten resident species to extinction and affect ecosystem services in unpredictable ways [288]. A set of practices has been suggested to prevent such side effects. One could be to use microorganisms native from the targeted environment, preventing invasions of non-endemic species [289]. In this thesis, we successfully shifted the assembly of native communities without adding new species, only using community manipulation to shift the biotic interactions that occur between members of the same native community. Thus, our work highlights the potential of top-down manipulation of native microbial community for obtaining simplified communities. Such manipulated communities could serve as microbial inoculants for steering microbial communities *in situ* without introducing non-endemic species into the targeted environment, by using the biotic interactions occurring between the native community members.

Community manipulation and, in particular, community coalescence represents a promising avenue to engineer microbial communities [200], [238], [251]. Recent studies even used coalescence to restore altered soil microbial communities. For instance, Wubs et al. [185] applied soil inocula from two different biomes (i.e., grassland and heathland) on an ex-arable land (i.e., a disturbed ecosystem), with or without removing the topsoil layer. They show that replacing the topsoil layer by a soil inoculum from another biome promoted the ecosystem restoration and even steered the plant community towards this other biome vegetation. This effect was lighter, but still significant, when the soil inoculum was spread in a thin layer over the untouched topsoil layer. In another work, Calderón et al. [186] generated communities altered in their diversity and functioning by using a removal-by-dilution approach. Then, they attempted to rescue soil diversity and functioning by re-inoculating diluted native microbial communities from the same soils into microcosms containing soil with the altered communities. They successfully overridden the priority effect of the resident altered communities, steering the community diversity and structure towards the newly introduced one, but only when the newly introduced community were obtained from a less-diluted suspension than the altered resident one and without successfully restoring the soil community functions. Here, in Chapter II, our coalescence approach restored -at least partly- both microbial community diversity and functions and even re-established most of the original interactions between the community members. Altogether, these results further support the use of microbial community coalescence to restore soil biodiversity and ecosystem functioning.

6

Conclusions & Perspectives

Microorganisms are the second major component of biomass on Earth after plants. They live in communities that not only drive major biogeochemical cycles, but also influence plant, animal, and human welfare. These communities are assembled through different processes commonly referred to as abiotic and biotic filters. In terrestrial ecosystems, an emphasis has been placed on the role of abiotic filters for understanding microbial community assembly. However, a growing body of evidence suggests that interactions between microorganisms could have a pervasive and important role in community assembly. The contribution of these interactions to the assembly of the microbial community and the factors influencing them have not been clearly established. Moreover, most attempts to identify and/or characterize biotic interactions between microorganisms have been based on coculture of a handful of strains, completely overlooking the high complexity of microbial communities in the environment.

In this thesis, our objectives were to decipher biotic interactions occurring between microbial community members and to assess the role of these interactions in the assembly of complex communities. To address these objectives, we used three top-down experiments based on the manipulation of soil microbial communities. In Chapter II, we used a two-step top-down approach combining removal manipulation (i.e., taxa depletion in the community) and coalescence (i.e., mixing manipulated and control communities). In Chapter III, we used community manipulation to modulate the diversity, composition, and density of a native soil microbial community and implement twelve different coalescence treatments by mixing manipulated and native bacterial communities. In Chapter IV, we used a removal approach to modulate community membership, and then we manipulated the physical distance between neighbouring cells by inoculating the manipulated communities into increasing volume of soil. Then, we performed a coalescence experiment by mixing microbial communities that assembled with different initial distances between cells to assess their relative competitiveness. In all our experiments, the microbial suspensions (or incubated soils in Chapters II and IV coalescence steps) were inoculated in microcosms containing their native, but sterilised, soil to allow them to reassemble during soil recolonisation.

Together, our results suggest that between 15% and 28% of the bacterial community are subjected to negative interactions during soil recolonization. We found a recurrent negative correlation between Proteobacteria and Firmicutes, suggesting that competition between these taxa could be a rule governing microbial community assembly. Our approach also uncovered the importance of density-dependent interactions in microbial community assembly. By manipulating the physical distance between microbial cells, we confirmed the importance of biotic interactions for microbial community assembly and showed that the competitiveness of individuals strongly depends on the density and identity of surrounding neighbours. Furthermore, we also investigated the role of biotic interactions in community assembly using coalescence. We showed that coalescence can re-establish impaired interactions between mi-

croorganisms by reuniting potentially interacting OTUs and can also restore -at least partlycommunity diversity and soil functions. We also untangled the respective effects of the properties of the source communities on the diversity and structure of the coalesced communities. We show that the diversity of the source communities is not the most important community property influencing a coalescence outcome but that the density and the composition of the source communities had the most impact on the structure of the coalesced communities.

Nonetheless, our approach may have enhanced the interactions occurring between community members compared to what occurs in an already established community. In fact, all our experiments were based on the inoculation of microbial suspension in microcosms containing sterile soil. Thus, the communities experienced a range expansion phase during soil recolonization. To address such pitfalls, future work could use community manipulation to inoculate microbial suspensions into microcosms containing already established communities, such as in an original soil. Furthermore, such experiment could aim to harness or restore microbial community functions in situ by combining community manipulation and microbial-trait approach. First, community manipulation could be used to generate different manipulated communities originating from the same native one with specific functional traits, that could serve as microbial inoculants. Then, community manipulation could be used to identify windows of opportunity which are momenta in the community dynamics when microbial inoculants would be the most efficient to steer the targeted native community and promote specific functional traits. Windows of opportunity can open after seasonal stress such as drought or at different stages of a crop life cycle. Microcosm as well as field experiment could be implemented to identify such momenta by inoculating microbial inoculants into an original soil containing a native community after different seasonal disturbance or at different stage of a crop life cycle. While such an experiment could produce actionable knowledge for agricultural systems, it could also provide insights into the relationship between community structure and function.

Altogether, we bring here additional evidence that community manipulation could become a standard tool to test ecological theories. Community manipulation with native communities allow the assessment of microbial interactions in complex communities, their contribution to community assembly, and the links between community structure and function. Furthermore, our work highlights the potential of using community manipulation to design new microbial engineering strategies allowing to steer microbial communities in situ. By using the interactions occurring between community members, these strategies could overrun priority effect of the resident communities without adding non-endemic species. Our work highlights the potential of community manipulations, especially coalescence, to restore soil biodiversity and ecosystem functioning and to harness microbial communities so that they provide the ecosystem services needed by humankind.

- T. W. Lyons, C. T. Reinhard, and N. J. Planavsky, "The rise of oxygen in earth's early ocean and atmosphere," *Nature*, vol. 506, no. 7488, pp. 307–315, 2014, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature13068 (page 1).
- P. G. Falkowski, T. Fenchel, and E. F. Delong, "The microbial engines that drive earth's biogeochemical cycles," *Science*, vol. 320, no. 5879, pp. 1034–1039, 2008, ISSN: 0036-8075, 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science.1153213 (pages 1, 21, 52).
- [3] W. H. Verboom and J. S. Pate, "Exploring the biological dimension to pedogenesis with emphasis on the ecosystems, soils and landscapes of southwestern australia," *Geoderma*, vol. 211-212, pp. 154–183, 2013, ISSN: 0016-7061. DOI: 10.1016/j.geoderma. 2012.03.030 (page 1).
- [4] Y. M. Bar-On, R. Phillips, and R. Milo, "The biomass distribution on earth," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 115, no. 25, pp. 6506–6511, 2018. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1711842115 (page 1).
- [5] C. A. Lozupone, J. I. Stombaugh, J. I. Gordon, J. K. Jansson, and R. Knight, "Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota," *Nature*, vol. 489, no. 7415, pp. 220–230, 2012, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature11550 (page 1).
- [6] L. Philippot, J. M. Raaijmakers, P. Lemanceau, and W. H. v. d. Putten, "Going back to the roots: The microbial ecology of the rhizosphere," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 11, no. 11, pp. 789–799, 2013, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro3109 (page 1).
- [7] R. Rosselló-Mora and R. Amann, "The species concept for prokaryotes," *FEMS microbiology reviews*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 39–67, 2001, ISSN: 0168-6445. DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2001.tb00571.x (page 1).
- [8] R. D. Bardgett and W. H. van der Putten, "Belowground biodiversity and ecosystem functioning," *Nature*, vol. 515, no. 7528, pp. 505–511, 2014, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10. 1038/nature13855 (pages 1, 21, 52).
- P. G. Falkowski, "Evolution of the nitrogen cycle and its influence on the biological sequestration of co2 in the ocean," *Nature*, vol. 387, no. 6630, pp. 272–275, 1997, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/387272a0 (page 1).
- [10] D. Naylor, N. Sadler, A. Bhattacharjee, et al., "Soil microbiomes under climate change and implications for carbon cycling," Annual Review of Environment and Resources, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 29–59, 2020, ISSN: 1543-5938, 1545-2050. DOI: 10.1146/annurevenviron-012320-082720 (page 1).
- W. H. Schlesinger and E. S. Bernhardt, *Biogeochemistry: An Analysis of Global Change, 3rd Edition,* 3rd edition. Amsterdam ; Boston: Academic Press, 2013, ISBN: 978-0-12-385874-0 (page 1).
- [12] D. E. Canfield, A. N. Glazer, and P. G. Falkowski, "The evolution and future of earth's nitrogen cycle," *Science*, vol. 330, no. 6001, pp. 192–196, 2010, ISSN: 0036-8075, 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science.1186120 (page 1).

- [13] J. I. Prosser and G. W. Nicol, "Archaeal and bacterial ammonia-oxidisers in soil: The quest for niche specialisation and differentiation," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 523–531, 2012, ISSN: 1878-4380. DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2012.08.001 (page 2).
- M. A. H. J. van Kessel, D. R. Speth, M. Albertsen, *et al.*, "Complete nitrification by a single microorganism," *Nature*, vol. 528, no. 7583, pp. 555–559, 2015, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature16459 (pages 2, 8).
- [15] H. Daims, E. V. Lebedeva, P. Pjevac, *et al.*, "Complete nitrification by nitrospira bacteria," *Nature*, vol. 528, no. 7583, pp. 504–509, 2015, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/ nature16461 (pages 2, 8).
- [16] J. Rockström, W. Steffen, K. Noone, et al., "A safe operating space for humanity," Nature, vol. 461, no. 7263, pp. 472–475, 2009, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/461472a (page 2).
- [17] A. Orgiazzi, R. D. Bardgett, E. Barrios, et al., Global soil biodiversity atlas, European Commission. Publications Office of the European Union, 2016, ISBN: 978-92-79-48168-0 (pages 2, 8).
- [18] I. T. Handa, R. Aerts, F. Berendse, *et al.*, "Consequences of biodiversity loss for litter decomposition across biomes," *Nature*, vol. 509, no. 7499, pp. 218–221, 2014, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature13247 (page 2).
- [19] L. A. Domeignoz-Horta, G. Pold, X.-J. A. Liu, S. D. Frey, J. M. Melillo, and K. M. DeAngelis, "Microbial diversity drives carbon use efficiency in a model soil," *Nature Communications*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 3684, 2020, ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-17502-z (page 2).
- [20] L. Philippot, A. Spor, C. Hénault, *et al.*, "Loss in microbial diversity affects nitrogen cycling in soil," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 1609–1619, 2013, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2013.34 (pages 2, 21, 67).
- [21] S. Hallin, A. Welsh, J. Stenström, *et al.*, "Soil functional operating range linked to microbial biodiversity and community composition using denitrifiers as model guild," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 12, e51962, 2012, ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0051962 (page 2).
- [22] A. S. Mori, F. Isbell, and R. Seidl, "β-diversity, community assembly, and ecosystem functioning," *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 549–564, 2018, ISSN: 01695347. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2018.04.012 (page 2).
- [23] R. V. Rojas and L. Caon, "The international year of soils revisited: Promoting sustainable soil management beyond 2015," *Environmental Earth Sciences*, vol. 75, no. 16, p. 1184, 2016, ISSN: 1866-6299. DOI: 10.1007/s12665-016-5891-z (page 2).
- [24] A. Konopka, "What is microbial community ecology?" *The ISME Journal*, vol. 3, no. 11, pp. 1223–1230, 2009, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2009.88 (page 2).
- [25] M. Vellend, "Conceptual synthesis in community ecology," The Quarterly Review of Biology, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 183–206, 2010, ISSN: 0033-5770. DOI: 10.1086/652373 (page 2).
- [26] D. R. Nemergut, S. K. Schmidt, T. Fukami, *et al.*, "Patterns and processes of microbial community assembly," *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 342–356, 2013, ISSN: 1092-2172, 1098-5557. DOI: 10.1128/MMBR.00051-12 (pages 2, 3).
- [27] F. E. Clements, Plant succession: an analysis of the development of vegetation. Washington: Carnegie Institution of Washington, 1916, pp. 1–658. DOI: 10.5962/bh1.title.56234 (pages 2, 14).

- [28] H. A. Gleason, "The individualistic concept of the plant association," Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 7–26, 1926, ISSN: 0040-9618. DOI: 10.2307/ 2479933 (pages 2, 14).
- [29] R. Levins and R. C. Lewontin, "Dialectics and reductionism in ecology," in *The Dialectical Biologist*, Harvard University Press, Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1985, pp. 132–160, ISBN: 978-0-674-20283-2 (page 2).
- [30] K. Liautaud, E. H. van Nes, M. Barbier, M. Scheffer, and M. Loreau, "Superorganisms or loose collections of species? a unifying theory of community patterns along environmental gradients," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 22, no. 8, pp. 1243–1252, 2019, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/ele.13289 (page 2).
- [31] W. Z. Lidicker, "A clarification of interactions in ecological systems," *BioScience*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 475–477, 1979, ISSN: 00063568, 15253244. DOI: 10.2307/1307540 (pages 2, 4–6).
- [32] J. S. Madsen, S. J. Sørensen, and M. Burmølle, "Bacterial social interactions and the emergence of community-intrinsic properties," *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, vol. 42, pp. 104–109, 2018, ISSN: 1369-5274. DOI: 10.1016/j.mib.2017.11.018 (pages 2, 52).
- [33] F. A. Gorter, M. Manhart, and M. Ackermann, "Understanding the evolution of interspecies interactions in microbial communities," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 375, no. 1798, p. 20190256, 2020. DOI: 10.1098 / rstb.2019.0256 (page 2).
- [34] K. W. K. Lee, S. Periasamy, M. Mukherjee, C. Xie, S. Kjelleberg, and S. A. Rice, "Biofilm development and enhanced stress resistance of a model, mixed-species community biofilm," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 894–907, 2014, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2013.194 (pages 2, 14).
- [35] H. L. Røder, P. K. Raghupathi, J. Herschend, *et al.*, "Interspecies interactions result in enhanced biofilm formation by co-cultures of bacteria isolated from a food processing environment," *Food Microbiology*, vol. 51, pp. 18–24, 2015, ISSN: 0740-0020. DOI: 10. 1016/j.fm.2015.04.008 (pages 2, 14).
- [36] J. HilleRisLambers, P. Adler, W. Harpole, J. Levine, and M. Mayfield, "Rethinking community assembly through the lens of coexistence theory," *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 227–248, 2012, ISSN: 1543-592X, 1545-2069. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110411-160411 (pages 3, 4).
- [37] J. Zhou and D. Ning, "Stochastic community assembly: Does it matter in microbial ecology?" *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 81, no. 4, 2017, ISSN: 1092-2172, 1098-5557. DOI: 10.1128/mmbr.00002-17 (page 3).
- [38] S. P. Hubbell, *The unified neutral theory of biodiversity and biogeography* (Monographs in population biology 32). Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2001, ISBN: 978-0-691-02128-7 (pages 3, 14).
- [39] J. Chave, "Neutral theory and community ecology," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 241–253, 2004, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2003.00566.x (page 3).
- [40] M. A. Leibold, "The niche concept revisited: Mechanistic models and community context," *Ecology*, vol. 76, no. 5, pp. 1371–1382, 1995, ISSN: 1939-9170. DOI: 10.2307 / 1938141 (pages 3, 14).
- [41] G. Kylafis and M. Loreau, "Niche construction in the light of niche theory," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 82–90, 2011, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/j.1461-0248. 2010.01551.x (page 3).

- [42] M. A. Leibold and M. A. McPeek, "Coexistence of the niche and neutral perspectives in community ecology," *Ecology*, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 1399–1410, 2006, ISSN: 1939-9170.
 DOI: 10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[1399:COTNAN]2.0.C0;2 (page 3).
- [43] P. B. Adler, J. HilleRisLambers, and J. M. Levine, "A niche for neutrality," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 95–104, 2007, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.
 2006.00996.x (page 3).
- [44] P. Zhang, P.-P. Zhou, and L.-J. Yu, "An endophytic taxol-producing fungus from taxus media, cladosporium cladosporioides md2," *Current Microbiology*, vol. 59, no. 3, p. 227, 2009, ISSN: 1432-0991. DOI: 10.1007/s00284-008-9270-1 (page 3).
- [45] P. Chesson, "Mechanisms of maintenance of species diversity," Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 343–366, 2000. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys. 31.1.343 (pages 3, 4, 14).
- [46] P. Chesson, "Updates on mechanisms of maintenance of species diversity," *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 106, no. 5, pp. 1773–1794, 2018, ISSN: 1365-2745. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2745.13035 (page 3).
- [47] A. D. Letten, P.-J. Ke, and T. Fukami, "Linking modern coexistence theory and contemporary niche theory," *Ecological Monographs*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 161–177, 2017, ISSN: 1557-7015. DOI: 10.1002/ecm.1242 (page 3).
- [48] A. Leinweber, M. Weigert, and R. Kümmerli, "The bacterium pseudomonas aeruginosa senses and gradually responds to interspecific competition for iron," *Evolution*, vol. 72, no. 7, pp. 1515–1528, 2018, ISSN: 1558-5646. DOI: 10.1111/evo.13491 (page 3).
- [49] L. Billet, M. Devers, N. Rouard, F. Martin-Laurent, and A. Spor, "Labour sharing promotes coexistence in atrazine degrading bacterial communities," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 18363, 2019, ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-54978-2 (pages 3, 4).
- [50] M. W. Cadotte and C. M. Tucker, "Should environmental filtering be abandoned?" *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 429–437, 2017, ISSN: 0169-5347. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2017.03.004 (page 3).
- [51] N. Fierer and R. B. Jackson, "The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 103, no. 3, pp. 626–631, 2006, ISSN: 0027-8424. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0507535103 (page 3).
- [52] N. Fierer, "Embracing the unknown: Disentangling the complexities of the soil microbiome," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 579–590, 2017, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.87 (pages 3, 34, 52).
- [53] N. J. B. Kraft, P. B. Adler, O. Godoy, E. C. James, S. Fuller, and J. M. Levine, "Community assembly, coexistence and the environmental filtering metaphor," *Functional Ecol*ogy, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 592–599, 2015, ISSN: 1365-2435. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2435.12345 (page 3).
- [54] M. Goberna, C. García, and M. Verdú, "A role for biotic filtering in driving phylogenetic clustering in soil bacterial communities," *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, vol. 23, no. 12, pp. 1346–1355, 2014, ISSN: 1466-8238. DOI: 10.1111/geb.12227 (pages 3, 4, 14, 32).
- [55] K. Z. Coyte, J. Schluter, and K. R. Foster, "The ecology of the microbiome: Networks, competition, and stability," *Science*, vol. 350, no. 6261, pp. 663–666, 2015, ISSN: 0036-8075, 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science.aad2602 (pages 3, 14, 21).

- [56] I. Frost, W. P. J. Smith, S. Mitri, *et al.*, "Cooperation, competition and antibiotic resistance in bacterial colonies," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 1582–1593, 2018, ISSN: 1751-7362, 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/s41396-018-0090-4 (pages 3, 12, 14).
- [57] A. R. Pacheco, M. Moel, and D. Segrè, "Costless metabolic secretions as drivers of interspecies interactions in microbial ecosystems," *Nature Communications*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 103, 2019, ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-07946-9 (pages 3–5, 11, 14).
- [58] C. Ratzke, J. Barrere, and J. Gore, "Strength of species interactions determines biodiversity and stability in microbial communities," *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, pp. 1–8, 2020, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-020-1099-4 (pages 3, 4, 14, 21, 52, 71).
- [59] K. R. Foster and T. Bell, "Competition, not cooperation, dominates interactions among culturable microbial species," *Current Biology*, vol. 22, no. 19, pp. 1845–1850, 2012, ISSN: 1879-0445. DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.08.005 (pages 3, 14, 21, 33, 52, 61, 65).
- [60] J. Kehe, A. Ortiz, A. Kulesa, J. Gore, P. C. Blainey, and J. Friedman, "Positive interactions are common among culturable bacteria," *Science Advances*, vol. 7, no. 45, eabi7159, 2021. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abi7159 (pages 3–5, 11, 14, 61, 65, 71).
- [61] J. D. Palmer and K. R. Foster, "Bacterial species rarely work together," Science, vol. 376, no. 6593, pp. 581–582, 2022. DOI: 10.1126/science.abn5093 (page 3).
- [62] T. W. Schoener, "Resource partitioning in ecological communities," *Science*, vol. 185, no. 4145, pp. 27–39, 1974. DOI: 10.1126/science.185.4145.27 (pages 3, 4, 14).
- [63] M. E. Hibbing, C. Fuqua, M. R. Parsek, and S. B. Peterson, "Bacterial competition: Surviving and thriving in the microbial jungle," *Nature Reviews. Microbiology*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 15–25, 2010, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro2259 (pages 3, 4, 6, 52).
- [64] G. G. Mittelbach and B. J. McGill, "Species coexistence and niche theory," in *Community Ecology*, 2nd ed., Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2019, pp. 141–157, ISBN: 978-0-19-883585-1. DOI: 10.1093/0s0/9780198835851.003.0008 (page 3).
- [65] R. D. Bardgett, "Causes and consequences of biological diversity in soil," *Zoology*, vol. 105, no. 4, pp. 367–375, 2002, ISSN: 0944-2006. DOI: 10.1078/0944-2006-00072 (page 4).
- [66] M. Ghoul and S. Mitri, "The ecology and evolution of microbial competition," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 24, no. 10, pp. 833–845, 2016, ISSN: 1878-4380. DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.06.011 (pages 4, 21, 61).
- [67] E. E. Nuccio, E. Starr, U. Karaoz, *et al.*, "Niche differentiation is spatially and temporally regulated in the rhizosphere," *The ISME Journal*, pp. 1–16, 2020, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/s41396-019-0582-x (pages 4, 14).
- [68] J. Pernthaler, "Competition and niche separation of pelagic bacteria in freshwater habitats," *Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 2133–2150, 2017, ISSN: 1462-2920.
 DOI: 10.1111/1462-2920.13742 (page 4).
- [69] V. Kurm, W. H. van der Putten, W. de Boer, S. Naus-Wiezer, and W. H. G. Hol, "Low abundant soil bacteria can be metabolically versatile and fast growing," *Ecology*, vol. 98, no. 2, pp. 555–564, 2017, ISSN: 0012-9658. DOI: 10.1002/ecy.1670 (page 4).
- [70] E. Buscardo, J. Geml, S. K. Schmidt, H. Freitas, H. B. da Cunha, and L. Nagy, "Spatiotemporal dynamics of soil bacterial communities as a function of amazon forest phenology," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 8, no. 1, p. 4382, 2018, ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/ s41598-018-22380-z (page 4).
- [71] G. F. Gause, *The Struggle For Existence*. Baltimore: The Williams & Wilkins company, 1934. DOI: 10.5962/bhl.title.4489 (pages 4, 14).

- [72] G. E. Hutchinson, "Concluding remarks," in Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1957, pp. 415–427. DOI: 10.1101/sqb. 1957.022.01.039 (page 4).
- [73] R. H. MacArthur, "Population ecology of some warblers of northeastern coniferous forests," *Ecology*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 599–619, 1958, ISSN: 1939-9170. DOI: 10.2307/1931600 (pages 4, 14).
- [74] J. M. Diamond, "Assembly of species communities," in *Ecology and Evolution of Communities*, New edition, Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1975, pp. 342–443, ISBN: 978-0-674-22446-9 (pages 4, 14).
- [75] J. Friedman, L. M. Higgins, and J. Gore, "Community structure follows simple assembly rules in microbial microcosms," *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 1, no. 5, p. 109, 2017, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-017-0109 (pages 4, 14, 33, 66).
- [76] J. J. Qian and E. Akçay, "The balance of interaction types determines the assembly and stability of ecological communities," *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, pp. 1–10, 2020, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-020-1121-x (pages 4, 14, 67).
- [77] B. Kerr, M. A. Riley, M. W. Feldman, and B. J. M. Bohannan, "Local dispersal promotes biodiversity in a real-life game of rock-paper-scissors," *Nature*, vol. 418, no. 6894, pp. 171–174, 2002, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature00823 (pages 4, 14).
- [78] H. Morlon, "Microbial cooperative warfare," *Science*, vol. 337, no. 6099, pp. 1184–1185, 2012, ISSN: 0036-8075, 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science.1227512 (page 4).
- [79] A. Zelezniak, S. Andrejev, O. Ponomarova, D. R. Mende, P. Bork, and K. R. Patil, "Metabolic dependencies drive species co-occurrence in diverse microbial communities," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 112, no. 20, pp. 6449–6454, 2015, ISSN: 0027-8424, 1091-6490. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1421834112 (pages 4, 14).
- [80] T. Pfeiffer, S. Schuster, and S. Bonhoeffer, "Cooperation and competition in the evolution of atp-producing pathways," *Science*, vol. 292, no. 5516, pp. 504–507, 2001, ISSN: 0036-8075, 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science.1058079 (page 4).
- [81] D. Ranava, C. Backes, G. Karthikeyan, *et al.*, "Metabolic exchange and energetic coupling between nutritionally stressed bacterial species: Role of quorum-sensing molecules," *mBio*, vol. 12, no. 1, e02758–20, 2021. DOI: 10.1128/mbio.02758-20 (pages 4, 14).
- [82] A. S. Griffin, S. A. West, and A. Buckling, "Cooperation and competition in pathogenic bacteria," *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 7003, pp. 1024–1027, 2004, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10. 1038/nature02744 (pages 4, 8, 14, 52).
- [83] K. Faust and J. Raes, "Microbial interactions: From networks to models," Nature Reviews Microbiology, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 538–550, 2012, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/ nrmicro2832 (pages 4, 16, 67, 69, 70).
- [84] A. R. Pacheco and D. Segrè, "A multidimensional perspective on microbial interactions," *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, vol. 366, no. 11, 2019, ISSN: 0378-1097. DOI: 10.1093/femsle/fnz125 (page 4).
- [85] J. N. Holland and D. L. DeAngelis, "Consumer-resource theory predicts dynamic transitions between outcomes of interspecific interactions," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 1357–1366, 2009, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01390.x (page 4).
- [86] P. W. Ewald, "Transmission modes and evolution of the parasitism-mutualism continuuma," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 503, no. 1, pp. 295–306, 1987, ISSN: 1749-6632. DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1987.tb40616.x (page 5).

- [87] J. L. Bronstein, "Conditional outcomes in mutualistic interactions," Trends in Ecology & Evolution, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 214–217, 1994, ISSN: 0169-5347. DOI: 10.1016/0169-5347(94)90246-1 (pages 5, 10).
- [88] A. M. Hirsch, "Plant-microbe symbioses: A continuum from commensalism to parasitism," *Symbiosis*, vol. 37, no. 1-3, pp. 345–363, 2004, ISSN: 0334-5114 (pages 5, 10, 11).
- [89] G. C. Drew, E. J. Stevens, and K. C. King, "Microbial evolution and transitions along the parasite-mutualist continuum," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 19, no. 10, pp. 623– 638, 2021, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/s41579-021-00550-7 (pages 5, 10, 11).
- [90] J. Bascompte, P. Jordano, and J. M. Olesen, "Asymmetric coevolutionary networks facilitate biodiversity maintenance," *Science*, vol. 312, no. 5772, pp. 431–433, 2006. DOI: 10.1126/science.1123412 (pages 5, 14).
- [91] A. Mougi, "The roles of amensalistic and commensalistic interactions in large ecological network stability," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 6, no. 1, 2016, ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/srep29929 (pages 5, 10).
- [92] E. T. Granato, T. A. Meiller-Legrand, and K. R. Foster, "The evolution and ecology of bacterial warfare," *Current Biology*, vol. 29, no. 11, R521–R537, 2019, ISSN: 0960-9822. DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2019.04.024 (pages 6–8, 61).
- [93] R. Niehus, A. Picot, N. M. Oliveira, S. Mitri, and K. R. Foster, "The evolution of siderophore production as a competitive trait," *Evolution*, vol. 71, no. 6, pp. 1443–1455, 2017, ISSN: 1558-5646. DOI: 10.1111/evo.13230 (page 6).
- [94] E. J. Mongiardini, J. Pérez-Giménez, M. J. Althabegoiti, et al., "Overproduction of the rhizobial adhesin rapa1 increases competitiveness for nodulation," Soil Biology and Biochemistry, vol. 41, no. 9, pp. 2017–2020, 2009, ISSN: 0038-0717. DOI: 10.1016/j. soilbio.2009.07.016 (pages 6, 14).
- [95] C. Howard-Varona, K. R. Hargreaves, S. T. Abedon, and M. B. Sullivan, "Lysogeny in nature: Mechanisms, impact and ecology of temperate phages," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 1511–1520, 2017, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2017.16 (page 6).
- [96] J. Bondy-Denomy and A. R. Davidson, "When a virus is not a parasite: The beneficial effects of prophages on bacterial fitness," *Journal of Microbiology*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 235– 242, 2014, ISSN: 1976-3794. DOI: 10.1007/s12275-014-4083-3 (page 6).
- [97] E. A. Schwinghamer and J. Brockwell, "Competitive advantage of bacteriocin and phage-producing strains of rhizobium trifolii in mixed culture," *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 383–387, 1978, ISSN: 0038-0717. DOI: 10.1016/0038-0717(78) 90062-7 (page 6).
- [98] X.-Y. Li, T. Lachnit, S. Fraune, T. C. G. Bosch, A. Traulsen, and M. Sieber, "Temperate phages as self-replicating weapons in bacterial competition," *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, vol. 14, no. 137, p. 20170563, 2017. DOI: 10.1098/rsif.2017.0563 (pages 6, 13).
- [99] Y. Michel-Briand and C. Baysse, "The pyocins of pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Biochimie*, vol. 84, no. 5, pp. 499–510, 2002, ISSN: 0300-9084. DOI: 10.1016/s0300-9084(02) 01422-0 (page 7).
- [100] P. Ge, D. Scholl, N. S. Prokhorov, *et al.*, "Action of a minimal contractile bactericidal nanomachine," *Nature*, vol. 580, no. 7805, pp. 658–662, 2020, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2186-z (page 7).
- K. L. Hockett, T. Renner, and D. A. Baltrus, "Independent co-option of a tailed bacteriophage into a killing complex in pseudomonas," *mBio*, vol. 6, no. 4, e00452–15, 2015.
 DOI: 10.1128/mbio.00452-15 (page 7).

- [102] D. Scholl, "Phage tail-like bacteriocins," Annual Review of Virology, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 453–467, 2017, ISSN: 2327-056X, 2327-0578. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-virology-101416-041632 (page 7).
- [103] L. Keller and M. G. Surette, "Communication in bacteria: An ecological and evolutionary perspective," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 249–258, 2006, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro1383 (pages 7, 12, 13).
- [104] S. P. Diggle, A. S. Griffin, G. S. Campbell, and S. A. West, "Cooperation and conflict in quorum-sensing bacterial populations," *Nature*, vol. 450, no. 7168, pp. 411–414, 2007, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature06279 (pages 7, 8, 14).
- [105] J. Schluter, A. P. Schoech, K. R. Foster, and S. Mitri, "The evolution of quorum sensing as a mechanism to infer kinship," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 12, no. 4, e1004848, 2016, ISSN: 1553-7358. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004848 (page 7).
- [106] S. A. West, S. P. Diggle, A. Buckling, A. Gardner, and A. S. Griffin, "The social lives of microbes," *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 53– 77, 2007. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.38.091206.095740 (pages 8, 61).
- [107] A. Buckling, F. Harrison, M. Vos, *et al.*, "Siderophore-mediated cooperation and virulence in pseudomonas aeruginosa," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 135–141, 2007, ISSN: 0168-6496. DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2007.00388.x (page 8).
- [108] E. Bar-Ness, Y. Hadar, Y. Chen, A. Shanzer, and J. Libman, "Iron uptake by plants from microbial siderophores," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 99, no. 4, pp. 1329–1335, 1992, ISSN: 0032-0889 (page 8).
- [109] E. Costa, J. Pérez, and J.-U. Kreft, "Why is metabolic labour divided in nitrification?" *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 213–219, 2006, ISSN: 0966-842X. DOI: 10. 1016/j.tim.2006.03.006 (page 8).
- [110] S. Geisen, E. A. D. Mitchell, S. Adl, et al., "Soil protists: A fertile frontier in soil biology research," FEMS Microbiology Reviews, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 293–323, 2018, ISSN: 0168-6445. DOI: 10.1093/femsre/fuy006 (page 8).
- [111] E. Jurkevitch and Y. Davidov, "Phylogenetic diversity and evolution of predatory prokaryotes," in *Predatory Prokaryotes: Biology, Ecology and Evolution*, ser. Microbiology Monographs, E. Jurkevitch, Ed., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2007, pp. 11–56, ISBN: 978-3-540-38582-0. DOI: 10.1007/7171_052 (page 8).
- [112] M. O. Martin, "Predatory prokaryotes: An emerging research opportunity," Journal of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 467–477, 2002, ISSN: 1464-1801 (pages 8, 9).
- S. Yair, D. Yaacov, K. Susan, and E. Jurkevitch, "Small eats big: Ecology and diversity of bdellovibrio and like organisms, and their dynamics in predator-prey interactions," *Agronomie*, vol. 23, no. 5-6, pp. 433–439, 2003, ISSN: 0249-5627, 1297-9643. DOI: 10. 1051/agro:2003026 (page 8).
- [114] H. N. Williams and S. Piñeiro, "Ecology of the predatory bdellovibrio and likeorganisms," in *Predatory Prokaryotes: Biology, Ecology and Evolution*, ser. Microbiology Monographs, E. Jurkevitch, Ed., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2007, pp. 213–248, ISBN: 978-3-540-38582-0. DOI: 10.1007/7171_2006_058 (pages 8, 13).
- [115] O. Rotem, Z. Pasternak, and E. Jurkevitch, "Bdellovibrio and like organisms," in *The Prokaryotes: Deltaproteobacteria and Epsilonproteobacteria*, E. Rosenberg, E. F. DeLong, S. Lory, E. Stackebrandt, and F. Thompson, Eds., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2014, pp. 3–17, ISBN: 978-3-642-39044-9. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-39044-9_379 (page 8).

- [116] S. Thiery and C. Kaimer, "The predation strategy of myxococcus xanthus," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 11, 2020, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.00002 (page 9).
- K. A. Mathis and J. L. Bronstein, "Our current understanding of commensalism," Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 167–189, 2020. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-011720-040844 (pages 10, 11).
- U. Hentschel, M. Steinert, and J. Hacker, "Common molecular mechanisms of symbiosis and pathogenesis," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 226–231, 2000, ISSN: 0966-842X, 1878-4380. DOI: 10.1016/S0966-842X(00)01758-3 (page 10).
- [119] A. A. Pratama and J. D. v. Elsas, "The viruses in soil—potential roles, activities, and impacts," in *Modern Soil Microbiology*, 3rd ed., CRC Press, 2019, p. 14, ISBN: 978-0-429-05918-6 (page 10).
- P. R. Secor, J. M. Sweere, L. A. Michaels, *et al.*, "Filamentous bacteriophage promote biofilm assembly and function," *Cell Host & Microbe*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 549–559, 2015, ISSN: 1931-3128. DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.10.013 (page 10).
- [121] A. Deveau, G. Bonito, J. Uehling, *et al.*, "Bacterial-fungal interactions: Ecology, mechanisms and challenges," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 335–352, 2018, ISSN: 1574-6976. DOI: 10.1093/femsre/fuy008 (page 10).
- [122] J. Uehling, A. Gryganskyi, K. Hameed, et al., "Comparative genomics of mortierella elongata and its bacterial endosymbiont mycoavidus cysteinexigens," *Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 2964–2983, 2017, ISSN: 1462-2920. DOI: 10.1111/1462-2920.13669 (page 10).
- [123] O. A. Lastovetsky, M. L. Gaspar, S. J. Mondo, *et al.*, "Lipid metabolic changes in an early divergent fungus govern the establishment of a mutualistic symbiosis with endobacteria," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 113, no. 52, pp. 15102–15107, 2016, ISSN: 1091-6490. DOI: 10.1073/pnas. 1615148113 (page 10).
- [124] C. García, M. Rendueles, and M. Díaz, "Microbial amensalism in lactobacillus casei and pseudomonas taetrolens mixed culture," *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 1111–1122, 2017, ISSN: 1615-7605. DOI: 10.1007 / s00449 017 1773 3 (pages 11, 14).
- [125] N. O. Igiehon and O. O. Babalola, "Below-ground-above-ground plant-microbial interactions: Focusing on soybean, rhizobacteria and mycorrhizal fungi," *The Open Microbiology Journal*, vol. 12, no. 1, 2018. DOI: 10.2174/1874285801812010261 (page 11).
- [126] A. U. Hassan and A. Ali, "Microbial amensalism: A natural process for the revival of antibiotics," *Archives of Clinical Microbiology*, vol. 12, no. S5:178, 2021, ISSN: 1989-8436. DOI: 10.36648/1989-8436.21.s5.178 (page 11).
- [127] P. B. Price and T. Sowers, "Temperature dependence of metabolic rates for microbial growth, maintenance, and survival," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 101, no. 13, pp. 4631–4636, 2004. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0400522101 (page 11).
- [128] A. I. Dell, S. Pawar, and V. M. Savage, "Temperature dependence of trophic interactions are driven by asymmetry of species responses and foraging strategy," *Journal of Animal Ecology*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 70–84, 2014, ISSN: 1365-2656. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2656. 12081 (page 11).
- [129] Q. Jin and M. F. Kirk, "Ph as a primary control in environmental microbiology: 1. thermodynamic perspective," *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, vol. 6, 2018, ISSN: 2296-665X (page 11).

- [130] C. Ratzke and J. Gore, "Modifying and reacting to the environmental ph can drive bacterial interactions," *PLOS Biology*, vol. 16, no. 3, e2004248, 2018, ISSN: 1545-7885. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2004248 (page 11).
- [131] T. Fukami, "Historical contingency in community assembly: Integrating niches, species pools, and priority effects," *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 1–23, 2015, ISSN: 1543-592X. DOI: 10.1146 / annurev - ecolsys - 110411 -160340 (pages 11, 71).
- [132] R. B. Franklin and A. L. Mills, "The importance of microbial distribution in space and spatial scale to microbial ecology," in *The Spatial Distribution of Microbes in the Environment*, R. B. Franklin and A. L. Mills, Eds., Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2007, pp. 1–30, ISBN: 978-1-4020-6216-2. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4020-6216-2_1 (page 11).
- [133] S. Gantner, M. Schmid, C. Dürr, *et al.*, "In situ quantitation of the spatial scale of calling distances and population density-independent n-acylhomoserine lactone-mediated communication by rhizobacteria colonized on plant roots," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 188–194, 2006, ISSN: 0168-6496. DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2005. 00037.x (pages 11, 12, 14, 67).
- K. Schulz-Bohm, S. Gerards, M. Hundscheid, J. Melenhorst, W. de Boer, and P. Garbeva, "Calling from distance: Attraction of soil bacteria by plant root volatiles," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 1252–1262, 2018, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/s41396-017-0035-3 (page 11).
- [135] L. Bai, W. Wang, J. Hua, Z. Guo, and S. Luo, "Defensive functions of volatile organic compounds and essential oils from northern white-cedar in china," *BMC Plant Biology*, vol. 20, no. 1, p. 500, 2020, ISSN: 1471-2229. DOI: 10.1186/s12870-020-02716-6 (page 11).
- [136] S. G. Wakeham, R. Amann, K. H. Freeman, et al., "Microbial ecology of the stratified water column of the black sea as revealed by a comprehensive biomarker study," Organic Geochemistry, vol. 38, no. 12, pp. 2070–2097, 2007, ISSN: 0146-6380. DOI: 10. 1016/j.orggeochem.2007.08.003 (pages 11, 14).
- [137] X. Raynaud and N. Nunan, "Spatial ecology of bacteria at the microscale in soil," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9, no. 1, e87217, 2014, ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0087217 (pages 11, 14, 52, 66).
- [138] D. S. Esser, J. H. Leveau, K. M. Meyer, and K. Wiegand, "Spatial scales of interactions among bacteria and between bacteria and the leaf surface," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, vol. 91, no. 3, fiu034, 2015, ISSN: 0168-6496. DOI: 10.1093/femsec/fiu034 (pages 11, 66).
- [139] J. Seoane, T. Yankelevich, A. Dechesne, B. Merkey, C. Sternberg, and B. F. Smets, "An individual-based approach to explain plasmid invasion in bacterial populations," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 17–27, 2011, ISSN: 0168-6496. DOI: 10.1111/j. 1574-6941.2010.00994.x (pages 11, 66).
- [140] A. Dal Co, S. v. Vliet, D. J. Kiviet, S. Schlegel, and M. Ackermann, "Short-range interactions govern the dynamics and functions of microbial communities," *Nature Ecology* & Evolution, pp. 1–10, 2020, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-019-1080-2 (pages 11, 14, 52, 60).
- [141] A. Stacy, J. Everett, P. Jorth, U. Trivedi, K. P. Rumbaugh, and M. Whiteley, "Bacterial fight-and-flight responses enhance virulence in a polymicrobial infection," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 111, no. 21, pp. 7819–7824, 2014. DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.1400586111 (pages 11, 12).

- Y. M. Bar-On and R. Milo, "Towards a quantitative view of the global ubiquity of biofilms," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 199–200, 2019, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/s41579-019-0162-0 (page 11).
- [143] H.-C. Flemming and S. Wuertz, "Bacteria and archaea on earth and their abundance in biofilms," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 247–260, 2019, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/s41579-019-0158-9 (page 11).
- [144] O. X. Cordero and M. S. Datta, "Microbial interactions and community assembly at microscales," *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, vol. 31, pp. 227–234, 2016, ISSN: 13695274. DOI: 10.1016/j.mib.2016.03.015 (page 12).
- [145] B. B. Christensen, J. A. J. Haagensen, A. Heydorn, and S. Molin, "Metabolic commensalism and competition in a two-species microbial consortium," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 68, no. 5, pp. 2495–2502, 2002. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.68.5.2495– 2502.2002 (page 12).
- [146] S. A. Schweizer, "Perspectives from the fritz-scheffer awardee 2021: Soil organic matter storage and functions determined by patchy and piled-up arrangements at the microscale," *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, vol. n/a, no. n/a, 2022, ISSN: 1522-2624. DOI: 10.1002/jpln.202200217 (pages 12, 67).
- P. Turchin, Complex population dynamics: a theoretical-empirical synthesis (Monographs in population biology 35). Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2003, ISBN: 978-0-691-09021-4 (page 12).
- [148] P. A. Abrams, "Determining the functional form of density dependence: Deductive approaches for consumer-resource systems having a single resource.," *The American Naturalist*, vol. 174, no. 3, pp. 321–330, 2009, ISSN: 0003-0147. DOI: 10.1086/603627 (pages 12, 14).
- [149] W. C. Allee and E. S. Bowen, "Studies in animal aggregations: Mass protection against colloidal silver among goldfishes," *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 185– 207, 1932, ISSN: 1097-010X. DOI: 10.1002/jez.1400610202 (pages 12, 14).
- [150] S. P. Diggle, S. A. Crusz, and M. Cámara, "Quorum sensing," *Current Biology*, vol. 17, no. 21, R907–R910, 2007, ISSN: 0960-9822. DOI: 10.1016 / j.cub.2007.08.045 (page 12).
- [151] S. E. Darch, S. A. West, K. Winzer, and S. P. Diggle, "Density-dependent fitness benefits in quorum-sensing bacterial populations," *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, vol. 109, no. 21, pp. 8259–8263, 2012, ISSN: 0027-8424, 1091-6490. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1118131109 (pages 12, 14).
- [152] A. Ross-Gillespie, A. Gardner, A. Buckling, S. A. West, and A. S. Griffin, "Density dependence and cooperation: Theory and a test with bacteria," *Evolution*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 2315–2325, 2009, ISSN: 1558-5646. DOI: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.2009.00723.x (pages 12, 14).
- S. Vet, L. Gelens, and D. Gonze, "Mutualistic cross-feeding in microbial systems generates bistability via an allee effect," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 7763, 2020, ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-63772-4 (pages 13, 14).
- [154] C. Zerfaß, J. A. Christie-Oleza, and O. S. Soyer, "Manganese oxide biomineralization provides protection against nitrite toxicity in a cell-density-dependent manner," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 2018. DOI: 10.1128/aem.02129-18 (page 13).
- [155] C. Elton, "Population interspersion: An essay on animal community patterns," *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 1–23, 1949, ISSN: 0022-0477. DOI: 10.2307/2256726 (pages 13, 14).

- [156] P. Trosvik, K. Rudi, T. Næs, *et al.*, "Characterizing mixed microbial population dynamics using time-series analysis," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 2, no. 7, pp. 707–715, 2008, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2008.36 (pages 13, 14).
- [157] D. Greig and M. Travisano, "Density-dependent effects on allelopathic interactions in yeast," *Evolution*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 521–527, 2008, ISSN: 1558-5646. DOI: 10.1111/j. 1558-5646.2007.00292.x (pages 13, 14).
- [158] F. J. H. Hol, B. Hubert, C. Dekker, and J. E. Keymer, "Density-dependent adaptive resistance allows swimming bacteria to colonize an antibiotic gradient," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 30–38, 2016, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2015.107 (pages 13, 14).
- [159] D. M. Cornforth and K. R. Foster, "Competition sensing: The social side of bacterial stress responses," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 285–293, 2013, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro2977 (page 13).
- [160] A. J. Lotka, *Elements of physical biology*. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins Company, 1925 (pages 13, 14).
- [161] V. Volterra, "Variations and fluctuations of the number of individuals in animal species living together," *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 3–51, 1928, ISSN: 1054-3139, 1095-9289. DOI: 10.1093/ices jms/3.1.3 (pages 13, 14).
- [162] C. S. Holling, "Some characteristics of simple types of predation and parasitism," *The Canadian Entomologist*, vol. 91, no. 7, pp. 385–398, 1959, ISSN: 1918-3240, 0008-347X. DOI: 10.4039/ent91385-7 (page 13).
- [163] M. Varon and B. P. Zeigler, "Bacterial predator-prey interaction at low prey density," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 1978. DOI: 10.1128/aem.36.1.11-17.1978 (pages 13, 14).
- [164] R. B. Kaul, A. M. Kramer, F. C. Dobbs, and J. M. Drake, "Experimental demonstration of an allee effect in microbial populations," *Biology Letters*, vol. 12, no. 4, p. 20160070, 2016. DOI: 10.1098/rsb1.2016.0070 (pages 13, 14).
- [165] C. Burke, P. Steinberg, D. Rusch, S. Kjelleberg, and T. Thomas, "Bacterial community assembly based on functional genes rather than species," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 108, no. 34, pp. 14288–14293, 2011, ISSN: 0027-8424, 1091-6490. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1101591108 (page 14).
- [166] E. B. Graham, J. E. Knelman, A. Schindlbacher, *et al.*, "Microbes as engines of ecosystem function: When does community structure enhance predictions of ecosystem processes?" *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 7, 2016, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb. 2016.00214 (pages 14, 21).
- [167] M. Bahram, F. Hildebrand, S. K. Forslund, *et al.*, "Structure and function of the global topsoil microbiome," *Nature*, vol. 560, no. 7717, pp. 233–237, 2018, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-018-0386-6 (page 14).
- [168] M. Szoboszlay and C. C. Tebbe, "Hidden heterogeneity and co-occurrence networks of soil prokaryotic communities revealed at the scale of individual soil aggregates," *MicrobiologyOpen*, vol. 10, no. 1, e1144, 2021, ISSN: 2045-8827. DOI: 10.1002/mbo3. 1144 (page 14).
- [169] L. Ren, K. Jensen, P. Porada, and P. Mueller, "Biota-mediated carbon cycling—a synthesis of biotic-interaction controls on blue carbon," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 521– 540, 2022, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/ele.13940 (page 14).
- [170] J. Grinnell, "The niche-relationships of the california thrasher," *The Auk*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 427–433, 1917, ISSN: 0004-8038. DOI: 10.2307/4072271 (page 14).

- [171] J. H. Vandermeer, "Niche theory," Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 107–132, 1972. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.es.03.110172.000543 (page 14).
- [172] F. Carrara, A. Giometto, M. Seymour, A. Rinaldo, and F. Altermatt, "Inferring species interactions in ecological communities: A comparison of methods at different levels of complexity," *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 895–906, 2015, ISSN: 2041-210X. DOI: 10.1111/2041-210x.12363 (page 14).
- [173] A. Mougi, "Stability of an adaptive hybrid community," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 6, no. 1, 2016, ISSN: 2045-2322. DOI: 10.1038/srep28181 (page 14).
- B. Momeni, L. Xie, and W. Shou, "Lotka-volterra pairwise modeling fails to capture diverse pairwise microbial interactions," *eLife*, vol. 6, e25051, 2017, ISSN: 2050-084X. DOI: 10.7554/elife.25051 (pages 14, 15).
- [175] A. D. Letten and D. B. Stouffer, "The mechanistic basis for higher-order interactions and non-additivity in competitive communities," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 423– 436, 2019, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/ele.13211 (pages 14, 15).
- P. B. Rainey and K. Rainey, "Evolution of cooperation and conflict in experimental bacterial populations," *Nature*, vol. 425, no. 6953, pp. 72–74, 2003, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature01906 (page 14).
- [177] A. D. Morgan, R. C. MacLean, K. L. Hillesland, and G. J. Velicer, "Comparative analysis of myxococcus predation on soil bacteria," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 76, no. 20, pp. 6920–6927, 2010. DOI: 10.1128/aem.00414-10 (page 14).
- [178] O. X. Cordero, H. Wildschutte, B. Kirkup, *et al.*, "Ecological populations of bacteria act as socially cohesive units of antibiotic production and resistance," *Science*, vol. 337, no. 6099, pp. 1228–1231, 2012, ISSN: 0036-8075, 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science. 1219385 (page 14).
- [179] E. S. Wright and K. H. Vetsigian, "Inhibitory interactions promote frequent bistability among competing bacteria," *Nature Communications*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 11 274, 2016, ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms11274 (pages 14, 21, 33, 62, 66).
- K. N. Kragh, J. B. Hutchison, G. Melaugh, *et al.*, "Role of multicellular aggregates in biofilm formation," *mBio*, vol. 7, no. 2, 2016, ISSN: 2150-7511. DOI: 10.1128/mbio.00237-16 (page 14).
- [181] J. Russel, H. L. Røder, J. S. Madsen, M. Burmølle, and S. J. Sørensen, "Antagonism correlates with metabolic similarity in diverse bacteria," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 114, no. 40, pp. 10684–10688, 2017, ISSN: 1091-6490. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1706016114 (pages 14, 21, 33, 65, 71).
- [182] T. Bell, J. A. Newman, B. W. Silverman, S. L. Turner, and A. K. Lilley, "The contribution of species richness and composition to bacterial services," *Nature*, vol. 436, no. 7054, pp. 1157–1160, 2005, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature03891 (page 14).
- [183] M. M. Mayfield and D. B. Stouffer, "Higher-order interactions capture unexplained complexity in diverse communities," *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 1–7, 2017, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-016-0062 (page 14).
- [184] H. Mickalide and S. Kuehn, "Higher-order interaction between species inhibits bacterial invasion of a phototroph-predator microbial community," *Cell Systems*, vol. 9, no. 6, 521–533.e10, 2019, ISSN: 2405-4712. DOI: 10.1016/j.cels.2019.11.004 (pages 14, 21, 63, 66).
- [185] E. R. J. Wubs, W. H. van der Putten, M. Bosch, and T. M. Bezemer, "Soil inoculation steers restoration of terrestrial ecosystems," *Nature Plants*, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 1–5, 2016, ISSN: 2055-0278. DOI: 10.1038/nplants.2016.107 (pages 14, 21, 33, 72).

- [186] K. Calderón, A. Spor, M.-C. Breuil, *et al.*, "Effectiveness of ecological rescue for altered soil microbial communities and functions," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 272–283, 2017, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2016.86 (pages 14, 16, 21, 33, 47, 65–67, 70, 72).
- [187] J. D. Rocca, M. Simonin, E. S. Bernhardt, A. D. Washburne, and J. P. Wright, "Rare microbial taxa emerge when communities collide: Freshwater and marine microbiome responses to experimental mixing," *Ecology*, vol. 101, no. 3, e02956, 2020, ISSN: 1939-9170. DOI: 10.1002/ecy.2956 (pages 14, 36).
- [188] S. Romdhane, A. Spor, J. Aubert, *et al.*, "Unraveling negative biotic interactions determining soil microbial community assembly and functioning," *The ISME Journal*, pp. 1–11, 2021, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/s41396-021-01076-9 (pages 14, 16, 23, 32, 33, 38, 52, 55, 60, 65, 70).
- T. Großkopf and O. S. Soyer, "Synthetic microbial communities," *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, vol. 18, pp. 72–77, 2014, ISSN: 1369-5274. DOI: 10.1016/j.mib.2014.02.002 (page 15).
- [190] C. M. Cosetta and B. E. Wolfe, "Causes and consequences of biotic interactions within microbiomes," *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, vol. 50, pp. 35–41, 2019, ISSN: 1369-5274. DOI: 10.1016/j.mib.2019.09.004 (pages 15, 49, 69, 70).
- J. M. Levine, J. Bascompte, P. B. Adler, and S. Allesina, "Beyond pairwise mechanisms of species coexistence in complex communities," *Nature*, vol. 546, no. 7656, pp. 56–64, 2017, ISSN: 0028-0836, 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/nature22898 (pages 15, 16, 70).
- T. Bell, "Next-generation experiments linking community structure and ecosystem functioning," *Environmental Microbiology Reports*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 20–22, 2019, ISSN: 1758-2229. DOI: 10.1111/1758-2229.12711 (pages 15, 16, 21, 32, 70).
- [193] J. R. Powell, A. Welsh, and S. Hallin, "Microbial functional diversity enhances predictive models linking environmental parameters to ecosystem properties," *Ecology*, vol. 96, no. 7, pp. 1985–1993, 2015, ISSN: 1939-9170. DOI: 10.1890 / 14 - 1127.1 (page 15).
- [194] J. I. Prosser, "Putting science back into microbial ecology: A question of approach," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 375, no. 1798, p. 20190240, 2020. DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0240 (page 16).
- [195] D. W. Rivett, M. L. Jones, J. Ramoneda, S. B. Mombrikotb, E. Ransome, and T. Bell, "Elevated success of multispecies bacterial invasions impacts community composition during ecological succession," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 516–524, 2018, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/ele.12916 (pages 16, 36, 47, 66).
- [196] M. C. Rillig, J. Antonovics, T. Caruso, *et al.*, "Interchange of entire communities: Microbial community coalescence," *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 470–476, 2015, ISSN: 0169-5347. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2015.06.004 (pages 16, 21, 32, 36, 47).
- [197] C. Wagg, S. F. Bender, F. Widmer, and M. G. A. van der Heijden, "Soil biodiversity and soil community composition determine ecosystem multifunctionality," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 111, no. 14, pp. 5266–5270, 2014, ISSN: 0027-8424, 1091-6490. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1320054111 (page 21).
- K. R. Foster, "The secret social lives of microorganisms," in *Microbes and Evolution*, American Society of Microbiology, 2012, pp. 77–83, ISBN: 978-1-55581-847-0. DOI: 10. 1128/9781555818470.ch11 (page 21).
- [199] J. Harris, "Soil microbial communities and restoration ecology: Facilitators or followers?" *Science*, vol. 325, no. 5940, pp. 573–574, 2009, ISSN: 0036-8075, 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science.1172975 (pages 21, 33).

- [200] M. C. Rillig, A. Tsang, and J. Roy, "Microbial community coalescence for microbiome engineering," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 7, 2016, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10.3389/ fmicb.2016.01967 (pages 21, 36, 49, 71, 72).
- [201] A. Milcu, R. Puga-Freitas, A. M. Ellison, *et al.*, "Genotypic variability enhances the reproducibility of an ecological study," *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 279– 287, 2018, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-017-0434-x (page 22).
- [202] C. D. Campbell, S. J. Chapman, C. M. Cameron, M. S. Davidson, and J. M. Potts, "A rapid microtiter plate method to measure carbon dioxide evolved from carbon substrate amendments so as to determine the physiological profiles of soil microbial communities by using whole soil," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 69, no. 6, pp. 3593–3599, 2003, ISSN: 0099-2240, 1098-5336. DOI: 10.1128 / aem. 69.6.3593 – 3599.2003 (page 23).
- [203] D. Berry, K. Ben Mahfoudh, M. Wagner, and A. Loy, "Barcoded primers used in multiplex amplicon pyrosequencing bias amplification," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 77, no. 21, pp. 7846–7849, 2011, ISSN: 1098-5336. DOI: 10.1128/aem.05220-11 (pages 23, 38).
- [204] J. Zhang, K. Kobert, T. Flouri, and A. Stamatakis, "Pear: A fast and accurate illumina paired-end read merger," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 614–620, 2014, ISSN: 1367-4811. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btt593 (pages 23, 38, 54).
- [205] J. G. Caporaso, J. Kuczynski, J. Stombaugh, et al., "Qiime allows analysis of highthroughput community sequencing data," Nature Methods, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 335–336, 2010, ISSN: 1548-7105. DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.f.303 (pages 23, 38, 54).
- [206] T. Rognes, T. Flouri, B. Nichols, C. Quince, and F. Mahé, "Vsearch: A versatile open source tool for metagenomics," *PeerJ*, vol. 4, e2584, 2016, ISSN: 2167-8359. DOI: 10. 7717/peerj.2584 (pages 23, 38, 54).
- [207] C. Quast, E. Pruesse, P. Yilmaz, *et al.*, "The silva ribosomal rna gene database project: Improved data processing and web-based tools," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 41, no. D1, pp. D590–D596, 2013, ISSN: 0305-1048. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gks1219 (pages 23, 38, 55).
- [208] L. Guillou, D. Bachar, S. Audic, *et al.*, "The protist ribosomal reference database (pr2): A catalog of unicellular eukaryote small sub-unit rrna sequences with curated taxonomy," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 41, no. D1, pp. D597–D604, 2013, ISSN: 0305-1048.
 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gks1160 (page 23).
- [209] E. P. Nawrocki and S. R. Eddy, "Infernal 1.1: 100-fold faster rna homology searches," Bioinformatics, vol. 29, no. 22, pp. 2933–2935, 2013, ISSN: 1367-4803. DOI: 10.1093/ bioinformatics/btt509 (pages 23, 38, 55).
- [210] M. N. Price, P. S. Dehal, and A. P. Arkin, "Fasttree 2 approximately maximum-likelihood trees for large alignments," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 5, no. 3, e9490, 2010, ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009490 (pages 23, 38, 55).
- [211] R. C. Edgar, "Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than blast," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 26, no. 19, pp. 2460–2461, 2010, ISSN: 1367-4811. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btq461 (pages 23, 38, 55).
- [212] G. Muyzer, E. C. de Waal, and A. G. Uitterlinden, "Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16s rrna.," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 695–700, 1993, ISSN: 0099-2240 (pages 23, 39, 55).

- [213] T. J. White, T. Bruns, S. Lee, and J. Taylor, "Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal rna genes for phylogenetics," in *PCR Protocols*, M. A. Innis, D. H. Gelfand, J. J. Sninsky, and T. J. White, Eds., San Diego: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 315– 322, ISBN: 978-0-12-372180-8. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-372180-8.50042-1 (page 23).
- [214] D. Bru, A. Ramette, N. P. A. Saby, *et al.*, "Determinants of the distribution of nitrogencycling microbial communities at the landscape scale," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 532–542, 2011, ISSN: 1751-7362, 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038 / ismej. 2010.130 (pages 23, 39, 55).
- [215] J. C. Gaby and D. H. Buckley, "A comprehensive aligned nifh gene database: A multipurpose tool for studies of nitrogen-fixing bacteria," *The Journal of Biological Databases and Curation*, vol. 2014, 2014, ISSN: 1758-0463. DOI: 10.1093/database/bau001 (page 23).
- [216] R Core Team, R: A language and environment for statistical computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.Rproject.org/ (pages 24, 39, 55).
- [217] F. de Mendiburu, Agricolae: Statistical procedures for agricultural research, R package version 1.3-5, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package= agricolae (pages 24, 39, 55).
- [218] D. P. Faith, "Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity," *Biological Conservation*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 1992, ISSN: 0006-3207. DOI: 10.1016/0006-3207(92) 91201-3 (pages 24, 39, 55).
- [219] C. Lozupone, M. E. Lladser, D. Knights, J. Stombaugh, and R. Knight, "Unifrac: An effective distance metric for microbial community comparison," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 169–172, 2011, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/ismej.2010.133 (pages 24, 39, 55).
- [220] M. J. Anderson, "A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance," *Austral Ecology*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 32–46, 2001, ISSN: 1442-9993. DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-9993.2001.01070.pp.x (pages 24, 39, 55).
- [221] P. Martinez Arbizu, *Pairwiseadonis: Pairwise multilevel comparison using adonis*, R package version 0.4, 2017 (pages 24, 39, 55).
- [222] E. Paradis and K. Schliep, "Ape 5.0: An environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in r," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 526–528, 2019, ISSN: 1367-4803. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty633 (pages 24, 40).
- [223] I. Letunic and P. Bork, "Interactive tree of life (itol) v4: Recent updates and new developments," *Nucleic Acids Research*, 2019. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkz239 (pages 24, 40).
- [224] J. Chiquet, S. Robin, and M. Mariadassou, "Variational inference for sparse network reconstruction from count data," in *Proceedings of the 36th International Conference on Machine Learning*, K. Chaudhuri and R. Salakhutdinov, Eds., ser. Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, PMLR, 2019, pp. 1162–1171 (pages 25, 28, 40, 56, 58).
- [225] H. Liu, K. Roeder, and L. Wasserman, "Stability approach to regularization selection (stars) for high dimensional graphical models," *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 1432–1440, 2010 (pages 25, 40, 56).
- [226] P. Shannon, A. Markiel, O. Ozier, *et al.*, "Cytoscape: A software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks," *Genome Research*, vol. 13, no. 11, pp. 2498–2504, 2003, ISSN: 1088-9051. DOI: 10.1101/gr.1239303 (page 25).
- [227] F. Rohart, B. Gautier, A. Singh, and K.-A. Lê Cao, "Mixomics: An r package for 'omics feature selection and multiple data integration," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 13, no. 11, e1005752, 2017, ISSN: 1553-7358. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005752 (page 25).

- [228] A. Singh, C. P. Shannon, B. Gautier, *et al.*, "Diablo: An integrative approach for identifying key molecular drivers from multi-omics assays," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 35, no. 17, pp. 3055–3062, 2019, ISSN: 1367-4811. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty1054 (pages 25, 30).
- [229] D. W. Rivett and T. Bell, "Abundance determines the functional role of bacterial phylotypes in complex communities," *Nature Microbiology*, vol. 3, no. 7, pp. 767–772, 2018, ISSN: 2058-5276. DOI: 10.1038/s41564-018-0180-0 (pages 32, 49).
- [230] E. Bairey, E. D. Kelsic, and R. Kishony, "High-order species interactions shape ecosystem diversity," *Nature Communications*, vol. 7, no. 1, 2016, ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10. 1038/ncomms12285 (pages 33, 66).
- [231] K. Kawatsu and M. Kondoh, "Density-dependent interspecific interactions and the complexity-stability relationship," *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 285, no. 1879, p. 20180 698, 2018. DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2018.0698 (pages 33, 66).
- [232] T. Chen, K. Nomura, X. Wang, *et al.*, "A plant genetic network for preventing dysbiosis in the phyllosphere," *Nature*, vol. 580, no. 7805, pp. 653–657, 2020, ISSN: 1476-4687. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2185-0 (pages 33, 49, 65, 66).
- [233] L. Hu, X. Peng, J. Zhou, et al., "Characterizing the interactions among a dinoflagellate, flagellate and bacteria in the phycosphere of alexandrium tamarense (dinophyta)," *Frontiers in Marine Science*, vol. 2, p. 100, 2015, ISSN: 2296-7745. DOI: 10.3389/fmars. 2015.00100 (page 33).
- [234] P. Kardol and D. A. Wardle, "How understanding aboveground-belowground linkages can assist restoration ecology," *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 670– 679, 2010, ISSN: 0169-5347. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2010.09.001 (page 33).
- [235] K. M. Docherty and J. L. M. Gutknecht, "Soil microbial restoration strategies for promoting climate-ready prairie ecosystems," *Ecological Applications*, vol. 29, no. 3, e01858, 2019, ISSN: 1939-5582. DOI: 10.1002/eap.1858 (page 33).
- [236] S. Monteux, F. Keuper, S. Fontaine, et al., "Carbon and nitrogen cycling in yedoma permafrost controlled by microbial functional limitations," *Nature Geoscience*, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 794–798, 2020, ISSN: 1752-0894, 1752-0908. DOI: 10.1038/s41561-020-00662-4 (page 34).
- [237] C. Ratzke, J. Denk, and J. Gore, "Ecological suicide in microbes," *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 867–872, 2018, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-018-0535-1 (page 34).
- H. C. Bernstein, "Reconciling ecological and engineering design principles for building microbiomes," *mSystems*, vol. 4, no. 3, e00106–19, 2019, ISSN: 2379-5077. DOI: 10.1128/mSystems.00106-19 (pages 36, 49, 72).
- [239] M. Castledine, P. Sierocinski, D. Padfield, and A. Buckling, "Community coalescence: An eco-evolutionary perspective," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 375, no. 1798, p. 20190252, 2020. DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0252 (page 36).
- [240] M. Gilpin, "Community-level competition: Asymmetrical dominance.," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 91, no. 8, pp. 3252–3254, 1994. DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.91.8.3252 (page 36).
- [241] G. Livingston, Y. Jiang, J. W. Fox, and M. A. Leibold, "The dynamics of community assembly under sudden mixing in experimental microcosms," *Ecology*, vol. 94, no. 12, pp. 2898–2906, 2013, ISSN: 1939-9170. DOI: 10.1890/12-1993.1 (page 36).
- [242] P. Sierocinski, K. Milferstedt, F. Bayer, et al., "A single community dominates structure and function of a mixture of multiple methanogenic communities," *Current Biology*, vol. 27, no. 21, 3390–3395.e4, 2017, ISSN: 0960-9822. DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.09.056 (page 36).
- [243] J. C. C. Vila, M. L. Jones, M. Patel, T. Bell, and J. Rosindell, "Uncovering the rules of microbial community invasions," *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, vol. 3, no. 8, pp. 1162– 1171, 2019, ISSN: 2397-334X. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-019-0952-9 (pages 36, 47, 66).
- [244] M. L. Jones, J. Ramoneda, D. W. Rivett, and T. Bell, "Biotic resistance shapes the influence of propagule pressure on invasion success in bacterial communities," *Ecology*, vol. 98, no. 7, pp. 1743–1749, 2017, ISSN: 1939-9170. DOI: 10.1002/ecy.1852 (pages 36, 47).
- [245] C. K. Wright, "Ecological community integration increases with added trophic complexity," *Ecological Complexity*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 140–145, 2008, ISSN: 1476-945X. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecocom.2007.10.004 (page 36).
- [246] P. Lechón-Alonso, T. Clegg, J. Cook, T. P. Smith, and S. Pawar, "The role of competition versus cooperation in microbial community coalescence," *PLOS Computational Biology*, vol. 17, no. 11, e1009584, 2021, ISSN: 1553-7358. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1009584 (pages 36, 62).
- [247] M. L. Jones, D. W. Rivett, A. Pascual-García, and T. Bell, "Relationships between community composition, productivity and invasion resistance in semi-natural bacterial microcosms," *eLife*, vol. 10, e71811, 2021, ISSN: 2050-084X. DOI: 10.7554/eLife.71811 (page 47).
- [248] X. C. Morgan, T. L. Tickle, H. Sokol, *et al.*, "Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment," *Genome Biology*, vol. 13, no. 9, R79, 2012, ISSN: 1474-760X. DOI: 10.1186/gb-2012-13-9-r79 (pages 49, 65).
- [249] N.-R. Shin, T. W. Whon, and J.-W. Bae, "Proteobacteria: Microbial signature of dysbiosis in gut microbiota," *Trends in Biotechnology*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 496–503, 2015, ISSN: 1879-3096. DOI: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.06.011 (pages 49, 65).
- [250] V. Kurm, S. Geisen, and W. H. Gera Hol, "A low proportion of rare bacterial taxa responds to abiotic changes compared with dominant taxa," *Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 750–758, 2019, ISSN: 1462-2920. DOI: 10.1111/1462-2920.14492 (pages 49, 69).
- [251] J. D. Rocca, M. E. Muscarella, A. L. Peralta, D. Izabel-Shen, and M. Simonin, "Guided by microbes: Applying community coalescence principles for predictive microbiome engineering," *mSystems*, vol. 6, no. 4, e00538–21, 2021. DOI: 10.1128/mSystems.00538-21 (pages 49, 71, 72).
- [252] M. G. A. Van Der Heijden, R. D. Bardgett, and N. M. V. Straalen, "The unseen majority: Soil microbes as drivers of plant diversity and productivity in terrestrial ecosystems," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 296–310, 2008, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/j. 1461-0248.2007.01139.x (page 52).
- [253] M. Vos, A. B. Wolf, S. J. Jennings, and G. A. Kowalchuk, "Micro-scale determinants of bacterial diversity in soil," *FEMS microbiology reviews*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 936–954, 2013, ISSN: 1574-6976. DOI: 10.1111/1574-6976.12023 (page 52).
- [254] O. Tyc, M. van den Berg, S. Gerards, et al., "Impact of interspecific interactions on antimicrobial activity among soil bacteria," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 5, 2014, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00567 (page 52).

- [255] B. E. L. Morris, R. Henneberger, H. Huber, and C. Moissl-Eichinger, "Microbial syntrophy: Interaction for the common good," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 384–406, 2013, ISSN: 0168-6445. DOI: 10.1111/1574-6976.12019 (page 52).
- [256] D. P. Lloyd and R. J. Allen, "Competition for space during bacterial colonization of a surface," *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, vol. 12, no. 110, p. 20150608, 2015, ISSN: 1742-5689, 1742-5662. DOI: 10.1098/rsif.2015.0608 (page 52).
- [257] R. M. Stubbendieck, C. Vargas-Bautista, and P. D. Straight, "Bacterial communities: Interactions to scale," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 7, 2016, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10. 3389/fmicb.2016.01234 (pages 52, 60).
- [258] J.-Y. Lee, S. Haruta, S. Kato, et al., "Prediction of neighbor-dependent microbial interactions from limited population data," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 10, 2020, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.03049 (page 52).
- [259] J. Becker, N. Eisenhauer, S. Scheu, and A. Jousset, "Increasing antagonistic interactions cause bacterial communities to collapse at high diversity," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 468–474, 2012, ISSN: 1461-0248. DOI: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01759.x (page 61).
- [260] D. A. I. Mavridou, D. Gonzalez, W. Kim, S. A. West, and K. R. Foster, "Bacteria use collective behavior to generate diverse combat strategies," *Current biology: CB*, vol. 28, no. 3, 345–355.e4, 2018, ISSN: 1879-0445. DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.12.030 (page 61).
- [261] A. S. N. W. Pahalagedara, S. Flint, J. Palmer, A. Subbaraj, G. Brightwell, and T. B. Gupta, "Antimicrobial activity of soil clostridium enriched conditioned media against bacillus mycoides, bacillus cereus, and pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 11, 2020, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.608998 (page 62).
- [262] T. R. D. Costa, C. Felisberto-Rodrigues, A. Meir, *et al.*, "Secretion systems in gramnegative bacteria: Structural and mechanistic insights," *Nature Reviews. Microbiology*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 343–359, 2015, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro3456 (page 62).
- [263] B. Karimi, S. Terrat, S. Dequiedt, *et al.*, "Biogeography of soil bacteria and archaea across france," *Science Advances*, vol. 4, no. 7, eaat1808, 2018, ISSN: 2375-2548. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.aat1808 (page 65).
- [264] W. Li, Y. Zhang, W. Mao, C. Wang, and S. Yin, "Functional potential differences between firmicutes and proteobacteria in response to manure amendment in a reclaimed soil," *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, vol. 66, no. 12, pp. 689–697, 2020, ISSN: 0008-4166. DOI: 10.1139/cjm-2020-0143 (page 66).
- [265] R. Tecon, A. Ebrahimi, H. Kleyer, S. Erev Levi, and D. Or, "Cell-to-cell bacterial interactions promoted by drier conditions on soil surfaces," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 115, no. 39, pp. 9791–9796, 2018. DOI: 10.1073 / pnas. 1808274115 (page 67).
- [266] B. A. Hense, C. Kuttler, J. Müller, M. Rothballer, A. Hartmann, and J.-U. Kreft, "Does efficiency sensing unify diffusion and quorum sensing?" *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 230–239, 2007, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro1600 (page 67).
- [267] R. L. Wilpiszeski, J. A. Aufrecht, S. T. Retterer, *et al.*, "Soil aggregate microbial communities: Towards understanding microbiome interactions at biologically relevant scales," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 85, no. 14, 2019, ISSN: 0099-2240, 1098-5336. DOI: 10.1128/aem.00324-19 (page 67).
- [268] M. Kleber, I. C. Bourg, E. K. Coward, C. M. Hansel, S. C. B. Myneni, and N. Nunan, "Dynamic interactions at the mineral-organic matter interface," *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 402–421, 2021, ISSN: 2662-138X. DOI: 10.1038/s43017-021-00162-y (page 67).

- [269] E. Blagodatskaya and Y. Kuzyakov, "Active microorganisms in soil: Critical review of estimation criteria and approaches," *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 67, pp. 192–211, 2013, ISSN: 0038-0717. DOI: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.08.024 (page 67).
- [270] F. Goldschmidt, R. R. Regoes, and D. R. Johnson, "Successive range expansion promotes diversity and accelerates evolution in spatially structured microbial populations," *The ISME Journal*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 2112–2123, 2017, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038 / isme j.2017.76 (pages 67, 68).
- [271] M. S. Datta, K. S. Korolev, I. Cvijovic, C. Dudley, and J. Gore, "Range expansion promotes cooperation in an experimental microbial metapopulation," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 110, no. 18, pp. 7354–7359, 2013, ISSN: 0027-8424, 1091-6490. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1217517110 (page 67).
- [272] L. Eigentler, N. R. Stanley-Wall, and F. A. Davidson, "A theoretical framework for multi-species range expansion in spatially heterogeneous landscapes," *Oikos*, vol. 2022, no. 8, e09077, 2022, ISSN: 1600-0706. DOI: 10.1111/oik.09077 (page 67).
- [273] R. Levins and D. Culver, "Regional coexistence of species and competition between rare species," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 68, no. 6, pp. 1246– 1248, 1971. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.68.6.1246 (page 67).
- [274] C. A. Mallon, J. D. v. Elsas, and J. F. Salles, "Microbial invasions: The process, patterns, and mechanisms," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 719–729, 2015, ISSN: 0966-842X. DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2015.07.013 (pages 67, 71).
- [275] P. B. Rainey and S. D. Quistad, "Toward a dynamical understanding of microbial communities," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 375, no. 1798, p. 20190 248, 2020. DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0248 (page 67).
- [276] D. Berry and S. Widder, "Deciphering microbial interactions and detecting keystone species with co-occurrence networks," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 5, 2014, ISSN: 1664-302X. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00219 (page 67).
- [277] G. G. Mittelbach and B. J. McGill, "The fundamentals of competitive interactions," in *Community Ecology*, G. G. Mittelbach and B. J. McGill, Eds., Oxford University Press, 2019, pp. 118–140, ISBN: 978-0-19-883585-1. DOI: 10.1093/0s0/9780198835851.003. 0007 (pages 68, 70).
- [278] T. G. Dong, S. Dong, C. Catalano, R. Moore, X. Liang, and J. J. Mekalanos, "Generation of reactive oxygen species by lethal attacks from competing microbes," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 112, no. 7, pp. 2181– 2186, 2015, ISSN: 0027-8424. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1425007112 (page 69).
- [279] S. Weiss, Z. Z. Xu, S. Peddada, *et al.*, "Normalization and microbial differential abundance strategies depend upon data characteristics," *Microbiome*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 27, 2017, ISSN: 2049-2618. DOI: 10.1186/s40168-017-0237-y (page 69).
- [280] X. Jia, F. Dini-Andreote, and J. Falcão Salles, "Community assembly processes of the microbial rare biosphere," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 738–747, 2018, ISSN: 0966842X. DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2018.02.011 (page 69).
- [281] H. Zhang, F. Hou, W. Xie, et al., "Interaction and assembly processes of abundant and rare microbial communities during a diatom bloom process," *Environmental Microbiol*ogy, 2019, ISSN: 1462-2920. DOI: 10.1111/1462-2920.14820 (page 69).
- [282] C. Ratledge and L. G. Dover, "Iron metabolism in pathogenic bacteria," Annual Review of Microbiology, vol. 54, pp. 881–941, 2000, ISSN: 0066-4227. DOI: 10.1146/annurev. micro.54.1.881 (page 71).

- [283] U. G. Mueller and J. L. Sachs, "Engineering microbiomes to improve plant and animal health," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 606–617, 2015, ISSN: 0966-842X. DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2015.07.009 (page 71).
- S. D. Jurburg, N. Eisenhauer, F. Buscot, *et al.*, "Potential of microbiome-based solutions for agrifood systems," *Nature Food*, vol. 3, no. 8, pp. 557–560, 2022, ISSN: 2662-1355.
 DOI: 10.1038/s43016-022-00576-x (page 71).
- [285] R. Debray, R. A. Herbert, A. L. Jaffe, A. Crits-Christoph, M. E. Power, and B. Koskella, "Priority effects in microbiome assembly," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, pp. 1–13, 2021, ISSN: 1740-1534. DOI: 10.1038/s41579-021-00604-w (page 71).
- [286] K. Horňák and G. Corno, "Every coin has a back side: Invasion by limnohabitans planktonicus promotes the maintenance of species diversity in bacterial communities," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 12, e51576, 2012, ISSN: 1932-6203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051576 (page 71).
- [287] X. Sun, Z. Xu, J. Xie, *et al.*, "Bacillus velezensis stimulates resident rhizosphere pseudomonas stutzeri for plant health through metabolic interactions," *The ISME journal*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 774–787, 2022, ISSN: 1751-7370. DOI: 10.1038/s41396-021-01125-3 (page 71).
- [288] P. C. Mawarda, X. Le Roux, J. Dirk van Elsas, and J. F. Salles, "Deliberate introduction of invisible invaders: A critical appraisal of the impact of microbial inoculants on soil microbial communities," *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, vol. 148, p. 107 874, 2020, ISSN: 0038-0717. DOI: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2020.107874 (page 72).
- [289] C. N. Jack, R. H. Petipas, T. E. Cheeke, J. L. Rowland, and M. L. Friesen, "Microbial inoculants: Silver bullet or microbial jurassic park?" *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 299–308, 2021, ISSN: 1878-4380. DOI: 10.1016/j.tim.2020.11.006 (page 72).

A

Chapter 2 Supplementary Materials

Table A.1: Number of OTUs significantly differentially abundant among all treatments as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model, among the 515 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs and the 439 most abundant 18S rRNA OTUs. (pages 26, 28, 32 and 33)

Comparison	16S OTU count Total		18S OTU count	
				Total
R>C	245		90	
R <c< td=""><td>240</td><td></td><td>103</td><td></td></c<>	240		103	
R vs C		375		164
$\overline{R > C \notin R + R > C + C}$	121		58	
$R < C \notin R + R < C + C$	107		31	
$R vs C \notin R + R vs C + C$		228		89
$\frac{1}{R > C \cap R + R > C + C}$	124		32	
$R < C \cap R + R < C + C$	133		72	
$R vs C \cap R + R vs C + C$		229		99
$\overline{R > C \cap R + R > C + C \cap R + C = C + C}$	79		20	
$R < C \cap R + R < C + C \cap R + C = C + C$	113		61	
$R vs C \cap R + R vs C + C \cap R + C = C + C$		176		80
$\overline{R+C>C+C \cap R+C>R+R}$	61		26	
$R+C < C+C \cap R+C < R+R$	16		22	
$R + C vs C + C \cap R + C vs R + R$		73		48



Figure A.1: Abundances of total bacteria and total fungi. Quantification of 16S rRNA (**a** and **c**) and ITS (**b** and **d**) gene copy numbers in the original soil, the removal treatments and the control (Step 1; **a** and **b**) and in the coalescence treatment, the self-mixed removal treatment and the control samples (Step 2; **c** and **d**) (mean \pm s.e. of log-transformed data expressed as gene copy g^{-1} dry soil). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value \leq 0.05). (page 25)



Figure A.2: Diversity of prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities after Step 1. The Faith's phylogenetic diversity (**a** and **c**) and Simpson's reciprocal (**b** and **d**) indices are shown (mean \pm s.e.) in the original soil, the removal treatments and the control (Step 1) for the 16S rRNA OTUs (**a** and **b**) and the 18S rRNA OTUs (**c** and **d**). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (page 25)



Figure A.3: Structure and composition of the eukaryotic communities in the original soil and after Step 1. (a) Number of observed species (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (b) Relative abundances of the fourteen most abundant classes of eukaryotic community. (c) Similarity between the control samples and between the control and either the original soil or the removal treatments, based on the Weighted UniFrac distances (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05). (page 25)



Figure A.4: Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the communities in the original soil and after Step 1. PCoA of the prokaryotic (**a**) and eukaryotic (**b**) communities, based on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix showing the original soil, the removal treatment and the control samples and the 95 % joint confidence ellipse for the control samples. (page 25)



Figure A.5: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of OTUs significantly affected by the Step 1 removal treatments compared to the Step 1 control. The outer rings show the effect of each removal treatment on the relative abundances of the 515 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs (**a**) and the 439 most abundant 18S rRNA OTUs (**b**) compared to the control (R vs C), as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model. The blue and red boxes in the outer rings indicate OTUs with increasing and decreasing fitness respectively, while white boxes indicate OTUs that are not affected by the treatment. The OTU class level is indicated by different colors on the innermost ring. (page 26)



Figure A.6: Structure and composition of the eukaryotic communities after Step 2. (a) Number of observed species (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value ≤ 0.05). (b) Relative abundances of the fourteen most abundant class of eukaryotic community. (c) Similarity between the control samples and between the control and either the self-mixed removal treatment or the coalescence treatments based on the Weighted UniFrac distances (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Adonis pairwise comparison, Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value ≤ 0.05). (page 27)



Figure A.7: Diversity levels of prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities after Step 2. The Faith's phylogenetic diversity (a and b) and Simpson's reciprocal (c and d) indices are shown (mean \pm s.e.) in the coalescence treatment, the self-mixed removal treatments and the control samples (Step 2) for the 16S rRNA OTUs (a and c) and the 18S rRNA OTUs (b and d). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value \leq 0.05). (page 27)



Figure A.8: Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the communities after Step 2. PCoA of the prokaryotic (**a**) and eukaryotic (**b**) communities, based on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix showing the original soil, the removal treatment and the control samples and the 95 % joint confidence ellipse for the control samples. (page 28)



Figure A.9: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of OTUs significantly affected by the Step 2 removal treatments compared to the Step 2 control. The outer rings show the effect of each self-mixed removal treatment on the relative abundance of the 515 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs (**a**) and the 439 most abundant 18S rRNA OTUs (**b**) compared to the self-mixed control (R+R vs C+C), as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model. The blue and red boxes in the outer rings indicate OTUs with increasing and decreasing fitness respectively, while white boxes indicate OTUs that are not affected by the treatment. The OTU class level is indicated by different colors on the innermost ring. (page 28)



Figure A.10: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of OTUs significantly affected by the Step 2 coalescence treatments compared to the Step 2 control. The outer rings show the effect of each coalescence treatment on the relative abundance of the 515 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs (a) and the 439 most abundant 18S rRNA OTUs (b) compared to the self-mixed control (R+C vs C+C), as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model. The blue and red boxes in the outer rings indicate OTUs with increasing and decreasing fitness respectively, while white boxes indicate OTUs that are not affected by the treatment. The OTU class level is indicated by different colors on the innermost ring. (page 28)



Figure A.11: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of OTUs significantly affected by the Step 2 coalescence treatments compared to the Step 2 removal treatments. The outer rings show the effect of each coalescence treatment on the relative abundance of the 515 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs (a) and the 439 most abundant 18S rRNA OTUs (b) compared to its corresponding self-mixed removal treatment (R+C vs R+R), as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model. The blue and red boxes in the outer rings indicate OTUs with increasing and decreasing fitness respectively, while white boxes indicate OTUs that are not affected by the treatment. The OTU class level is indicated by different colors on the innermost ring. (page 28)



Figure A.12: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of significantly differentially abundant OTUs across treatments. Outer rings show prokaryotic (a) and eukaryotic (b) OTUs exhibiting relative abundances significantly higher or lower in the coalescence treatments than in the self-mixed source community separately ($R+C>C+C \cap R+C>R+R$ and $R+C<C+C \cap R+C<R+R$). Bar scale is proportional to the number of treatment where the OTU is significantly differentially abundant, with a maximum indicated for each comparison ring. The OTU class is indicated by different colors on the innermost ring. (pages 28 and 33)



Figure A.13: Global eukaryotic network inferred from all samples across both experimental steps. Nodes represent OTUs and they are colored according to the OTU taxonomic class. Edges represent partial correlations ρ and they are colored blue if $\rho > 0$ and red if $\rho < 0$. Edge width is proportional to $|\rho|$. (page 28)



Figure A.14: Global inter-domain network inferred from all samples across both experimental steps. Nodes represent OTUs and they are colored according to the OTU taxonomic class. Edges represent partial correlations ρ and they are colored blue if $\rho > 0$ and red if $\rho < 0$. Edge width is proportional to $|\rho|$. (page 28)



Figure A.15: Treatment-induced changes in soil respiration rate as proxies of C-cycling. Substrateinduced respiration was measured by the MicroRespTM method using the substrates alanine (a and d), fructose (b and e) and gallic acid (c and f) in the original soil, the removal treatments and the control (Step 1; a, b and c) or in the coalescence treatments and the self-mixed treatments (Step 2; d, e and f) (mean \pm s.e.). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value \leq 0.05). (page 30)



Figure A.16: Treatment-induced changes in abundance of N-cycle microbial guilds as proxies of N-cycling. Abundances of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB in a and e), bacterial denitrifiers (nirK in b and f; nirS in c and g) and nitrogen-fixing bacteria (nifH in d and h) in the original soil, the removal treatments and the control (Step 1; a, b, c and d) or in the coalescence treatments and the self-mixed treatments (Step 2; e, f, g and h) (mean \pm s.e. of log-transformed data expressed as gene copy g⁻¹ dry soil). Letters indicate significantly different statistical groups (Tukey's test, p-value \leq 0.05). (page 30)

B

Chapter 3 Supplementary Materials

Table B.1: Abundances of total bacteria. Quantification of 16S rRNA gene copy numbers in the raw manipulated and inoculated suspensions, the original and microcosm soils (mean \pm s.e. expressed as gene copy.mL⁻¹ suspension or ⁻¹ dry soil, respectively). For suspensions, only DNA from the control and the raw manipulated suspensions were extracted and quantified. The inoculated densities of the manipulated suspensions (in grey) were calculated afterwards from the raw manipulated suspension 16S rRNA gene copy numbers according to the dilution protocol (see Methods). (pages 38, 39 and 42)

Treatment	Suspe	ension	So	Soil	
	Mean	s.e.	Mean	s.e.	
Original Soil	-	-	2.49x10 ⁸	7.32x10 ⁶	
С	2.55x10 ⁶	1.53x10 ⁵	1.94x10 ⁸	1.31x10 ⁷	
MAC a1	1.23x10 ⁹	2.56x10 ⁷	-	-	
MAC a1 d1	6.14×10^{6}	-	2.27x10 ⁸	5.07x10 ⁶	
MAC a1 d2	$6.14 \mathrm{x} 10^5$	-	2.72×10^8	2.17×10^{7}	
MAC a1 d3	$6.14 x 10^4$	-	2.36x10 ⁸	9.00x10 ⁶	
MAC a2	7.76x10 ⁸	3.11x10 ⁸	-	-	
MAC a2 d1	3.88×10^{6}	-	2.32×10^8	8.29x10 ⁶	
MAC a2 d2	3.88×10^{5}	-	1.95×10^{8}	8.51x10 ⁶	
MAC a2 d3	3.88×10^4	-	2.13×10^8	4.56x10 ⁶	
PEB a1	1.84x10 ⁹	3.16x10 ⁷	-	-	
PEB a1 d1	9.21x10 ⁶	-	1.98×10^{8}	8.36x10 ⁶	
PEB a1 d2	9.21x10 ⁵	-	2.29×10^8	1.61×10^{7}	
PEB a1 d3	9.21×10^4	-	2.59×10^8	1.31x10 ⁷	
PEB a2	1.57x10 ⁹	1.97x10 ⁸	-	-	
PEB a2 d1	$7.85 \mathrm{x10^{6}}$	-	2.30×10^8	1.33×10^{7}	
PEB a2 d2	7.85x10 ⁵	-	2.37×10^8	7.03x10 ⁶	
PEB a2 d3	7.85×10^4	-	2.36×10^8	3.95x10 ⁶	



Figure B.1: Composition and Structure of the communities in the original soil, the non-treated control suspension, the manipulated suspensions, the non-coalesced control and the coalescence outcomes. (a) Relative abundances of the fourteen most abundant class of bacteria the original soil, the non-treated control suspension, the manipulated suspensions, the non-coalesced control and the coalescence outcomes. (b) Weighted UniFrac distances between the the non-coalesced control suspension, the manipulated suspensions and the coalescence outcomes (mean \pm s.e.). Asterisks indicate communities significantly different than the original soil (Welch's t-test p-value ≤ 0.05). (c) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix showing the original soil, the non-treated control suspension, the manipulated suspensions, the non-coalesced control and the coalescence outcomes (mean \pm s.e.). Asterisks indicate communities significantly different than the original soil (Welch's t-test p-value ≤ 0.05). (c) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) based on the weighted UniFrac distance matrix showing the original soil, the non-treated control suspension, the manipulated suspensions, the non-coalesced control and the coalescence outcomes and the 95% joint confidence ellipse for the non-coalesced control samples. The dot colours correspond to the bar colours in **b**. (page 42)



Figure B.2: Taxonomic relationships and distribution of the 258 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs. The OTU class level is indicated by different colours on the innermost ring. The middle ring shows the detection of an OTU in the non-manipulated control suspension and/or in the manipulated suspensions. The outer ring shows the genera of the OTUs involved in the network. (page 43)



Figure B.3: Relative abundance of the 258 dominant OTUs. OTUs are placed in descending order of their abundance in microcosms and those involved as nodes in the inferred correlation network are displayed in red. The top part shows the coalescence treatment effects on the OTUs' relative abundances compared to the non-coalesced control, as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model. The blue and red boxes indicate OTUs with increasing and decreasing fitness respectively, while white boxes indicate OTUs that are not affected by the treatment (Bonferroni adjusted p-value ≤ 0.05). The following parts shows the OTU relative abundance in manipulated suspensions, in control suspension, and, in microcosms, with a hyperbolic tangent scale. (pages 43 and 45)

C

Chapter 4 Supplementary Materials

Table C.1: PERMANOVA results of Step 1 experiment assessing differences in the bacterial community structure linked to removal treatments, density treatments, and their interactions using weighted UniFrac distance. (page 56)

Comparison	Df	Sums of Sqs	Mean Sqs	F. Model	\mathbf{R}^2	P-value
Removal Treatment	2	3.5275	1.76376	243.089	0.6961	< 0.001
Density Treatment	3	0.4824	0.16078	22.160	0.09512	< 0.001
Removal x Density	6	0.2776	0.04627	6.377	0.05474	< 0.001
Residuals	108	0.7836	0.00726	-	0.15452	-
Total	119	5.0711	-	-	1.00000	-

Significant terms are in bold

	Sums of Sqs	F. Model	\mathbf{R}^2	P adjusted
Control				
d1 vs d2	0.906	111.27871	0.86076594	0.002
d1 vs d3	0.842	94.1304424	0.83947267	0.002
d1 vs d4	0.751	75.9496674	0.80840805	0.002
d2 vs d3	0.007	1.26845068	0.06583044	0.281
d2 vs d4	0.027	3.97500725	0.18088764	0.015
d3 vs d4	0.010	1.3346381	0.06902835	0.281
Heat shock				
d1 vs d2	0.328	80.5692796	0.81738732	0.002
d1 vs d3	0.169	6.80473156	0.274332	0.002
d1 vs d4	0.290	49.0635058	0.73159769	0.002
d2 vs d3	0.082	3.27800894	0.15405619	0.087
d2 vs d4	0.015	2.57913893	0.12532784	0.087
d3 vs d4	0.095	3.57390541	0.16565871	0.087
Ramoplanin				
d1 vs d2	0.492	38.7171571	0.68263572	0.002
d1 vs d3	0.486	32.734357	0.64521084	0.002
d1 vs d4	0.403	29.5890591	0.6217618	0.002
d2 vs d3	0.006	0.94818479	0.05004093	0.493
d2 vs d4	0.012	2.18703831	0.10833874	0.121
d3 vs d4	0.005	0.68869231	0.03685075	0.540

Table C.2: Pairwise comparisons assessing differences in the bacterial community structure related to the density treatment in the control (C), heat-shock (HS), and ramoplanin (RA) communities using the weighted UniFrac distances with Benjamini–Hochberg corrections for multiple testing. (page 56)

Significant terms are in bold

	Df	Sums of Sqs	F. Model	\mathbf{R}^2	P-value
Control					
Community	2	0.16120507	18.713436	0.40648813	< 0.001
Density Treatment	1	0.06480913	15.0808382	0.16379092	< 0.001
Community x Density	2	0.06625069	7.78300166	0.16906023	< 0.001
Residuals	24	0.10131031	-	0.26066072	-
Total	29	0.4035752	-	1	-
Heat shock					
Community	2	0.09315436	6.00074563	0.24976919	< 0.001
Density Treatment	1	0.05853254	7.54100776	0.15693978	< 0.001
Community x Density	2	0.04275121	2.7539141	0.11462624	0.002
Residuals	23	0.17852367	-	0.47866479	-
Total	28	0.37296178	-	1	-

Table C.3: PERMANOVA results of Step 2 experiment assessing differences in the bacterial community structure linked to the community, density, and their interactions using weighted UniFrac distance. (page 60)

Significant terms are in bold

Table C.4: Number of OTUs significantly differentially abundant among all treatments as estimated using a generalized linear mixed model, among the 515 most abundant 16S rRNA OTUs and the 439 most abundant 18S rRNA OTUs. (page 60)

	Number of significant OTUs	% of significant OTUs
Control		
$\overline{(\mathrm{Cd1}+\mathrm{Cd2})_{d1} \mathrm{vs}\mathrm{Cd1}_{d1}}$	153	30.90
$(Cd1+Cd2)_{d1}$ vs $Cd2_{d1}$	69	13.93
$(Cd1+Cd2)_{d2}$ vs $Cd1_{d2}$	116	23.43
$(Cd1+Cd2)_{d2}$ vs $Cd2_{d2}$	64	12.92
Heat-shock		
$\overline{(\text{HSd1}+\text{HSd2})_{d1} \text{ vs HSd1}_{d1}}$	42	13.00
$(HSd1+HSd2)_{d1}$ vs $HSd2_{d1}$	49	15.17
$(HSd1+HSd2)_{d2}$ vs $HSd1_{d2}$	22	6.81
$(\text{HSd1+HSd2})_{d2}$ vs HSd2_{d2}	24	7.43



Figure C.1: Diversity levels of the bacterial community after Step 1 experiment. The observed species (a), Faith's phylogenetic diversity (b), Shannon (c), and Simpson's reciprocal (d) indices are shown (mean \pm s.e.) in the control (C), heat-shock (HS), and ramoplanin (RA) communities within the density gradient (d1, d2, d3, and d4). Different letters indicate significant differences according to Tukey's test (p-value ≤ 0.05). (page 56)



Figure C.2: Abundances of total bacteria (16S rRNA) in the control (C), heat-shock (HS), and ramoplanin (RA) communities within the density gradient (d1, d2, d3, and d4) after Step 1 experiment (mean \pm s.e. of log₁₀-transformed data expressed as gene copy.g⁻¹ dry soil). Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences according to Tukey's test (p-value \leq 0.05). (page 56)



Figure C.3: Phylogenetic relationships and distribution of OTUs with significant increasing/decreasing relative abundances between density treatments according to the generalized linear mixed model for the control (C), heat-shock (HS), and ramoplanin (RA) communities. Changes in the relative abundances as measured by the coefficient estimates (effect size) are represented by the blueto-red color. The affiliation of OTUs at the phylum or class levels is indicated by different colors on the internal ring. (page 57)







1 75

100

Figure C.4: Number of positive (blue) and negative (red) links that are related to the physical distance (M0-M1) for the control (a), heat-shock (b), and ramoplanin (c) communities. The Venn Diagrams show the number of links that are related to the physical distance (M0-M1). (pages 58 and 59)

1 25

Deltaproteobacteria - Gammaproteobacteria

Clostridia-Bacteroidia

Таха

в



Figure C.5: Number of positive (blue) and negative (red) links between nodes that are related to physical distance in co-occurrence networks (M0-M1) and exhibiting significant changes in relative abundances as determined by the differential abundance analysis, for the control (a), heat-shock (b), and ramoplanin (c) communities. (page 59)
а



Figure C.6: Differences in bacterial community composition across treatments for the Step 2 experiment. Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) of the weighted UniFrac distance matrix of *16S rRNA* gene amplicons of coalesced and references communities for the control (**a**) and heat-shock (**b**) at low (d1) and high densities (d2). The different treatments are represented by different colors and symbols as specified in the legend. (page 60)



Lower relative abundances in thecoalesced community

Higher relativeabundances in thecoalesced community

Figure C.7: OTUs exhibiting significantly higher or lower relative abundances in the coalesced communities than reference communities as identified by the generalized linear mixed model at low (d1) and high densities (d2) in the control community. Relative abundances are shown at the family level and the affiliation of OTUs are indicated by different colors at the phylum or class levels. (page 60)



Lower relative abundances in thecoalesced community



Higher relative abundances in the coalesced community

Acidobacteria
Actinobacteria
Alphaproteobacteria
Bacilli
Bacteroidetes
Chloroflexi
Clostridia
Deltaproteobacteria
Gammaproteobacteria
Germatimonadetes
Others
Planctomycetes
Verrucomicrobia



Figure C.8: OTUs exhibiting significantly higher or lower relative abundances in the coalesced com-munities than reference communities as identified by the generalized linear mixed model at low (d1) and high densities (d2) in the heat-shock community. Relative abundances are shown at the family level and the affiliation of OTUs are indicated by different colors at the phylum or class levels. (page 60)

d2

Abstract Microbial communities play a key role in ecosystem functioning as well as in plant, animal, and human welfare. Their assembly relies on different processes commonly referred to as abiotic and biotic filters. Despite the widespread emphasis on abiotic filters in terrestrial ecosystems, a growing body of evidence suggests that interactions between microorganisms play a critical role in community assembly. However, the contribution of these interactions to microbial community assembly and the factors influencing them have not been clearly established. In most cases, biotic interactions between microorganisms have been investigated based on cocultures of a handful of strains, completely overlooking the high complexity of microbial communities in nature.

This thesis objectives were to decipher biotic interactions occurring between microbial community members and to assess the role of these interactions in the assembly of complex communities. Thereby, we used three top-down experiments based on the manipulation of native soil microbial communities and their reinoculation in sterile soil microcosms allowing them to reassemble during soil recolonisation.

Our results suggest that between 15% and 28% of the bacterial community could be subjected to negative interactions during soil recolonization. Proteobacteria and Firmicutes exhibited a recurrent negative correlation, indicating that competition between them might be a rule governing microbial community assembly. Our approach also uncovered the importance of density-dependent interactions in microbial community assembly, the competitiveness of individuals strongly depending on the density and identity of surrounding neighbours. Furthermore, we showed that coalescence (mixing of manipulated and control communities) could also restore -at least partly- community diversity and soil functions. While the diversity of the coalesced communities was related to that of the source communities, their structure was mostly influenced by the density and the composition of the source communities.

Altogether, we bring here additional evidence that community manipulation could become a standard tool to decipher microbial interactions in complex communities, their contribution to community assembly, and the links between community structure and function. Furthermore, our work highlights the potential of using community manipulation to design new microbial engineering strategies allowing to steer microbial communities in situ, without adding non-indigenous species, by using the interactions occurring between the native community members.

Résumé Les communautés microbiennes sont primordiales dans le fonctionnement des écosystèmes ainsi que pour la santé des plantes, des animaux et des humains. Leur assemblage repose sur différents processus communément appelés filtres abiotiques et biotiques. Malgré l'accent mis sur les filtres abiotiques dans les écosystèmes terrestres, de nouvelles preuves suggèrent que les interactions entre les microorganismes jouent un rôle clé dans l'assemblage des communautés. Cependant, la contribution de ces interactions à l'assemblage des communautés microbiennes et des facteurs qui les influencent demeure floues. Traditionnellement, les interactions biotiques entre microorganismes ont été étudiées par coculture d'une poignée de souches, négligeant complètement la complexité des communautés microbiennes naturelles.

Les objectifs de cette thèse étaient d'identifier les interactions biotiques se produisant entre les membres de communautés microbiennes et d'évaluer le rôle de ces interactions dans l'assemblage de communautés complexes. Pour cela, nous avons utilisé trois expériences basées sur la manipulation de communautés microbiennes natives de sol et sur leur ré-inoculation dans des microcosmes de sol stérile leur permettant de se réassembler lors de la recolonisation du sol.

Nos résultats suggèrent qu'entre 15% et 28% des communautés bactériennes seraient soumis à des interactions négatives pendant la recolonisation du sol. La corrélation négative récurrente entre Proteobacteria et Firmicutes indique que la compétition entre ces deux familles bactériennes pourrait être une règle régissant l'assemblage des communautés microbiennes. Notre approche a également mis en évidence l'importance de la densité dans l'assemblage des communautés microbiennes, la compétitivité des individus dépendant fortement de la densité et de l'identité de leurs voisins. En outre, nous avons montré que la coalescence (correspondant ici au mélange de communautés manipulées et contrôle) pourrait restaurer - au moins partiellement - la diversité et les fonctions des communautés. Alors que la diversité des communautés coalescées dépend de celle des communautés sources, leur structure était principalement influencée par la densité et la composition des communautés sources.

Nos travaux apportent des preuves supplémentaires que la manipulation des communautés peut devenir un outil de référence pour identifier les interactions microbiennes dans des communautés complexes, leur contribution à l'assemblage de ces communautés, et les liens entre structure et fonction des communautés. De plus, notre travail met en évidence le potentiel de la manipulation de communautés pour concevoir de nouvelles stratégies d'ingénierie écologique permettant de guider les communautés microbiennes in situ, sans ajouter d'espèces non indigènes, en utilisant les interactions qui se produisent entre les membres de la communauté native.